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SEE YOUR
THROUGH OUR
FUTURE

EYES
WE SEE A WORLD BEYOND CASH THAT IS NOT LIMITED 
BY WHAT’S MERELY IN YOUR WALLET TODAY, BUT WITH 
EVERYTHING PAYMENT TECHNOLOGY WILL POWER 
IN THE FUTURE. THEREFORE WE HAVE RECOGNIZED 
AND PUT IN PLACE, THE INFRASTRUCTURE THROUGH 
WHICH SRI LANKA WILL ENTER A NEW STAGE OF 
DEVELOPMENT WHERE POSSIBILITIES OF WHAT WE CAN 
ACCOMPLISH ARE TRULY LIMITLESS. WE SEE A FUTURE 
THAT CONNECTS EVERY CORNER OF THE COUNTRY 
WITHIN AN EFFICIENT AND SECURE PAYMENT NETWORK 
THAT WILL ENRICH THE LIVES OF EVERY SRI LANKAN.

WE ARE REVOLUTIONISING A NATION THAT IS BRIMMING 
WITH LIMITLESS POTENTIAL, AND INVITE YOU TO SEE 
THE FUTURE THROUGH 'LANKACLEAR'.
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MISSION
To be the National Payment Systems Partner; trusted, 
rated and admired for the most Reliable, Secure, 
6ALUE�$RIVEN�AND�%F�CIENT�3OLUTIONS�IN�!SIA�BY������

!SIA�S�MOST�4RUSTED��3ECURE�AND�6ALUED�0AYMENT�
3YSTEMS�)NFRASTRUCTURE�&ACILITATOR�BY������

Vision
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LANKACLEAR HAS 
BEEN ON TOP OF ITS 
GAME REDEFINING 
OUR BUSINESS WITH 
EVERY SINGLE STEP 
WE HAVE TAKEN OVER 
THE PAST DECADE, 
DELIVERING THE 
LATEST TECHNOLOGY 
WITHIN THE SOUTH 
ASIAN REGION ON 
DIGITAL PAYMENT 
INFRASTRUCTURE, 
WHILST RECORDING 
YEAR ON YEAR 
STELLAR FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE 
AND EXCELLENT 
SHAREHOLDER VALUE.  

FROM OUR HUMBLE 
BEGINNINGS AS SRI 
LANKA AUTOMATED 
CHEQUE CLEARING 
HOUSE (SLACH) A 
FUNCTION WITHIN 
THE CENTRAL BANK 
OF SRI LANKA (CBSL), 
TO OUR SUBSEQUENT 
INCORPORATION AS 
A LIMITED LIABILITY 
COMPANY IN 2002 
AS LANKACLEAR 
(PVT) LTD, WE HAVE 
BEEN SUCCESSFUL 
IN STEADILY MOVING 
TOWARDS MAKING 
OUR VISION OF BEING 
ASIA’S MOST TRUSTED, 
SECURE & VALUED 

PAYMENT SYSTEMS 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
PROVIDER A REALITY 
OVER THE PAST DECADE.

TODAY, THE IMPACT 
WE HAVE MADE ON 
THE ECONOMY IS 
PHENOMENAL. A 
DISRUPTION TO OUR 
SERVICES, WILL RESULT 
IN AN EVENTUAL 
COLLAPSE OF THE 
BANKING ECOSYSTEM. 
WE ARE PROUD OF THE 
FACT THAT LANKACLEAR 
HAS GROWN TO BE AN 
IRREPLACEABLE COG 
IN THE WHEEL OF THE 
PAYMENT INDUSTRY OF 
THE COUNTRY WITHIN A 
VERY SHORT SPAN OF 10 
YEARS.

UNDERLINING ALL 
OUR FINANCIAL, 
TECHNOLOGICAL AND 
OTHER OPERATIONAL 
ACHIEVEMENTS, 
“FINANCIAL INCLUSION” 
SETS THE CORE BASIS 
FOR OUR BUSINESS 
ACHIEVEMENTS. IT IS 
THIS OBLIGATION AND 
NATIONAL PRIORITY THAT 
HELPS US TO EMPOWER 
AND ENRICH SRI LANKA, 
WITH THE BEST IN 
CLASS DIGITAL PAYMENT 
INFRASTRUCTURE AT 

THE MOST AFFORDABLE 
COST, DRIVING AN 
EFFICIENT, GREEN AND 
PAPERLESS SOCIETY.  

IN TRANSCENDING 
OUR SERVICES 
FROM A CHEQUE 
CLEARING HOUSE TO 
A NATIONAL PAYMENT 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
PROVIDER THE 
COMPANY HAS BEEN 
CONFORMING TO BEST 
BUSINESS PRACTICES 
AND CONTROLS WHICH 
HAS LED TO A DECADE 
OF SUCCESS AND 
EXCELLENCE. THE NEXT 
DECADE WILL BE EVEN 
MORE EXCITING AND 
PROMISING FOR THE 
COMPANY, AS WE ROLL 
OUT THE “LANKAPAY” 
COMMON PAYMENT 
NETWORK, WHICH WILL 
OPEN DOORS FOR A 
VIBRANT FUTURE WHERE 
THE “LANKAPAY” BRAND 
WILL GROW TO BE A 
HOUSEHOLD NAME 
WITH ACCESS TO EVERY 
WALLET IN SRI LANKA.
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2006
NATIONWIDE T + 1 CHEQUE 
CLEARING - 1ST IN SOUTH 
ASIA / 2ND IN THE WORLD 

�,ANKA#LEAR��ACHIEVED�A�
unique global status in the 

payment and settlement 
arena with the introduction 
of the Cheque Imaging and 

Truncation System (CITS) 
which enabled nationwide 
CHEQUE�CLEARING�ON�4�����

BASIS��7ITH�THIS�INNOVATION��
3RI�,ANKA�BECAME�THE��ST�
COUNTRY�IN�THE�3OUTH�!SIAN�
2EGION�AND��ND�IN�THE�7ORLD�
to successfully roll out such 
a service, a status that even 

developed nations are yet to 
ACHIEVE�

2009
LAUNCH OF ‘LANKASIGN’ - 
THE ONLY COMMERCIALLY 

OPERATING CA 
(CERTIFICATION AUTHORITY) 

IN SRI LANKA  

The National Payments 
Council (NPC) convened by 

the Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
INVITED��,ANKA#LEAR��TO�BE�THE�
&INANCIAL�3ECTOR�#ERTI�CATION�
!UTHORITY��#!	�IN�3RI�,ANKA��

and as the only commercially 
OPERATING�#!�TO�DATE�IN�
the country, a range of 

services were introduced 
to the market under the 

BRAND�NAME�OF��,ANKA3IGN��
in accordance with the 

%LECTRONIC�4RANSACTION�!CT

2010
NATIONWIDE SAME DAY 

ELECTRONIC FUND 
TRANSFER - 1ST IN SOUTH 

ASIA 

The upgrade of the Sri Lanka 
Interbank Payment System 

�3,)03	�IN������AND�THE�
subsequent innovations 

made to the system by 
�,ANKA#LEAR���ENABLED�SAME�

day island wide electronic 
FUND�TRANSFERS��4��	��!NOTHER�

�RST�IN�THE�3OUTH�!SIAN�
REGION��

2013
LAUNCH OF ‘LANKAPAY’ 

- THE FIRST NATIONAL 
COMMON PAYMENT 

NETWORK 

!�NEW�ERA�OF�PAYMENTS�
dawned with the Launch 
OF��,ANKA0AY��NATIONAL�

common payment network 
BY��,ANKA#LEAR���4HIS�NETWORK�

will be the backbone of 
all future payments in the 
COUNTRY��7ITH�JUST�ONE�YEAR�
INTO�OPERATIONS���,ANKA0AY��

has already grown to be the 
LARGEST�SHARED�!4-�NETWORK�

IN�3RI�,ANKA�

1ST

2ND

1ST
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NATIONAL BUSINESS EXCELLENCE AWARDS 
�����
�)NFRASTRUCTURE���5TILITIES�3ECTOR���7INNER�

ANNUAL REPORT AWARDS – THE INSTITUTE OF 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS OF SRI LANKA
�����
�3MALL���-EDIUM�3IZED�%NTITIES�
�3ILVER�!WARD��
�����
�3ERVICE�/RGANISATIONS�
�"RONZE�!WARD�
������
�#ERTI�CATE�OF�#OMPLIANCE���3ERVICE�/RGANISATIONS�3ECTOR�
������
�#ERTI�CATE�OF�#OMPLIANCE���3ECTOR�3ERVICES�



LankaClear
Annual Report 2013/146

TOP LINE 
GROWTH 

REFLECTING 
NEW PRODUCT 

RANGES ON   
OFFER FOR 

STRENGTH AND     
STABILITY IN THE 

LONG TERM. 

THE COMPANY’S 
FINANCIAL 

PERFORMANCE 
AND STABILITY 

IS WELL 
POSITIONED 

TO CATER TO 
THE FUTURE 
EXPANSION  

DEMANDS OF 
THE PAYMENT 

INDUSTRY ON ITS 
OWN. 

LankaClear has achieved its highest ever revenue of Rs. 463mn recording a growth of 8.2% 
YEAR�ON�YEAR�AND�ENDED�UP�WITH�A�PRO�T�AFTER�TAX�OF�2S�����MN�

4OTAL�ASSET�BASE�AS�AT���ST�-ARCH������SURPASSED�RUPEES�ONE�BILLION�RE�ECTING�THE�COMPANY�S�
increasing ability to provide infrastructure for National Payment Systems in the future.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR
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� � ���������� ���������� ���������� ���������� ���������

Results for the Year (Rs. mn)
Revenue   463 � ������ ������ ������ �����
'ROSS�0RO�T� � ������ ������ ������ ������ �����
0RO�T�"EFORE�4AX� �� 228 � ������ ������ ������ �����
)NCOME�4AX�%XPENSE� � ����� ����� ����� ����� ����
0RO�T�FOR�THE�9EAR� � ������ ������ ������ ����� ����

At the Year End (Rs. mn)
4OTAL�!SSETS� � �������� ������ ������ ������ �����
4OTAL�#APITAL�!SSETS� � ������ ������ ������ ������ �����
3HAREHOLDERS��&UNDS�� � �������� ������ ������ ������ �����
Short Term Financial Investments   ����� ������ ������ ������ �����

Information Per Ordinary Share
Earnings Per Share   ������� �������� ����� ������� ������
Dividend Per Share  ������� ������� ������� ������� ������
Net assets Value Per Share  �������� �������� ������ ������ �����

Ratios
'ROSS�0RO�T�2ATIO� � ���� ���� ���� ���� ���
.ET�0RO�T�2ATIO� � ���� ���� ���� ���� ���
Return on Equity  ���� ���� ���� ���� ���

Direct Cost
!DMIN�#OST
4AXATION
Finance Cost

CITS Income
&INANCE���
/THER�)NCOME
SLIPS Income
#!�)NCOME

INCOME & COST MIX 
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�����mn Total volume of cheques cleared

2S��������bn Total value of cheques cleared

-ONTH�ON�MONTH�GROWTH�IN�CASH�WITHDRAWALS�THROUGH�
,ANKA0AY�
�#!3�8.4%

Total volume of SLIPS transactions cleared�����mn

Total value of SLIPS transactions cleared2S������bn



I SEE A FUTURE 

IN THE COUNTRY

WHERE I CAN 

DO MY
FROM ANYWHERE 
BUSINESS
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AND FINANCIAL 
INSTITUTIONS IT 

IS BENEFICIAL TO 
USE A COMMON 

PAYMENT 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

SINCE 
IMPLEMENTATION 

OF A NEW 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

REQUIRES A 
HIGH CAPITAL 

EXPENDITURE, 
SUBSTANTIAL 
INVESTMENTS 

IN TECHNOLOGY 
AND ADDITIONAL 

REGULATORY 
REPORTING.

LANKACLEAR IS PLANNING TO 
IMPLEMENT A NATIONAL CARD 
SCHEME ALONG WITH THE CCAPS.  
THE NATIONAL PAYMENT SYSTEM 
INCLUDING A NATIONAL CARD SCHEME 
WILL BE A GREAT VALUE ADDITION 
TO THE PAYMENT AND SETTLEMENT 
INFRASTRUCTURE

CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW

It gives me great 
pleasure to present the 
accomplishments of 
LankaClear of another 
CHALLENGING�YEAR��/UR�
stakeholders will be 
pleased to note the strong 
performance of the Company 
during this reporting period, 
���������

!S�THE�.ATIONAL�0AYMENTS�
Infrastructure Provider, 
we took effective 
measures throughout the 

year to improve the quality of our services with a view 
TO�STRENGTHENING�THE�.ATIONAL�2ETAIL�0AYMENT�3YSTEM��
/UR�EFFORTS�AND�ENSUING�RESULTS�WERE�RECOGNISED�AT�THE�
PRESTIGIOUS�.ATIONAL�"USINESS�%XCELLENCY�!WARDS��."%!	�
#EREMONY������HOSTED�BY�THE�.ATIONAL�#HAMBER�OF�
#OMMERCE�OF�3RI�,ANKA��/NCE�AGAIN�IN������,ANKA#LEAR�WAS�
COMMENDED�FOR�ITS�EXCELLENCE�IN�REPORTING�AND�ADHERENCE�
to globally accredited standards in the small and medium 
SECTOR�HOSTED�BY�THE�)NSTITUTE�OF�#HARTERED�!CCOUNTANTS�OF�
3RI�,ANKA�

&).!.#)!,�0%2&/2-!.#%�
)�AM�PLEASED�TO�REPORT�THE�IMPRESSIVE��NANCIAL�PERFORMANCE�
,ANKA#LEAR�HAS�MADE�FOR�THE��NANCIAL�9EAR����������7E�HAVE�
RECORDED�PRO�T�AFTER�TAX�OF�2S�����MN�AND�SURPASSED�THE�
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LankaClear provides its services in a highly 
secure environment and its product portfolio is 
supported with an added layer of security 

7E�ARE�PROUD�TO�MENTION�THAT�THE�TECHNICAL�AND�
operational standards adopted by LankaPay are 
of international standards

SHAREHOLDER�S�VALUE�BEYOND�
2S���BN�MARK��%ARNINGS�PER�
SHARE�STOOD�AT�2S��������AND�
net assets per share reached 
2S���������

4HE�2EVIEW�OF�/PERATIONS�OF�
THE�'ENERAL�-ANAGER�#%/�
and the Financial Review of 
the Head of Finance in this 
Report provide a detailed 
account of performance of 
,ANKA#LEAR�

OUR STRATEGY
/UR�STRATEGY�IS�ALIGNED�IN�
conformity with the vision of 
the Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
(CBSL) in relation to the 
payments and settlements 
PLATFORM�OF�THE�COUNTRY��)T�
is vital to do so, in view of 
the fact that LankaClear 
performs one of the 
statutory functions of CBSL 
IMPOSED�BY�THE�-ONETARY�
,AW�!CT�.O�����OF������

UNINTERRUPTED SERVICE
In our strategy we have 
prioritised the requirement 
of managing and operating 

THE�EXISTING�.ATIONAL�2ETAIL�
Payment System with 
MINIMUM�INTERRUPTION��
!N�UNINTERRUPTED�EF�CIENT�
payment system is an 
essential requirement to 
ANY�COUNTRY��7E�ARE�PROUD�
to mention that LankaClear 
WAS�ABLE�TO�PROVIDE�ITS�MAJOR�
retail payment services 
I�E��#HEQUE�)MAGING�AND�
Truncation System (CITS), Sri 
Lanka Interbank Payment 
System (SLIPS), Common 
!4-�3WITCH��#!3	�WITHOUT�
ANY�INTERRUPTION��!VERAGE�
system availability of CITS 
WAS��������DURING�THE�
PERIOD��3YSTEM�AVAILABILITY�
OF�3,)03�AND�#!3�WAS������
THROUGHOUT�THE��NANCIAL�
YEAR��)N�VIEW�OF�IMPROVING�
customer service standards, 
LankaClear implemented the 
�(ELP�$ESK�#ALL�-ONITORING�
and Tracking System” in 
.OVEMBER�������7ITH�THE�
implementation of this 
system, all queries, requests 
and complaints relating to 
LankaClear products and 
services are assigned with 

a unique reference number 
and tracking of queries 
AND�CLARI�CATIONS�WILL�BE�
monitored and addressed 
in a systematic and timely 
MANNER��

LankaClear maintains a state 
of the art Disaster Recovery 
�$2	�3ITE��7ITH�THE�EXPANSION�
of the services of LankaClear, 
IT�WAS�DECIDED�TO�EXPAND��
modernise and further 
improve its DR operations as 
per the new requirements in 
KEEPING�WITH�FUTURE�PLANS��
!S�SUCH��CONSTRUCTION�OF�
a new, Company owned 
building for the DR 
operations commenced and 
IS�EXPECTED�TO�BE�COMPLETED�
BY�END�/CTOBER��������4HE�
$2�OPERATIONS�ARE�EXPECTED�
to be shifted to the new 
BUILDING�FROM�THE�EXISTING�
SITE�BY�*ANUARY��������
Further, the new building is 
being constructed in keeping 
with green concepts as 
PLANNED��

.%7�0!9-%.4�3934%-3
!NOTHER�KEY�STRATEGIC�
priority has been to work 
closely with CBSL and 
implement the decisions 
by CBSL in relation to retail 
payment systems and also 
to recommend new National 
Retail Payment Systems 
to CBSL in keeping with 
global trends and Sri Lankan 
MARKET�NEEDS��#URRENTLY��
LankaClear is establishing a 
Common Card and Payment 
3WITCH��##!03	�TO�PROGRESS�
towards meeting the 
OBJECTIVE�OF�PROMOTING�A�
NATION
WIDE�NON�CASH�RETAIL�
payment system along with 
SECURE�AND�EF�CIENT�PAYMENT�
instruments at the request 
of the National Payments 
#OUNCIL��.0#	��

##!03�IS�AN�INTEROPERABLE�
SWITCH�CONSISTING�OF��VE�
SWITCHES�I�E��#OMMON�!4-�
3WITCH��#!3	��#OMMON�
Electronic Fund Transfer 
Switch (CEFTS), Shared 
!4-�3WITCH��3!3	��#OMMON�
-OBILE�3WITCH��#-OB3	�AND�
0OINT�OF�3ALE��0/3	�3WITCH��
4HE�#OMMON�!4-�3WITCH�
has already been launched, 
under the brand name of 
�,ANKA0AY���3EVEN�BANKS�ARE�
already connected to the 
SWITCH��PROVIDING������!4-S�
TO�THE�#!3�ISLANDWIDE�WHICH�
ARE�FUNCTIONING�SMOOTHLY��
!�FEW�MORE�BANKS�ARE�
currently in the process of 
making necessary changes 

CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW (Contd.)
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to their switches in order 
TO�INTEGRATE�WITH�,ANKA0AY��
#%&43�AND�3HARED�!4-�HAVE�
already been implemented 
at LankaClear and the 
other two switches namely 
-OBILE�AND�0/3�WILL�BE�
implemented by the end of 
�NANCIAL�YEAR���������

CEFTS being the most 
important switch out of the 
�VE�SWITCHES�IS�A�PAYMENT�
SYSTEM�REGULATED�BY�#"3,��
Therefore, all commercial 
BANKS�ARE�EXPECTED�TO�BE�
participants of the system as 
REQUIRED�BY�#"3,��4HROUGH�
the other switches namely 
#!3��3!3��-OBILE�AND�0/3��
�NANCIAL�INSTITUTIONS�CAN�
provide additional services 
to their customers once 
they get connected to 
THESE�PARTICULAR�SWITCHES��
Therefore, I would like 
to take this opportunity 
OF�INVITING�ALL��NANCIAL�
institutions to make 
use of these common 
infrastructure facilities 
and thereby, offer the 
BENE�TS�OF�THIS�MODERN�AND�
developed payment system 
to the general public of this 
COUNTRY��&OR�THE�BANKS�AND�
�NANCIAL�INSTITUTIONS�IT�IS�
BENE�CIAL�TO�USE�A�COMMON�
payment infrastructure 
since implementation of a 
new infrastructure requires 
A�HIGH�CAPITAL�EXPENDITURE��
substantial investments in 
technology and additional 

REGULATORY�REPORTING��
Today the practice and 
TREND�WORLD
WIDE�IS�TO�USE�
shared payment platforms 
and systems to increase 
productivity and reduce 
COSTS�

3%#52%�%.6)2/.-%.4�&/2�
0!9-%.43
LankaClear provides its 
services in a highly secure 
environment and its product 
portfolio is supported with 
an added layer of security 
FROM�ITS�DIGITAL�CERTI�CATING�
system operating under the 
BRAND�NAME�OF��,ANKA3IGN���
,ANKA#LEAR�##!03�WAS�
implemented in such a way 
TO�MAINTAIN�AN�EF�CIENT�
and robust retail payment 
system in Sri Lanka which 
could be benchmarked 
against international 
standards and best practices 
which are the main elements 
��ATTRIBUTES�A�.ATIONAL�
Payment System strives to 
ACHIEVE��

"53).%33�%.6)2/.-%.4
During the period under 
consideration, the Sri 
Lankan economy overall 
posted the fastest growth 
RATE�IN�3OUTH�!SIA��4HIS�
contributed to improving 
business and banking sector 
IN�3RI�,ANKA��4HE�PROPOSED�
consolidations of the 
BANKING�AND�NON
BANKING�
�NANCIAL�INSTITUTIONS�
may bring more strength 

TO�THE�BANKING�SYSTEM��
CBSL promotes the use of 
common infrastructure in 
ORDER�TO�ACHIEVE��NANCIAL�
BENE�TS�AND�ECONOMIES�OF�
scale, which is a vital factor 
FOR�SUCCESS�IN�THE��NANCIAL�
SECTOR��4HE�ABOVE�MENTIONED�
environment was supportive 
to the business activities of 
THE�#OMPANY��

CHALLENGES
)MPLEMENTATION�OF�##!03�
HAS�BEEN�AN�EXTREMELY�
challenging task as 
LankaPay had to ensure 
the quality and operational 
standards of International 
Card Schemes (ICSs) that 
WERE�IN�EXISTENCE�FOR�OVER�
���YEARS�IN�KEEPING�WITH�
which we provided Banks in 
Sri Lanka with a very high 
standard National Payment 
3WITCH��7E�ARE�PROUD�TO�
mention that the technical 
and operational standards 
adopted by LankaPay are of 
INTERNATIONAL�STANDARDS��

LankaPay has had immense 
success in its mandate, 
however some of the 
challenges faced were in, 
ENCOURAGING�BANKS�TO�JOIN�
this National Payment 
Switch, as they were already 
comfortable with their 
PREVAILING�)#3S�CONNECTIVITY��
7ITH�THE�SUPERIOR�SERVICE�
provided by LankaPay and 
the cost advantages, we 
see an increasing number 

of banks participating in 
,ANKA0AY�TODAY��&URTHER��
educating the general public 
of this new facility where 
THE�PUBLIC�BENE�TS�FROM�
cash withdrawal done from 
ANY�!4-�ON�THE�NETWORK�AT�A�
comparatively low cost still 
REMAINS�A�CHALLENGE�

FUTURE PROSPECTS
Fifty years ago, most 
consumers used cash or 
cheques to buy goods and 
SERVICES��!T�PRESENT��NON

CASH�PAYMENTS�I�E��CARDS��
electronic and mobile 
payments continue to 
grab market share from 
other traditional payment 
methods such as cash and 
CHEQUES��4ECHNOLOGICAL�
AND��NANCIAL�INNOVATIONS��
changes in consumer 
behaviour, business cycle, 
regulatory developments 
and population growth 
contribute to the evolution 
OF�PAYMENT�METHODS��4HESE�
factors are common to 
COUNTRIES�GLOBALLY��)T�IS�ALSO�
important to note that new 
payment types are being 
DEVELOPED�CONTINUOUSLY��
However, given the fact 
THAT�AN�EF�CIENT�PAYMENT�
system contributes to 
boosting the economic 
growth of a country through 
TRANSACTION�EF�CIENCIES��
consumer access to credit 
AND�CONSUMER�CON�DENCE��
LankaClear would continue 
TO�INITIATE�PROJECT�UPGRADES�
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IN�THE�EXISTING�PAYMENTS�
systems with the approval 
of CBSL in line with the 
global developments 
and Sri Lankan market 
REQUIREMENTS��

.!4)/.!,�#!2$�3#(%-%
LankaClear is planning 
to implement a National 
Card Scheme along with 
THE�##!03��4HE�.ATIONAL�
Payment System including 
a National Card Scheme will 
be a great value addition 
to the payment and 
settlement infrastructure 
and also, which will also 
help to control risks 
RELATING�TO�PAYMENTS��3OME�
countries are interested in 
controlling and processing 
their own transactions 
WITHIN�THEIR�COUNTRY��4HE�
RECENT�EXPERIENCE�IN�2USSIA�
can be taken as an eye 
OPENER��!BOUT�HALF�A�MILLION�
Russians found themselves 
cut off from their credit 
cards overnight in the third 
WEEK�OF�-ARCH������WHEN�
they were disconnected from 
)NTERNATIONAL�#ARD�3CHEMES��
Therefore, it has become an 
urgent need to establish a 
LOCAL�TRANSACTION�ROUTER�
�I�E��
a national payment switch in 
2USSIA�

PCIDSS
In a world where payment 
card fraud rates are on the 
rise, LankaClear has taken 
an additional measure to 

strengthen the reliability 
and security of the services 
OFFERED�THROUGH�##!03�BY�
working towards obtaining 
the latest Payment Card 
Industry Data Security 
3TANDARD��0#)
$33	��0#)

DSS would ensure that 
the security of all card 
holder data (of debit cards 
and credit cards) which 
are transmitted across 
THE�,ANKA#LEAR�##!03�
infrastructure is on par with 
internationally accepted 
payment card data security 
standards and related 
information security best 
practices, which are also 
standards followed by 
multinational corporate 
GIANTS�SUCH�AS�6)3!�AND�
-ASTER#ARD��

,!.+!3)'.�)3/������
LankaClear is in the process 
of implementing the latest 
VERSION�OF�)3/�������
standard for its LankaSign 
#ERTI�CATE�3ERVICE�0ROVIDER�
�#30	��4HIS�WILL�LEAD�TOWARDS�
establishing, implementing, 
maintaining and continually 
improving an information 
security management 
SYSTEM�WITHIN�THE�CONTEXT�
OF�THE�#30��!S�A�STARTING�
point the LankaSign CSP 
will undergo the resulting 
information security 
management improvements 
and information risk 
treatment enhancements 
COVERED�UNDER�THE�STANDARD��

Since LankaSign plays 
a supporting role by 
providing an added layer of 
security and trust from its 
$IGITAL�#ERTI�CATES�TO�THE�
LankaClear product portfolio, 
THIS�)3/�������PROJECT�SHALL�
help to solidify the security 
aspects of respective 
SERVICES�

APPRECIATION
I place on record, on behalf 
of the Board of Directors of 
the Company our thanks and 
gratitude to CBSL, especially 
'OVERNOR��-R��!JITH�.IVARD�
Cabraal, Deputy Governors, 
-R��"�$�7�!�3ILVA�AND�$R��
.�7EERASINGHE�WHO�HAVE�
always provided a visionary 
leadership and guidance 
to the advancement of this 
INSTITUTION��4HE�$IRECTOR�OF�
Payments and Settlements 
$EPARTMENT�OF�#"3,��-RS��
2ANJANI�7EERASINGHE�AND�
her staff deserve a word 
of thanks for the support 
EXTENDED�BY�THEM�IN�THE�
implementation of a large 
AND�CHALLENGING�PROJECT�LIKE�
##!03�WHICH�INVOLVED�MUCH�
regulatory decisions and 
to provide uninterrupted 
SERVICE�ON�EXISTING�CLEARING�
SYSTEM��/UR�APPRECIATION�
IS�ALSO�EXTENDED�TO�THE�3RI�
,ANKA�"ANKS��!SSOCIATION�
represented by its Secretary 
'ENERAL�-R��5PALI�DE�3ILVA�

The success behind 
LankaClear is its committed 

STAFF��4HEIR�DYNAMISM�
and commitment are the 
main factors behind the 
COMPANY�S�ACHIEVEMENTS��)�
EXTEND�MY�DEEP�APPRECIATION�
TO�THE�-ANAGEMENT�AND�
Staff for their commitment, 
and look forward to their 
CONTINUED�SUPPORT�

I also wish to thank my 
colleagues on the Board of 
Directors for their unstinted 
support and cooperation 
EXTENDED�TO�ME�AND�FOR�
providing LankaClear with an 
appropriate vision and also 
our stakeholders for placing 
THEIR�TRUST�AND�CON�DENCE�IN�
THE�COMPANY��&URTHER��)�WISH�
TO�THANK�-R��&AIZAL�3ALIEH�
AND�-R��2AVI�$IAS�WHO�RETIRED�
from the Board, for their 
contribution over the last 
�NANCIAL�YEAR�

&INALLY��)�WISH�TO�AF�RM�THAT�
LankaClear is committed to 
serving all its stakeholders 
whilst giving priority 
to National Payment 
REQUIREMENTS�

Priyantha Liyanage
Chairperson

��st�*ULY�����
Colombo, Sri Lanka

CHAIRPERSON’S REVIEW (Contd.)
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DIRECT�OPERATING�EXPENSES�
AND�ADMINISTRATION�EXPENSES�
due to the new payments 
systems in operation, which 
RESULTED�IN�A�������DECLINE�
in the PBT compared to 
THE�PREVIOUS��NANCIAL�YEAR��
However, the company was 
ABLE�TO�MAINTAIN�THE�0!4�
steady with only a marginal 
�����DECLINE�COMPARED�TO�
the previous year due to 
LOWER�INCOME�TAX�EXPENSE��
4HE�.ET�!SSETS�PER�3HARE�
INCREASED�TO�2S��������
FROM�2S��������OF�LAST�YEAR��
The company managed 
to contain the increase in 
DIRECT�OPERATING�EXPENSES�
EXCLUDING�THE�OPERATING�
EXPENSES�OF�##!03�TO�
�����AND�THE�NON�##!03�
ADMINISTRATION�EXPENSES�
TO�������COMPARED�TO�THE�
PREVIOUS�YEAR��

OPERATIONAL 
0%2&/2-!.#%
CITS
The volume of cheques 
CLEARED�DURING�THE��NANCIAL�

YEAR���������WAS�������
mn, which was a marginal 
INCREASE�OF������COMPARED�
TO�THE�PREVIOUS��NANCIAL�
year whilst the total value of 
cheques cleared increased 
BY������WHERE�THE�TOTAL�
value of cheques cleared 
IN���������WAS�2S��������
"N��4HE�AVERAGE�CHEQUE�
returns by volume for the 
YEAR�DECREASED�TO������FROM�
�����IN�THE�PREVIOUS�YEAR��
The cheque returns by value 
DROPPED�TO������COMPARED�
TO������IN�THE�PREVIOUS�
YEAR��4HE�OVERALL�DECREASE�IN�
cheque returns even though 
marginal was encouraging 
TO�NOTE�

SRI LANKA INTERBANK 
0!9-%.4�3934%-��3,)03	
The items cleared through 
3,)03�INCREASED�BY�������
compared to the previous 
year whilst the value of 
SLIPS items cleared grew 
BY�������COMPARED�TO�
the previous year where 
the total value of items 

cleared through SLIPS was 
2S������"N��4HE�GROWTH�IN�
electronic payments is very 
encouraging to note and we 
believe that the payment 
infrastructure improvements 
that LankaClear has done 
ARE�PAYING�DIVIDENDS��$URING�
THE���������&INANCIAL�9EAR��
3 new Financial Institutions 
JOINED�3,)03�AS�3ECONDARY�
Participants bringing 
THE�TOTAL�NO��OF�0RIMARY�
0ARTICIPANTS�TO����AND�
THE�TOTAL�NO��OF�3ECONDARY�
0ARTICIPANTS�TO���
 
DOLLAR CLEARING AND 
RUPEE DRAFT CLEARING
Contrary to the past trend, 
the dollar clearing volumes 
INCREASED�BY������COMPARED�
to the previous year whilst 
the value of the items 
cleared also increased by 
A�SIGNI�CANT�������WHERE�
53$�����MN�WORTH�OF�$OLLAR�
#HEQUES�$RAFTS�WERE�CLEARED�
DURING�THE�YEAR��4HE�TOTAL�
volume of Rupee Drafts 
cleared recorded a decline 
OF�������AND�THE�TOTAL�VALUE�
of Rupee Drafts cleared 
RECORDED�A�DECLINE�OF�������
AS�PER�THE�TREND�EXPERIENCED�
IN�THE�PAST�COUPLE�OF�YEARS��
The total value of the Rupee 
Drafts cleared during the 
YEAR�WAS�2S������MN�

THE�SIGNI�CANT�GROWTH�OF�THE�TRANSACTIONS�
THROUGH�,ANKA0AY�#!3�SINCE�THE�LAUNCH�PROVES�
that we have addressed a customer requirement 
in the country and created convenience and 
cost effectiveness for the bank customers who 
TRANSACT�THROUGH�!4-S�

4HE��NANCIAL�YEAR���������
was a year of investments 
on new payment system 
infrastructure, which saw 
the completion of several 
payment systems of the 
#OMMON�#ARD�!ND�0AYMENT�
3WITCH��##!03	�PROJECT�AND�
the launch of the LankaPay 
#OMMON�!4-�3WITCH��#!3	�
IN�*ULY�������4HE�LAUNCH�OF�
THE�,ANKA0AY�#!3�WITH�THE�
two state owned commercial 
BANKS�WAS�A�SIGNI�CANT�
milestone in the payment 
system development in Sri 
,ANKA�AND�THE�SIGNI�CANT�
growth of the transactions 
THROUGH�,ANKA0AY�#!3�SINCE�
the launch proves that we 
have addressed a customer 
requirement in the country 
and created convenience 
and cost effectiveness for 
the bank customers who 
TRANSACT�THROUGH�!4-S�

)N�THE�YEAR����������THE�TOP�
line of the company grew by 
A�MODEST������WHILST�THERE�
was pressure on both the 
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LANKASIGN CERTIFICATION 
SERVICE PROVIDER
The revenues from the 
,ANKA3IGN�#ERTI�CATION�
Service Provider (CSP) 
operated by LankaClear to 
ISSUE�$IGITAL�#ERTI�CATES�
FOR�THE�SIGNING�OF��NANCIAL�
transactions sent online, 
recorded an increase 
OF���������!S�AT���ST�
-ARCH�����������#LEARING�
!PPLICATION�#ERTI�CATES�����
E
MAIL�DOCUMENT�SIGNING�
CERTI�CATES�AND���33,�
#ERTI�CATE�WERE�IN�USE�BY�
THE�,ANKA3IGN�CUSTOMERS��
CITS, SLIPS and Dollar 
Clearing systems use the 
$IGITAL�#ERTI�CATES�ISSUED�
by LankaSign to sign the 
TRANSACTION��LES�AND�AS�WELL�
reports submitted from 
Banks to LankaClear and vice 
VERSA�

,!.+!0!9�#/--/.�!4-�
SWITCH
The LankaPay Common 
!4-�3WITCH��#!3	�WENT�LIVE�
IN�*ULY������WITH�THE�TWO�
state owned commercial 
BANKS�JOINING�THE�SWITCH�
AS�THE�INITIAL�MEMBERS��!S�
AT������������FOUR�"ANKS�
namely; Bank of Ceylon, 
0EOPLE�S�"ANK��5NION�"ANK�
AND�3EYLAN�"ANK�HAD�JOINED�
the switch and Hatton 
.ATIONAL�"ANK�JOINED�THE�

#!3�IN�!PRIL������TAKING�
THE�TOTAL�NUMBER�OF�!4-S�
connected to the switch up 
TO��������4HE�TRANSACTION�
GROWTH�RATE�THROUGH�THE�#!3�
had been very encouraging 
where during the period 
!UGUST������TO�-AY�������
the volume of transactions 
GREW�BY������

&).!.#)!,�0%2&/2-!.#%
The revenue from CITS 
remained almost static 
whilst the revenue from 
3,)03�GREW�BY������4HE�
interest income from 
&IXED�$EPOSITS��2%0/S�
and Commercial Paper 
investments increased by 
����

4HE�PRO�T�BEFORE�TAX�
DECLINED�BY�������COMPARED�
to the previous year due 
to the higher operational 
EXPENSES�ON�THE�##!03�
PROJECT�WHILST�THE�PRO�T�AFTER�
TAX�DECLINED�BY�A�MARGINAL�
�����RESULTING�IN�A������
decrease in earnings per 
SHARE��4HE�INCREASE�IN�THE�
top line, which was mainly 
from the income generated 
THROUGH�#!3�AND�THE�
increase in interest income 
was not adequate enough 
TO�OFF
SET�THE�ADDITIONAL�
EXPENSES�OF�THE�##!03�
PROJECT�DUE�TO�THE�FACT�THAT�

the full revenue potential of 
THE�#!3�NOT�BEING�REALIZED�
during a short period of 8 
MONTHS�OPERATION�

Nevertheless, the company 
was able to maintain 
AN�IMPRESSIVE�NET�PRO�T�
MARGIN�OF������%ARNINGS�
per share declined slightly 
FROM�2S��������TO�2S��������
AND�.ET�!SSETS�PER�3HARE�
INCREASED�FROM�2S��������
TO�2S��������COMPARED�
WITH�THE�PREVIOUS��NANCIAL�
YEAR��4HE�INVESTMENTS�
IN�&IXED�$EPOSITS��2EPOS�
and Commercial Papers 
INCREASED�BY�������
compared to the previous 
year where the company had 
INVESTMENTS�OF�2S������MN�
AS�AT���ST�-ARCH������

FUTURE OUTLOOK 
AND PROJECTS UNDER 
)-0,%-%.4!4)/.
The increase in SLIPS 
transaction volumes by 
������AND�THE�INCREASE�IN�
the value of transactions 
BY�������CONTINUES�TO�
underscore the clear shift 
of the trends towards 
ELECTRONIC�PAYMENTS��7ITH�
THE�5SER�!CCEPTANCE�4EST�
of the Common Electronic 
Fund Transfer Switch (CEFTS) 
being completed in January 
�����AND�THE�SWITCH�BEING�

ready for bank connection 
NOW��WE�ARE�CON�DENT�THAT�
the electronic payment 
volumes would grow at an 
even faster pace with the 
convenience created to the 
BANK�CUSTOMERS�

LankaClear is looking 
forward to the 
implementation of the 
#OMMON�-OBILE�0AYMENT�
Switch and the Common 
0/3�3WITCH�ALONG�WITH�THE�
National Card Scheme during 
THE��NANCIAL�YEAR���������
and we believe that these 
payment systems would 
BRING�IN�GREATER��NANCIAL�
INCLUSION�AND�WOULD�BENE�T�
ALL�SEGMENTS�OF�THE�SOCIETY��
4HE�EF�CIENCIES�CREATED�
through these infrastructure 
implementations we believe 
would also contribute to the 
national economy and faster 
GROWTH�

Sunimal B Weerasooriya
'ENERAL�-ANAGER���#HIEF�
%XECUTIVE�/F�CER

��st�*ULY�����
Colombo, Sri Lanka

GM/ CEO’S REVIEW (Contd.)
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-RS��0�,IYANAGE
Chairperson
-RS��,IYANAGE�HAS����
YEARS�OF�EXPERIENCE�IN�THE�
areas of Banking and the 
Government sector including 
���YEARS�OF�EXPERIENCE�
at the Central Bank of Sri 
,ANKA��0RIOR�TO�JOINING�THE�
Central Bank she served 
Bank of Ceylon and also was 
AN�OF�CER�ATTACHED�TO�THE�
3RI�,ANKA�!DMINISTRATIVE�
3ERVICE�

During her Central Bank 
career, she spent more 
THAN����YEARS�AT�A�SENIOR�
level in the operations 
and international areas of 
the Bank where one of her 
primary responsibilities 
was the management of 
FOREIGN�EXCHANGE�RESERVES�
OF�THE�COUNTRY��3HE�HAS�
HAD�WIDE�EXPERIENCE�IN�THE�
AREAS�OF�&OREIGN�%XCHANGE�
/PERATIONS��0ORTFOLIO�
-ANAGEMENT��%XCHANGE�2ATE�
-ANAGEMENT��0AYMENTS�AND�
3ETTLEMENTS��!SIAN�#LEARING�
5NION�/PERATIONS��"ACK�
/F�CE�/PERATIONS�OF�BOTH�
2UPEE�AND�&OREIGN�%XCHANGE�
Transactions, Public Debt, 
#ENTRAL�"ANK�!CCOUNTS�
and Central Bank Balance 
3HEET��3HE�HAS�SERVED�IN�A�
number of high level internal 
Committees of the Central 
"ANK�OF�3RI�,ANKA��

She held various responsible 
senior positions such as 
!CCOUNTANT��#HIEF�$EALER��
Deputy Head of Department, 
Head of Department and at 
the time of her retirement 
she served as one of the 
!SSISTANT�'OVERNORS�OF�THE�
#ENTRAL�"ANK�
 
3HE�HOLDS�A�"�!��DEGREE�WITH�
a second class upper division 
PASS�FROM�THE�5NIVERSITY�OF�
Kelaniya and has obtained 
PROFESSIONAL�QUALI�CATIONS�
from the Bankers Training 
)NSTITUTE��3RI�,ANKA��3HE�
also serves as one of the 
$IRECTORS�OF�2!-�2ATINGS�
,ANKA�,TD���NOW�KNOWN�AS�
,ANKA�2ATING�!GENCY�,TD�

-R��3�3�2ATNAYAKE�
Director
-R��2ATNAYAKE��AN�!SSISTANT�
Governor of the Central Bank 
OF�3RI�,ANKA��IS�AN�!LTERNATE�
Director of Lanka Financial 
3ERVICES�"UREAU�,TD��AND�
a member of the National 
0AYMENTS�#OUNCIL�

-R��2ATNAYAKE�COMMENCED�
his career at the Central 
"ANK�IN������AND�HELD�
the posts of Director of 
3UPERVISION�OF�.ON
"ANK�
)NSTITUTIONS�FROM��������
�����AND�3UPERINTENDENT�

��2EGISTRAR�OF�0UBLIC�$EBT�
FROM��������������(E�HOLDS�
A�"!��(ONS	�DEGREE�FROM�THE�
5NIVERSITY�OF�+ELANIYA��AN�-!�
DEGREE�FROM�THE�5NIVERSITY�
OF�#OLOMBO�AND�AN�-3C�
DEGREE�FROM�THE�7RIGHT�
3TATE�5NIVERSITY��53!�

-R��$�-�'UNASEKARA�
Director
-R��'UNASEKERA�WAS�
appointed the General 
-ANAGER�#HIEF�%XECUTIVE�
/F�CER�OF�"ANK�OF�#EYLON�ON�
�TH�*ANUARY������

Prior to his appointment 
AS�'ENERAL�-ANAGER�#HIEF�
%XECUTIVE�/F�CER�HE�SERVED�
as the Deputy General 
-ANAGER�IN�CHARGE�OF�RETAIL�
banking and sales and 
CHANNEL�MANAGEMENT��-R��
Gunasekara commenced 
his career with the Bank 
IN������AND�OVER�THE�
YEARS�RECEIVED�EXTENSIVE�
training in banking, 
especially all aspects of 
credit management and 
ADMINISTRATION��(E�SERVED�
at Bank of Ceylon London 
"RANCH�FROM��������������
His other contributions 
include his services as a 
resource person of the Bank 
OF�#EYLON�S�INTERNAL�TRAINING�
FACILITY��/VERALL�HE�COUNTS�
OVER����YEARS�OF�EXPERIENCE�
IN�BANKING�

(E�IS�A�.ON
%XECUTIVE�
nominee Director on the 
Boards of BoC Travels 
(Private) Ltd, BoC Property 
$EVELOPMENT���-ANAGEMENT�
�0VT	�,TD���"O#�-ANAGEMENT�
��3UPPORT�3ERVICES��0VT	�,TD���
"ANK�OF�#EYLON��5+	�,TD���
Ceybank Holiday Homes 
�0VT	�,TD���#EYBANK�!SSETS�
-ANAGEMENT��0VT	�,TD���
(OTELS�#OLOMBO������	�,TD���
-ERCHANT�"ANK�OF�3RI�,ANKA�
0,#����)NSTITUTE�OF�"ANKERS�OF�
Sri Lanka, Credit Information 
Bureau of Sri Lanka and 
Lanka Financial Services 
�"UREAU	�,IMITED��

He has successfully 
completed the programme 
ON�#ORPORATE�-ANAGEMENT�
FOR�3RI�,ANKA��,+#-��!/43	�
IN�*APAN�AND�AN�!DVANCED�
-ANAGEMENT�0ROGRAMME�
CONDUCTED�BY�THE�7HARTON�
3CHOOL��5NIVERSITY�OF�
0ENNSYLVANIA��53!��-R��
Gunasekara graduated from 
THE�5NIVERSITY�OF�#OLOMBO��
Sri Lanka, with a Special 
$EGREE�IN�0UBLIC�&INANCE���
4AXATION�IN�������(E�IS�AN�
!SSOCIATE�-EMBER�OF�THE�
Institute of Bankers of Sri 
,ANKA�AND�-EMBER�OF�THE�
!SSOCIATION�OF�0ROFESSIONAL�
"ANKERS�

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Contd.)



LankaClear
Annual Report 2013/14��

-R��-�!�"�3ILVA�
Director 
-R��3ILVA�IS�THE�$EPUTY�
'ENERAL�-ANAGER���
/PERATIONS�OF�0EOPLE�S�"ANK��
(E�JOINED�THE�BANK�IN������
AS�A�-ANAGEMENT�4RAINEE�
AND�COUNTS�OVER����YEARS�OF�
SERVICE�IN�0EOPLE�S�"ANK��

(IS�CAREER�EXPERIENCE�OF�OVER�
���YEARS���COVERS�THE�AREAS�
of branch business banking 
at the levels of Branch 
-ANAGER��2EGIONAL�-ANAGER��
:ONAL�!SSISTANT�'ENERAL�
-ANAGER�AND�PRESENTLY�AS�
THE�IN
CHARGE�OF�THE�BRANCH�
NETWORK�OF�0EOPLE�S�"ANK��

(E�SERVED�AS�THE�IN
CHARGE�
OF�OVER�����BRANCHES��WHICH�
WERE�CATEGORIZED�UNDER����
regions with higher volumes 
of business until he was 
chosen to steer the entire 
BRANCH�NETWORK�OF�THE�"ANK��

(E�HOLDS�A�"��!��DEGREE�FROM�
THE�5NIVERSITY�OF�0ERADENIYA�
and has a professional 
BANKING�QUALI�CATION��!)"

Sri Lanka and he is also 
AN�!SSOCIATE�-EMBER�OF�
Institute of Bankers of Sri 
,ANKA�
 
During his period at the 
0EOPLE�S�"ANK��HE�HAS�GAINED�
EXTENSIVE�LOCAL�AND�OVERSEAS�
TRAINING�AND�EXPOSURE�IN�
"RANCH�"USINESS�"ANKING�

-RS��2�!�3�-�$AYARATHNA�
Director 
She has been the Director, 
Information Technology 
Department of the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka (CBSL) 
SINCE�!UGUST�������AND�
commenced her career at 
#"3,�IN������AS�A�3TAFF�
/F�CER��3HE�SERVES�IN�A�
number of high level internal 
committees of CBSL and 
ALSO�SHE�SERVES�AS�A�-EMBER�
of the Board of Directors 
of the Sri Lanka Computer 
Emergency Response Team 
�3,#%24	��

She holds a BSc degree 
FROM�THE�5NIVERSITY�OF�
#OLOMBO��3HE�IS�A�#ERTI�ED�
Information Systems 
!UDITOR��#)3!	�

-R��-�!�!�.OMANI�
Director
-R��.OMANI�IS�THE�#OUNTRY�
'ENERAL�-ANAGER��#HIEF�
%XECUTIVE�/F�CER�OF�-#"�
"ANK�,IMITED��3RI�,ANKA��
He has been associated 
WITH�-#"�"ANK�0AKISTAN�
FOR�MORE�THAN����YEARS�
in various capacities and 
HAS�WORKED�IN�THE��ELDS�OF�
Corporate Banking, Credit 
-ANAGEMENT��"RANCH�
/PERATIONS�AND�)NTERNAL�
#ONTROL�&UNCTIONS��
-R��.OMANI�HOLDS�A�

BACHELORS��DEGREE�IN�
Electrical Engineering from 
5NIVERSITY�OF�%NGINEERING���
4ECHNOLOGY��5%4	�,AHORE��
0AKISTAN�AND�AN�-"!�
FROM�,AHORE�5NIVERSITY�
OF�-ANAGEMENT�3CIENCES�
�,5-3	��,AHORE��0AKISTAN

-R��*�$URAIRATNAM�
Director
-R��$URAIRATNAM�IS�THE�
-ANAGING�$IRECTOR�#%/�
of Commercial Bank of 
#EYLON�0,#��(E�JOINED�THE�
"ANK�IN�������(IS�BANKING�
EXPERIENCE�COVERS�ALL�ASPECTS�
of International Trade, 
/FF
SHORE�"ANKING��#REDIT��
/PERATIONS�AND�)4��(E�HAS�
BEEN�IN�THE�"ANK�S�#ORPORATE�
-ANAGEMENT�TEAM�FOR�NINE�
YEARS��(E�IS�A�HOLDER�OF�A�
Bachelors Degree from the 
5NIVERSITY�OF�0ERADENIYA��
-R�$URAIRATNAM�HAS�SERVED�
Commercial Bank in several 
3ENIOR�-ANAGEMENT�
positions, including in the 
CAPACITY�#HIEF�/PERATING�
/F�CER��$EPUTY�'ENERAL�
-ANAGER�
�)NTERNATIONAL�
$IVISION��!SSISTANT�'ENERAL�
-ANAGER���)NTERNATIONAL�
Division and Head of 
)MPORTS��(E�OBTAINED�A�"3C��
$EGREE�5NIVERSITY�FROM�THE�
5NIVERSITY�OF�0ERADENIYA�
IN�������AND�AN�%XECUTIVE�
Diploma and Business 

!DMINISTRATION�FROM�THE�
5NIVERSITY�OF�#OLOMBO�IN�
�����

-R��-�4�-�!ZMEER�
Director
-R��!ZMEER�IS�THE�#%/�
OF�!MÀNA�"ANK��(E�
JOINED�THE�"ANK�IN������
AS�ITS�#HIEF�/PERATING�
/F�CER�RESPONSIBLE�FOR�
THE�#ONSUMER��3-%�AND�
Corporate business 
functions along with the 
4REASURY�FUNCTION��(E�HOLDS�A�
-ASTER�S�$EGREE�IN�"USINESS�
!DMINISTRATION�FROM�THE�
5NIVERSITY�OF�,EICESTER��5+�

-R��!ZMEER�S�ILLUSTRIOUS�
CARRIER�COUNTS�OVER����
years of conventional and 
)SLAMIC�BANKING�EXPERIENCE��
(E�HAS�SOUND�EXPERIENCE�
in business banking and 
risk operations, having 
overseen such operations 
at a senior level during his 
stay at Citi Bank, where he 
also held the position of 
6ICE�0RESIDENT�2ISK��(E�WAS�
also involved as a member 
of the founding team in 
the establishment of Dubai 
"ANK�5!%�IN�������AN�ENTITY�
of the Dubai Government, 
taking the position of Credit 
#ONTROLLER��!PART�FROM�THE�
-IDDLE�%AST�HE�HAS�ALSO�
carried out many overseas 
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assignments on behalf of 
Citi Bank in countries such as 
5+��)NDIA�AND�+ENYA��WHERE�
he acquainted himself with 
the different dynamics and 
CHALLENGES�SPECI�C�TO�EACH�
REGION��

In the area of Islamic 
BANKING��-R��!ZMEER�S�TRACK�
record involves holding 
SENIOR�POSITIONS�AT�!L
2AJHI�
"ANK�3AUDI�!RABIA��ONE�OF�
the largest and leading 
Islamic Banks in the world 
AND�3HARJAH�)SLAMIC�"ANK��A�
leading Islamic Bank in the 
5!%�

-R��-�5�DE�3ILVA
Observer 
-R��DE�3ILVA�PRESENTLY�
holds the post of Secretary 
'ENERAL��3RI�,ANKA�"ANKS��
!SSOCIATION��'UARANTEE	�
,TD���AND�IS�A�$IRECTOR�OF�
(."�!SSURANCE�,TD���,ANKA�
Financial Services Bureau 
,TD��AND�OF�3RI�,ANKA�#ERT�
�0VT	�,TD��(E�IS�A�RETIRED�
Senior Deputy General 
-ANAGER�OF�(ATTON�.ATIONAL�
"ANK�,TD��AND�HAS�OVER����
YEARS�EXPERIENCE�IN�THE�
BANKING�INDUSTRY��(E�IS�ALSO�

currently a member of the 
National Payments Council, 
Financial Systems Stability 
Consultative Committee 
and the Sovereign Rating 
Committee of the Central 
"ANK�OF�3RI�,ANKA�

-R��DE�3ILVA�IS�A�&ELLOW�OF�
the Chartered Institute 
of Bankers (London), Past 
0RESIDENT�OF�THE�!SSOCIATION�
of Professional Bankers and 
of the Colombo Centre of 
the Chartered Institute of 
"ANKERS��,ONDON	�

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Contd.)
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�ST�2OW�
�,EFT�TO�2IGHT
-R��3UNIMAL�"�7EERASOORIYA�
�'ENERAL�-ANAGER���#%/��-R��(ARSHA�7ANIGATUNGA�
�$EPUTY�'ENERAL�-ANAGER�
��)4�AND�
/PERATIONS��-R��2ASIKA�'ALAPPATHTHY�
�(EAD�OF�&INANCE��-R��,AKSHMAN�#�0ALLIYA'URUGE�
�(EAD�OF�(2�AND�!DMINISTRATION
�ND�2OW�
�,EFT�TO�2IGHT
-R��2OSHAN�(ETTIARACHCHI�
�3ENIOR�-ANAGER�
�/PERATIONS��-R��$ILANTHA�3AMARASINGHE�
�3ENIOR�-ANAGER�
�)4��-R��)SURU�
Jayaweera 
�3ENIOR�-ANAGER�
�(ELP�$ESK�AND�"ANK�3ERVICES��-R��(EMANTHE�3AMALIARACHCHI�
�3ENIOR�-ANAGER�
�0AYMENT�
Systems
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�ST�2OW�
�,EFT�TO�2IGHT
-R��$ULEEP�!�&ERNANDO�
�3ENIOR�-ANAGER�
�!DMINISTRATION��-R��#HRIS�$E�!LWIS�
�3ENIOR�-ANAGER�
�"USINESS�$EVELOPMENT�
and Brand Promotions,�-R��$IMUTH�7EERASINGHE�
�-ANAGER�
�&ACILITIES�AND�-AINTENANCE��-R��5DDIKA�+AHAWATTE�
�
.ETWORK�/PERATIONS�-ANAGER
�ND�2OW�
�,EFT�TO�2IGHT
-R��$HANUSHKA�5YANAHEWAGE�
�-ANAGER�
�#)43��-R��$ULEEP�,IYANAGE�
�-ANAGER�
�)4�3ECURITY�3OLUTIONS��-R��)NDIKA�
Fernando 
�3YSTEMS�/PERATIONS�-ANAGER��-R��!SELA�(APUARACHCHI�
�(2�-ANAGER� 



SEAMLESSLY THROUGH A 

I SEE A FUTURE 
WHERE I CAN MAKE

PAYMENTS 
LOCAL NETWORK
WIDESPREAD AND SECURE





LankaClear
Annual Report 2013/14�� VALUE ADDING REVIEW

ORGANIZATIONAL 
OVERVIEW AND EXTERNAL 
%.6)2/.-%.4
LankaClear is a Company 
that has a clear direction 
as enunciated by its 
inspiring mission and vision 
statements (page 2), possess 
an innovative culture 
supported by high esteemed 
ethics and values as depicted 
IN�THE�(2�2EPORT��PAGE���	��
Corporate information such 
as ownership, operating 
structure, principal activities 
are indicated in the 
#ORPORATE�0RO�LE��PAGE���	

7E�ARE�A�#OMPANY�THAT�
takes pride in creating 
industry level value by 
providing cutting edge 
technology infrastructure 
IN�THE�PAYMENT�INDUSTRY��
7E�ARE�IN�THE�PROCESS�OF�
migrating from paper based 
payment instruments 
to electronic payments 
through the introduction 
of LankaPay, an electronic 
payment network (page 36) 
which now requires us to 
face competition against 
other local and international 
electronic payment 
NETWORKS�

Key quantitative and 
comparable information 
with regard to value creation 
on capital can be found 
UNDER��NANCIAL�REVIEW��PAGE�

��	���NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
�PAGE���	�AND�3TATEMENT�OF�
6ALUE�!DDITION��PAGE���	��

The positive economic 
performance of the country 
FROM���������HAS�INCREASED�
the number of cheque 
volumes cleared by the 
ORGANIZATION�OVER�THE�YEARS��
Further with the government 
policies encouraging the 
movement towards new 
technology, availability of 
sophisticated electronic 
payment systems, improving 
IT literacy among the 
population, giving wider 
access to technology have 
positively prompted us in 
moving ahead with the new 
PAYMENT�SYSTEMS��PAGE���	�

GOVERNANCE
LankaClear is spearheaded 
by a competent Board of 
Directors and a highly skilled 
management team whose 
details can be found under 
THE�PRO�LES�OF�THE�$IRECTORS�
�PAGE���	��-ANAGEMENT�
4EAM��PAGE���	�AND�(2�
2EPORT��PAGE���	��)MPORTANT�
AREAS�OF�-ANAGEMENT�IN�THE�
/RGANIZATION�ARE�FURTHER�
GOVERNED�BY�EXTENDED�
Board Committees which 
information is included 
under the Corporate 
Governance section (page 
��	�

!LL�STRATEGIC�DECISIONS�ARE�
forwarded for review by 
the Board of Directors and 
implementation is evaluated 
at monthly and special board 
MEETINGS�

4HE�ORGANIZATIONAL�RISK�
management process is 
EXPLAINED�IN�DETAIL�UNDER�THE�
2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�SECTION�
�PAGE���	�

(OW�THE�ORGANIZATION�S�
culture, ethics and values 
ARE�RE�ECTED�IN�ITS�USE�OF�
and effects on the broad 
base of capital including 
�NANCIAL��MANUFACTURED��
intellectual, human, social 
and relationship and 
natural capitals, including 
its relationships with key 
stakeholders is highlighted 
in the Responsible Business 
2EPORT��PAGE���	�

7E�SET�OURSELVES�STANDARDS�
and benchmarks sometimes 
over and above legal 
REQUIREMENTS��#ONTINUOUS�
improvements to IT 
Systems, carrying out 
)4�!UDITS�AND�MEETING�
international standards are 
some of the aspects that 
portray our commitment to 
carrying out a responsible 
AND�SUSTAINABLE�BUSINESS��
Self set standards have 
given us a continuous 
push for innovation and 

ENTREPRENEURSHIP��'OING�
LIVE�WITH�THE�#OMMON�!4-�
Switch, DogTag System for 
LankaSign, the Financial 
3ECTOR�#ERTI�CATION�3ERVICE�
Provider (CSP) in Sri Lanka, 
revamping of the network 
structure, progressing 
TOWARDS�VIRTUALIZATION�
of server infrastructure 
and progression towards 
ATTAINING�)3/�������FOR�
LankaSign are some of the 
EXAMPLES��

Remuneration and 
incentives are linked to value 
creation with goal integrated 
systematic appraisal 
SYSTEMS�

"53).%33�-/$%,�
7E�AS�A�4ECHNOLOGY�
Development and 
Infrastructure providing 
Company to the payment 
industry functioning as an 
intermediary for the smooth 
EXECUTION�OF�PAYMENTS�AND�
settlements in a convenient, 
affordable and secure 
MANNER��4YPES�OF�PRODUCTS�
and their overview can be 
FOUND�IN�THE�/PERATIONS�
2EVIEW��PAGE���	��

LankaClear is currently 
A�DEBT�FREE�ORGANIZATION�
GENERATING�SUF�CIENT�
funds from its prevailing 
businesses to fund its new 
PROJECTS��2ETAINED�FUNDS�ARE�
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continuously invested on 
current and new payment 
systems infrastructure, 
which includes procuring 
of new computer hardware 
and software with advance 
FEATURES�FOR�THE�EF�CIENT�
operation of current 
systems and for new product 
DEVELOPMENT��7ELL�LAID�DOWN�
systems, procedures and 
protocols and continuous 
checks for adherence 
coupled with competent and 
EXPERIENCED�STAFF�IS�A�KEY�
STRENGTH�OF�THE�ORGANIZATION�
for its continuous superior 
PERFORMANCE��,ANKA#LEAR�
invests heavily on training 
and development of its staff 
FOR�GREATER�EF�CIENCIES�AND�
INTERNAL�CAPACITY�BUILDING��
This has helped to reduce 
and in some cases eliminate 
COSTLY�EXTERNAL�SUPPORT��
/UR�CONTRIBUTION�TO�SOCIETY�
and nature is highlighted 
under Responsible  Business 
2EPORT��PAGE���	�

2)3+3�/00/245.)4)%3�!.$�
OUTLOOK
,ANKA#LEAR�S�SPECI�C�RISKS�
and risk management plan 
is discussed in detail under 
2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�SECTION�
�PAGE���	��

STRATEGY AND RESOURCE 
ALLOCATION
3TRATEGIC�OBJECTIVES�ARE�
derived from the vision 
and mission statements 
OF�THE�ORGANIZATION�AND�ITS�
MAIN�OBJECTIVE�IS�TO�PROVIDE�
convenient, affordable and 
secure payment systems to 
THE�BEST�POSSIBLE�EXTENT��
In the short to medium 
term, we concentrate in 
SUCCESSFUL�EXECUTION�OF�
different payment modes 
enabled by the LankaPay, 
the electronic payment 
NETWORK��)N�THE�LONG�TERM��
we are aiming to grasp 
the positive developments 
in the payment industry 
FOR�THE�BENE�T�OF�OUR�
CUSTOMER�BASE��4HE�
STRATEGIC�OBJECTIVES�AND�
the strategies in place to 
ACHIEVE�STRATEGIC�OBJECTIVES�
are elaborated under reviews 
OF�#HAIRPERSON��'-�#%/��
/PERATIONAL�2EVIEW�AND�
LankaPay future strategies 
AND�BENE�TS�TO�CUSTOMERS��
banks and community (page 
��	�

!CHIEVEMENT�OF�STRATEGIC�
OBJECTIVES�IS�CONTINUOUSLY�
monitored against 
operational goals and 
timelines, budgets and 
INITIAL�FEASIBILITIES�

0%2&/2-!.#%
Quantitative analysis of 
performance with regard to 
value creation is available at 
the end of this report under 
3TATEMENT�OF�6ALUE�!DDITION�
�PAGE���	�

BASIS OF PREPARATION 
AND PRESENTATION
4HE�/RGANIZATION�S�
materiality determination 
process is identifying 
matters based on their 
SIGNI�CANT�ABILITY�TO�AFFECT�
VALUE�CREATION�

Financial reporting boundary 
is given under notes to the 
�NANCIAL�STATEMENTS��PAGE�
��	�AND��NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
are prepared complying with 
THE�3RI�,ANKA�!CCOUNTING�
3TANDARDS�FOR�3MALL���
-EDIUM�3IZED�%NTITIES�

Rasika Galappaththy 
Head of Finance

��st�*ULY�����
Colombo, Sri Lanka

VALUE ADDING REVIEW (Contd.)
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34!4%-%.4�/&�6!,5%�!$$)4)/.

&OR�THE�YEAR�ENDED���ST�-ARCH� �������� � �������� � ��������  

 Rs. % Rs.  % Rs.  %

 
Value Added 
Business Revenue  ������������� � �������������� �� �������������
Cost of Services  ������������� � �������������� � ��������������
6ALUE�!DDED�BY�"USINESS�!CTIVITIES� �������������� � �������������� � ��������������
&INANCE���/THER�)NCOME� ������������� � ������������� � �������������
4OTAL� �������������� � �������������� � ��������������
 
Distribution of Value Added
To Employees 
3ALARIES���/THER�"ENE�TS� �������������� �� ������������ �� ������������
Training  ����������� � ������������ � ������������
� ������������� ���� ������������� ���� ������������� ���

To Providers of Capital
$IVIDENDS�TO�/RDINARY�3HAREHOLDERS� ������������� � ������������� � �������������
� ������������� ��� ������������� ��� ������������� ��

To the Government 
)NCOME�4AX� ������������� �� ������������ � �������������
� ������������� ���� ������������� ���� ������������� ���

4O�%XPANSION�AND�'ROWTH�
2ETAINED�0RO�TS� �������������� �� ������������� �� �������������
$EPRECIATION���!MORTISATION� ������������� � ������������� �� ������������
$EFERRED�4AXATION� ������������ � ��������	� � �����������	�
� �������������� ���� �������������� ���� �������������� ���
 
4OTAL� �������������� ����� �������������� ����� �������������� ����
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LANKACLEAR OPERATIONS
!N�EF�CIENT�PAYMENT�AND�
settlement system is critical 
for a growing and dynamic 
ECONOMY��3ECURE�AND�FAST�
REALIZATION�OF�PAYMENTS�
within a stable infrastructure 
FACILITATES�EF�CIENT�
PAYMENTS�AND�SETTLEMENTS��
LankaClear (LCPL) 
contributes immensely 
towards this end in Sri Lanka 
with the guidance of the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka and 
the collaboration of all the 
COMMERCIAL�BANKS�

LCPL plays a key role as 
the National Financial 
Transactions Clearing Hub, 
as it is the entity in Sri Lanka 
that owns and operates 
Cheque Clearing, Rupee Draft 
#LEARING��53�$OLLAR�#LEARING��
online funds transfers via 
3,)03�AND�ROUTING�OF�OFF

US�!4-�TRANSACTIONS�VIA�
,ANKA0AY���#OMMON�!4-�
3WITCH��#!3	�

Products and Services 
Offered by LankaClear
��� 2UPEE�#HEQUE�#LEARING�

�#HEQUE�)MAGING�AND�
Truncation System (CITS)

��� 3RI�,ANKA�)NTERBANK�
Payment System (SLIPS)

��� ,ANKA0AY�
�#OMMON�!4-�
3WITCH��,ANKA0AY�
�#!3	

��� 2UPEE�$RAFT�#LEARING

��� 53�$OLLAR�#LEARING
��� $IGITAL�#ERTI�CATES���

LankaSign

Currently, an average of 
APPROXIMATELY���������
cheques are cleared through 
LankaClear each business 
DAY�THROUGH�#)43��#)43�HAS�
even cleared as high as 
��������CHEQUES�ON�CERTAIN�
days during the year under 
REVIEW��4HERE�HAS�BEEN�AN�
INCREASE�OF�APPROXIMATELY�
������IN�CHEQUE�CLEARING�
DURING�THE�YEAR�����������
compared to the previous 
�NANCIAL�YEAR�ALONG�WITH�A�
SIGNI�CANT�INCREASE��OVER�
���	�IN�ELECTRONIC�PAYMENTS��
RE�ECTED�BY�THE�GROWTH�IN�
3,)03�TRANSACTIONS��3,)03�
has carried out more than 
��������TRANSACTIONS�PER�DAY�
AT�TIMES��!FTER�SUCCESSFUL�
operations for around 8 
months, the total volume of 
cash withdrawals and total 
volume of balance inquiry 
THROUGH�,ANKA0AY���#!3�
AMOUNTS�TO�����������AND�
��������RESPECTIVELY�

��� 250%%�#(%15%�
#,%!2).'�
�#(%15%�
)-!').'�!.$�425.#!4)/.�
3934%-��#)43	
!UTOMATED�CHEQUE�CLEARING�
and cheque truncation was 
enabled by the introduction 

OPERATIONS REVIEW 

of the Cheque Imaging and Truncation System (CITS), 
WHICH�UTILIZES�DIGITAL�TECHNOLOGY�TO�EXPEDITE�THE�CLEARING�
AND�SETTLEMENT�PROCESSES��!S�A�RESULT��ON�DEPOSITING�A�
cheque, the public is able to get credit for their funds on the 
FOLLOWING�BUSINESS�DAY��4��	��

7E�TAKE�PLEASURE�IN�STATING�THAT�DUE�TO�0ROCESS�AND�
4ECHNOLOGICAL�IMPROVEMENTS��#)43�HAS�ACHIEVED�A��������
3YSTEM�5P
4IME�AND�ACHIEVED��������OF�THE�$ELIVERY�#UTOFF�
TIMES��7E�HAVE�FURTHER�IMPROVED�THE�$ISASTER�2ECOVERY��$2	�
0ROCESSES�AND�THE�"USINESS�#ONTINUITY�0LAN��"#0	��7E�HAVE�
A�FULLY�FUNCTIONAL�$2�3ITE�AND�DURING�THIS��NANCIAL�YEAR�WE�
have conducted the clearing operations for all of the above 
CLEARING�SYSTEMS�FROM�THE�$2�3ITE�DURING�$2�/PERATION�
$RILLS�

The total number of cheques cleared and the total value 
OF�CHEQUES�PROCESSED�THROUGH�#)43�DURING�����������AS�
COMPARED�WITH�����������ARE�DEPICTED�IN�THE�FOLLOWING�
diagrams:

Dec Jan Feb -AR

CHEQUES PRESENTED FOR CLEARING 
-VOLUME WISE

!UG!PR -AY Jun Jul Sep /CT Nov

�����

�����

�����

6
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UM
E�
�)
N�
��
�	

������� �������

4HE�TOTAL�NUMBER�OF�CHEQUES�CLEARED�IN�����������THROUGH�
#)43�AMOUNTS�TO�������MILLION�COMPARED�TO�������MILLION�IN�
�����������4HIS�IS�AN�INCREASE�OF�������
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Dec Jan Feb -AR

CHEQUES PRESENTED FOR CLEARING  
-VALUE WISE

!UG!PR -AY Jun Jul Sep /CT Nov
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4HE�TOTAL�VALUE�OF�CHEQUES�CLEARED�IN�����������THROUGH�
#)43�AMOUNTS�TO�2S��������BILLION�COMPARED�TO�2S��������
BILLION�IN������������4HIS�IS�AN�INCREASE�OF�������

����3%44,%-%.4�#,%!2).'��#(%15%�2%452.3	�
#HEQUES�ARE�STILL�THE�MOST�CONVENIENT�AND�PREFERRED�NON

cash payment instrument for commercial transactions in 
3RI�,ANKA��������OF�THE�CHEQUES�PRESENTED�FOR�CLEARING�WERE�
RETURNED�UNPAID�DUE�TO�VARIOUS�REASONS��/F�THE�TOTAL�CHEQUES�
RETURNED��AROUND��������WERE�DUE�TO�LACK�OF�FUNDS�

The total volume of cheques returned and the total value 
OF�CHEQUES�RETURNED�DURING�����������AS�COMPARED�WITH�
����������ARE�DEPICTED�IN�THE�FOLLOWING�DIAGRAMS�

Dec Jan Feb -AR

CHEQUE RETURNED FOR CLEARING 
-VOLUME WISE

!UG!PR -AY Jun Jul Sep /CT Nov
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4HE�TOTAL�NUMBER�OF�CHEQUE�RETURNS�IN�����������THROUGH�
#)43�AMOUNTS�TO������MILLION�COMPARED�TO������MILLION�IN�
�����������4HIS�IS�AN�INCREASE�OF�
������

Dec Jan Feb -AR

CHEQUE RETURNED FOR CLEARING 
-VALUE WISE

!UG!PR -AY Jun Jul Sep /CT Nov
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4HE�TOTAL�VALUE�OF�CHEQUE�RETURNS�IN�����������THROUGH�#)43�
AMOUNTS�TO�2S���������BILLION�COMPARED�TO�2S���������BILLION�
IN������������4HIS�IS�AN�INCREASE�OF�������

��� 32)�,!.+!�).4%2"!.+�0!9-%.4�3934%-��3,)03	
Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT) is a movement of funds from 
one account to another without a corresponding document 
TO�AUTHORIZE�OR�PROVE�THAT�THE�TRANSFER�HAS�BEEN�COMPLETED��
,ANKA#LEAR�PROVIDES�AN�/NLINE�%LECTRONIC�$ATA�4RANSFERRING�
3ERVICE�VIA�3,)03�TO�ALL�COMMERCIAL�BANKS��4HIS�SYSTEM�WAS�
ENHANCED�IN�3EPTEMBER������TO�CATER�FOR�A�GREATER�VOLUME�
of transactions, and facilitates same day clearing and 
PROVIDES�FOR�GREATER�SECURITY�BY�MEANS�OF�DIGITAL�SIGNING�

!N�AVERAGE�VOLUME�OF��������TRANSACTIONS�PASS�THROUGH�
SLIPS during a business day and on a high volume day, the 
TRANSACTION�VOLUMES�HAVE�EXCEEDED���������
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The increase in number of SLIPS transactions and its total 
value are depicted below:

Dec Jan Feb -AR

SRI LANKA INTER BANK PAYMENT 
SYSTEMS - VOLUME WISE

!UG!PR -AY Jun Jul Sep /CT Nov
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Dec Jan Feb -AR

SRI LANKA INTER BANK PAYMENT 
SYSTEMS - VALUE WISE

!UG!PR -AY Jun Jul Sep /CT Nov
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The total volume of items cleared through SLIPS in 
����������AMOUNTS�TO�������MILLION��COMPARED�TO�������
MILLION�IN������������4HIS�IS�AN�INCREASE�OF���������4HE�
TOTAL�VALUE�OF�ITEMS�CLEARED�THROUGH�3,)03�IN�����������
AMOUNTS�TO�2S���������BILLION�COMPARED�TO�2S���������BILLION�
IN������������4HIS�IS�AN�INCREASE�OF��������

��� ,!.+!0!9�
�#/--/.�
!4-�37)4#(��,!.+!0!9�
�
CAS)
The Common Card and 
0AYMENT�3WITCH��##!03	�
under the brand name 
LankaPay is an integrated 
payment system of multiple 
domestic payment networks, 
which is a national initiative 
implemented under the 
guidance of the Central Bank 
and with the collaboration 
OF�ALL�BANKS��##!03�
incorporates international 
best practices and will 
bring greater convenience, 
SECURITY�AND�COST�EF�CIENCY�
to retail electronic 
PAYMENTS�IN�3RI�,ANKA��
-OST�IMPORTANTLY��THIS�WILL�
enable the participating 
banks to innovate new 
payment products to cater 
TO�THEIR�CUSTOMER�NEEDS��
The full implementation 
OF�##!03�WILL�BE�A��GAME�
CHANGER��THAT�WILL�BENE�T�
ALL�PARTICIPATING��NANCIAL�
institutions and as a 
result the general public 
WILL�ACCRUE�THE�BENE�TS�
OF�MORE�EF�CIENT�AND�COST�
effective electronic payment 
PRODUCTS�

0HASE�)�OF�##!03��,ANKA0AY�
��#!3��#OMMON�!4-�3WITCH	�
was launched on 23rd July 
�����WITH�THE�TWO�STATE�
sector Banks namely, Bank 
OF�#EYLON�AND�0EOPLE�S�"ANK��
!T�THE�END�OF�THIS��NANCIAL�
year under review, the switch 
contains four members 
adding Seylan Bank PLC and 
5NION�"ANK�OF�#OLOMBO�0,#�
TO�ITS�LIST�

,ANKA0AY���#!3�SERVES�THE�
general public of Sri Lanka 
WITH�THE�UTMOST�EXCELLENCE��
offering convenience of the 
ability to use the nearest 
!4-�AND�SECURITY��4HROUGH�
,ANKA0AY���#!3��THE�PUBLIC�IS�
able to conduct transactions 
USING�THE�!4-S�OF�ANY�OTHER�
bank connected to the 
,ANKA0AY�
�#!3�AT�A�VERY�
MINIMAL�COST��,ANKA0AY�
��#!3�FACILITATES�CASH�
withdrawals and balance 
INQUIRY�

The total number of cash 
withdrawals, the value of the 
cash withdrawals and total 
number of balance inquiry 
are depicted in the following 
DIAGRAMS�

OPERATIONS REVIEW (Contd.)
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LANKAPAY - CAS TOTAL VALUE OF CASH 
WITHDRAWALS

!
UG

�
�

*U
L

��

3E
P

��

/
CT

�
�

.
OV

�
�

$
EC

�
�

*A
N

��

&E
B

��

-
AR

�
�

����

����

����

���

���

���

���

�

Rupee Value

V
ol

um
e

LANKAPAY - CAS TOTAL VOLUME OF 
BALANCE INQUIRY
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Total balance inquiries

!FTER�SUCCESSFUL�OPERATION�FOR�LITTLE�OVER���MONTHS��THE�TOTAL�
VOLUME�OF�CASH�WITHDRAWALS�AMOUNTS�TO�����������AND�THE�
TOTAL�VALUE�OF�CASH�WITHDRAWALS�AMOUNT�TO�2S�����������������
4HE�TOTAL�NUMBER�OF�BALANCE�INQUIRY�AMOUNTS�TO����������)T�
is interesting to note that there is a month on month growth 
IN�CASH�WITHDRAWALS�OF�AROUND������DURING�THE�PERIOD�OF�
REVIEW�

4. SRI LANKA RUPEE DRAFT CLEARING
The volume and value of Rupee Drafts processed during the 
YEAR�����������AND�����������IS�SHOWN�BELOW�

Dec Jan Feb -AR

RUPEE DRAFT CLEARING - VOLUME WISE
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4HE�TOTAL�VOLUME�OF�2UPEE�$RAFTS�CLEARED�IN�����������
THROUGH�$RAFT�#LEARING�IS�������COMPARED�TO�������IN�
�����������4HIS�IS�AN�INCREASE�OF�
�������

Dec Jan Feb -AR

RUPEE DRAFT CLEARING - VALUE WISE
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4HE�TOTAL�VALUE�OF�2UPEE�$RAFTS�CLEARED�IN�����������
THROUGH�$RAFT�#LEARING�AMOUNTS�TO�2S���������MILLION�
COMPARED�TO�2S���������MILLION�IN������������4HIS�IS�A�
DECREASE�OF��������

��� 53�$/,,!2�#,%!2).'
4HE�TOTAL�NUMBER�OF�ITEMS�CLEARED�THROUGH�53�$OLLAR�
#LEARING�IN�����������AMOUNTS�TO�������THOUSAND�COMPARED�
TO�����������OF������THOUSAND��4HIS�IS�AN�INCREASE�OF��������

Dec Jan Feb -AR

US DOLLAR CLEARING - VOLUME WISE
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4HE�TOTAL�VALUE�OF�ITEMS�CLEARED�THROUGH�53�$OLLAR�#LEARING�
IN�����������AMOUNTS�TO�53��������MILLION�COMPARED�
TO�����������OF�53��������MILLION��4HIS�IS�AN�INCREASE�OF�
�������

Dec Jan Feb -AR

US DOLLAR CLEARING - VALUE WISE

!UG!PR -AY Jun Jul Sep /CT Nov
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Given the above we observe a trend of paper based payment 
instrument growth being very minimal, while electronic 
PAYMENT�SYSTEMS�SUCH�AS�3,)03�AND�,ANKA0AY���#!3�GROWING�
RAPIDLY��4HIS�IS�A�TREND�WE�EXPECT�TO�SEE�INCREASING�WITH�
more individuals and institutions moving towards electronic 
TRANSACTIONS�

Harsha Wanigatunga
$EPUTY�'ENERAL�-ANAGER���)4�AND�/PERATIONS

��st�*ULY�����
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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TOPLINE GROWTH 
REFLECTING NEW PRODUCT 
RANGES ON OFFER FOR 
STRENGTH AND STABILITY 
).�4(%�,/.'�4%2-
LankaClear has achieved its 
HIGHEST�EVER�REVENUE�OF�2S��
463mn recording a growth of 
�����YEAR�ON�YEAR�AND�ENDED�
THE�YEAR�WITH�A�PRO�T�AFTER�
TAX�OF�2S�����MN��4HE�PRO�TS�
were achieved despite initial 
LOSSES�OF�2S����MN�FROM�
the new product line, the 
#OMMON�!4-�3WITCH��#!3	��

In spite of the successful 
LAUNCH�OF�#!3�IN�*ULY�
�������RST�PRODUCT�LINE�
in a series of promising 
range of products from the 
REVOLUTIONIZING�PAYMENT�
network “LankaPay”, delays 
IN�BANKS�JOINING�THE�SWITCH�
resulted in comparably lower 
THAN�EXPECTED�REVENUE�FOR�
THE�PERIOD��%SPECIALLY�IN�THE�
technology sector where 
HIGH�CAPITAL�EXPENDITURE�
is incurred to roll out new 
products or services, the 
PERCEIVED�BENE�TS�AS�
PRO�TS�WOULD�COME�WITH�
the maturity of the product 
and this was no different in 
,ANKA0AY��

Despite challenges, 
,ANKA#LEAR�BENE�TED�BY�TAX�
concessions offered to Small 
AND�-EDIUM�3IZED�%NTITIES�
having lower revenue than 
2S�����MN�IN�����������

YEAR�OF�ASSESSMENT��4HE�
APPLICABLE�TAX�RATE�CAME�
DOWN�FROM�����TO�����
RESULTED�A�TAX�SAVING�OF�2S��
��MN��

!S�A�RESULT��%ARNINGS�0ER�
3HARE�OF�2S��������WAS�
recorded for the period, 
almost in par with the last 
YEAR��.ET�!SSETS�6ALUE�
Per Share increased from 
2S��������TO�2S��������
recording a healthy growth 
OF������4HE�TOTAL�ASSET�
BASE�AS�AT���st�-ARCH������
surpassed Rupees one billion 
RE�ECTING�THE�#OMPANY�S�
increasing ability to provide 
infrastructure facilities for 
National Payment Systems 
IN�FUTURE��4HE�STATED�CAPITAL�
has marginally increased due 
to issuing shares to the new 
BANK��#ARGILLS�"ANK�,TD�

LankaClear recorded a net 
PRO�T�MARGIN�OF������FOR�
the year under review, 
marginally declining from 
�����THE�HIGHEST�PERCENTAGE�
which was achieved last 
YEAR��,ANKA#LEAR�DERIVES�
����OF�ITS�TOTAL�INCOME�FROM�
cheque clearing related 
activities and the number of 
cheques cleared during the 
YEAR�REACHED���MN�������
ABOVE�THE�LAST�YEAR�S��GURE��
The Company managed to 
fund its entire operation 
AND�EXPANSION�ACTIVITIES�

internally, which yet again 
is an achievement due to 
sound fund management 
policies in place within the 
#OMPANY��4HE�#OMPANY�S�
�NANCIAL�PERFORMANCE�AND�
stability is well positioned 
to cater to the future 
EXPANSION�DEMANDS�OF�THE�
PAYMENT�INDUSTRY�ON�ITS�OWN�

REVENUE
#OMPANY�S�TOP�LINE�REACHED�
2S�����MN��ENABLED�
THROUGH�A������GROWTH�
compared to the previous 
YEAR�S�REVENUE�OF�2S��
428mn, primarily driven 
by income from the new 
product line supplemented 
BY�����INCREASE�IN�THE�
3,)03�INCOME��)NCOME�
from cheque clearing has 
remained stagnant at 
2S�����MN�MAINLY�DUE�TO�
reduction in cheque return 
PERCENTAGE�FROM������TO�
�����IN�SPITE�OF�INCREASE�IN�
CHEQUE�VOLUMES�BY�������
2EVENUE�FROM�#!3�OPERATION�
FROM�*ULY������ONWARDS�
CONTRIBUTED�TO����OF�THE�
total revenue at a value 
OF�2S����MN�DERIVED�FROM�
only 4 banks and Banks in 
THE�#!3�HAVE�BEEN�IN�THE�
increase since then to record 
possible higher revenue in 
THE�NEXT��NANCIAL�YEAR��4HE�
CERTI�CATE�AUTHORITY�INCOME�
HAS�INCREASED�BY�����FOR�THE�
PERIOD��

REVENUE 
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX
,ANKA#LEAR�S�PRO�T�BEFORE�
TAX��0"4	�REDUCED�BY�������
TO�RECORD�A�0"4�OF�2S�����MN�
COMPARED�TO�2S�����MN�
ACHIEVED�A�YEAR�AGO��4HE�
main reason for this drop 
IS�THE�LOSS�OF�2S����MN�
FROM�#!3��$ESPITE�LOSSES��
the Company managed 
TO�MAINTAIN�A�GROSS�PRO�T�
MARGIN�OF�����DOWN�FROM�
����RECORDED�IN�THE�PREVIOUS�
YEAR��4HE�GROSS�PRO�T�
together with other income 
AND�EXPENSES�RESULTED�IN�A�
NET�PRO�T�MARGIN�OF������
It can be observed that 
compared to the previous 
year, direct operating 
EXPENSES�AND�ADMINISTRATIVE�
EXPENSES�HAVE�INCREASED�BY�
����AND�����RESPECTIVELY��
However, this is mainly 
due to operating and 
ADMINISTRATIVE�EXPENSES�
INCURRED�FOR�#!3�AMOUNTING�
TO�2S����MN��&ACTORING�
OUT�THE�#!3�OPERATION��
the increase in the direct 
OPERATING�EXPENSES�AND�
ADMINISTRATIVE�EXPENSES�
IS�ONLY������AND�����
RESPECTIVELY�RE�ECTING�THE�
cost management strategies  
in place throughout the 
�NANCIAL�YEAR��

PROFIT MARGIN
��
��
�

��
��
�

��
��
�

��
��
�

��

��

��

��

��

��

��

�

�

.ET�0RO�T�-ARGIN���
'ROSS�0RO�T�-ARGIN��

).4%2%34�).#/-%
Guided by the policy rates 
of the Central Bank, Sri 
,ANKA�HAS�BEEN�EXPERIENCING�
a declining trend in 
MARKET�INTEREST�RATES��
However, since there were 
investments locked with 
high rates coupled with 
increase in the investment 
value, the effects of lowering 
INTEREST�RATES�WERE�NEGATED��
!S�A�RESULT��THE�INTEREST�
income generated from 
THE�SHORT�TERM��NANCIAL�
INVESTMENTS�REACHED�2S��
����MN��A�����INCREASE�FROM�
2S������MN�ACHIEVED�LAST�
YEAR��

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The Company reported and 
%ARNINGS�0ER�3HARE�OF�2S��
������������LOWER�COMPARED�

TO�2S�������FOR�THE�PREVIOUS�
�NANCIAL�YEAR�

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
!�FUNDAMENTAL�CHARACTERISTIC�
of the payment systems 
industry is its capital 
intensive nature and given 
the rapid and evolutionary 
changes in our industry, 
capital investment must be 
FAR�THINKING�AND�ASTUTE��7E�
have been a Company that 
has continuously invested 
into payments infrastructure 
that will propel us it into the 
future on par with global 
EXPECTATIONS�

)N�����������OUR�CAPITAL�
investment continued to 
maintain its momentum 
RISE�ALONG�WITH�A�SIGNI�CANT�
CAPITAL�INVESTMENT�OF�2S��
���MN�COMPARED�TO�THE��
previous year when it was 
2S�����MN�

3(!2%(/,$%23��&5.$3
4HE�PRO�TS�MADE�IN�
consecutive operating 
periods have consistently 
added to the shareholders 
wealth and a strong balance 
sheet which has led to 
REACHING�SHAREHOLDER�S�
wealth which now stands 
IN�EXCESS�OF�2S��BN��4HIS�
IS�AN�IMPROVEMENT�OF�����
compared to the previous 

YEAR��4HE�RECORDED�.ET�
!SSETS�6ALUE�PER�3HARE�IS�2S��
������DURING�THE�YEAR�UNDER�
REVIEW�COMPARED�TO�2S��
������IN�THE�PREVIOUS�YEAR��

SHAREHOLDERS’ 
FUNDS 
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The Company recorded a 
RETURN�ON�EQUITY�OF�������
FOR�THE��NANCIAL�YEAR�UNDER�
REVIEW�COMPARED�TO�������
reported in the previous 
YEAR��

DIVIDEND PER SHARE
LankaClear has been 
paying dividends to its 
shareholders consistently 
and the Company will 
consistently strive to strike 
a balance between healthy 
dividends and retention 
to support investment 
ACTIVITIES�TO�ENHANCE�LONG

TERM�SHAREHOLDER�VALUE��

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Contd.)
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!�DIVIDEND�OF�2S�������PER�
share was declared from 
THE�REPORTED�PRO�TS�ON�*ULY�
�����

DIVIDEND PER 
SHARE

��
��
�

��
��
�

��
��
�

��
��
�

��
��
�

2

�

���

���

�

�2
S�
	

FUTURE OUTLOOK
LankaClear is looking for a 
brighter future along with 
ITS�SIGNI�CANT�INVESTMENT�
on the electronic payment 
NETWORK��,ANKA0AY����WITH�
the newest technology 
bringing enhanced 
security, convenience and 
affordability nationwide 
towards the payment 
AND�SETTLEMENT�INDUSTRY��
LankaPay when running at 
ITS�FULL�STRENGTH�IS�EXPECTED�
to boost our revenue with 
a wider product variety and 
wider market reach and 
IMPROVE�OUR�PRO�TABILITY�
WITH�EXPECTED�ECONOMIES�OF�
SCALES��

Cheque clearing business 
remained at the heart of 
,ANKA#LEAR�S�BUSINESS��
generating required seed 
capital for new investments 
THROUGHOUT�THE�LAST�DECADE��
Since LankaClear is offering 
multiple product ranges and 
offering competitor payment 
mechanisms, the possibility 
EXISTS�FOR�ONE�PRODUCT�
capturing the market share 
OF�OTHER�PRODUCTS��4HEREFORE�
the possibility of electronic 
payment networks such 
as LankaPay substituting 
cheque payments could 
BECOME�A�FUTURE�TREND��4HIS�
could result in a change of 
the current split of revenue 
in favour of electronic 
payments where it is 
currently skewed towards 
CHEQUE�CLEARING��(ENCE�THE�
successful operation of 
LankaPay is going to impact 
ALL�THE��NANCIAL�ASPECTS�
OF�THE�ORGANIZATION�FROM�
PRO�TABILITY�MARGINS�TO�VALUE�
creation for its stakeholders 
THROUGH�ASSET�UTILIZATION�
EF�CIENCIES�IN�A�GREATER�
MAGNITUDE�

!S�HAS�BEEN�THE�PRACTICE��
LankaClear will pursue 
A�STRATEGY�OF�UTILIZING�
internally generated funds 
for its future investments 
TO�THE�MAXIMUM�EXTENT�

whilst paying out a healthy 
DIVIDEND�FOR�ITS�SHAREHOLDERS��
Going by the stated strategy, 
RETAINED�EXCESS�FUNDS�WILL�
be invested in low risk 
�NANCIAL�INSTRUMENTS�UNTIL�
other suitable investment 
OPPORTUNITIES�ARISE�IN�FUTURE�

Rasika Galappaththy 
Head of Finance

��st�*ULY�����
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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AN YEAR FILLED WITH EXPECTATIONS 
AND CHALLENGES 

4HE�DAWN�OF������WAS�AN�
YEAR�OF�GREATER�EXCITEMENT�
and equally challenging 
to all as it paved the way 
and opened doors for 
opportunities to many 
with the new initiatives 
as LankaClear steadily 
progressed with its 
transition to electronic 
PAYMENT�SYSTEMS��4HE�
more the business is centric 
towards latest technologies 
of electronic payments, the 
more the HR challenges will 
be to cope up and drive HR 
AS�A�"USINESS�0ARTNER���

7E�STAND�PROUD�TODAY�
as we were able to 
successfully meet many 
HR challenges in the new 
phase of the business 
with the enhancement of 
internal talent and through 
ATTRACTION�OF�EXTERNAL�TALENT�
TO�MEET�BUSINESS�DEMANDS��

.EW�!RRIVALS�IN��������

�-ANAGEMENT��
���

�.ON
-ANAGEMENT�
�24

%.'!'%-%.4��4(%�7!9�
FORWARD 
The most logical and 
WELL
DESIGNED�STRATEGY�FOR�
engagement, if not centered 
on people, is doomed to 

In our analysis, employees 
responded to the 
engagement survey using a 
�
POINT�,IKERT�3CALE��"ASED�
on an average of their 
answers and comparison 
BETWEEN�THE�ORGANIZATION�S�
scores and those of Global 
4OP�����THE�FOLLOWING�ARE�
the areas of strength and 
IMPROVEMENT�

TOP TWO AREAS OF 
STRENGTH WAS REPORTED 
UNDER THE FOLLOWING 
47/�3526%9�15%34)/.3�
I feel good about the way we 
CONTRIBUTE�TO�THE�SOCIETY��

-Y�WORK�HAS�SPECIAL�
MEANING��THIS�IS�NOT��JUST�A�
JOB��

TOP TWO AREAS OF 
)-02/6%-%.43�7%2%�
REPORTED UNDER THE 
FOLLOWING TWO SURVEY 
15%34)/.3�
7E�HAVE�SPECIAL�AND�UNIQUE�
BENE�TS�HERE��

7HEN�PEOPLE�CHANGE�JOBS�OR�
work units, they are made to 
FEEL�RIGHT�AT�HOME��

Employee responses to the 
�ST�TWO�QUESTIONS�WERE�
comparatively positive and 
it ranked to an average of 
����AS�COMPARED�TO�THE�
RANKING�OF�����OF�THE�4OP����

/RGANIZATION�IN�THE�3URVEY���
But, however the responses 
received for the 2nd set of 
two questions were very 
poor and the rank recorded 
THERE�WAS�����WHILE�THE�
4OP����/RGANIZATION�IN�
the survey had received an 
AVERAGE�RANKING�OF����

7!9�&/27!2$�
4HE�-ANAGEMENT�IS�
determined to work 
towards the improvement 
of the areas mentioned 
in the survey and has 
already begun several 
communication and 
awareness campaigns to 
get more attention to the 
SUBJECT�AREA��)T�IS�ALWAYS�
better to know our relative 
strengths and improvements 
required in order to build a 
GREATER�WORKPLACE�TOMORROW��
7E�ARE�MOST�CERTAIN�THAT�THE�
new engagement strategies 
currently being implemented 
WOULD�TAKE�THE�ORGANIZATION�
TO�THE�NEXT�LEVEL�DURING�THE�
COMING�YEARS�

DOORS OF OPPORTUNITY
The doors of new 
opportunities were opened 
for employees to embrace 
challenges to better their 
careers and the Company 
also provided relevant 
and appropriate Training 
and Development input to 

REMAIN�JUST�AN�ELUSIVE�GOAL�
described by a distant 
MANAGEMENT�TEAM�

)N�OUR�JOURNEY�TOWARDS�
making an engaged and 
awesome workplace we 
measured the pulse of 
the employee level of 
engagement by launching 
an Employee Engagement 
3URVEY�IN�/CTOBER������
with the patronage of Great 
0LACE�TO�7ORK�)NSTITUTE�
)NC��4HE�RESULTS�WERE�AN�
eye opening revelation to 
both management and staff 
MEMBERS�OF�,ANKA#LEAR��
It revealed that awesome 
workplaces maintain 
environments where 
those inherent ambitions 
are unleashed and trust 
ENTRUSTED��!WESOMENESS�
builds employee loyalty and 
EMPLOYEE�BRANDS��

7HEN�WE�ANALYZED�EACH�
OF�THE����SURVEY�ITEMS��WE�
EXAMINED�WHICH�ITEMS�RATED�
the highest and lowest, 
differences between Top 
���'REAT�PLACES�TO�WORK�
participants and ours, which 
items had the greatest 
amount of uncertainty, how 
uncertainty varied among 
different position levels, 
demographics and which 
engagement drivers had the 
biggest effect on overall 
ENGAGEMENT��
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enable them to cope up with 
THE�CHALLENGES�AHEAD��7E�
are proud to place on record 
THAT�THE�TRAINING�EXPENSES�
at LankaClear amounted to 
�����OF�TOTAL�PAYROLL�COSTS�IN�
��������AND�THE�COMPANY�
PROVIDED�APPROXIMATELY���
training day per employee 
DURING�THE�YEAR�WHILST����
training programs were 
SCHEDULED�INCLUDING���
OVERSEAS�TRAININGS�

TRAINING EXPENSES

���
��

��

Technical Local
4ECHNICAL�/VERSEAS
Soft Skill Development Local

%8#)4).'�-/-%.43�/&�
LANKACLEAR EVENTS 
CALENDAR  
!S�PART�OF�OUR�ANNUAL�
events we get to gether 
with the family members 
of our staff members in 
addition to the company 
outings and various other 
EVENTS��)T�WAS�FUN�TO�HAVE�
the kids around and see 
them compete in various 
games in an environment 

OF�UNWINDING�FREEDOM��4HE�
diverse culture at LankaClear 
brings more harmony to the 
work place as evident from 
the impressive participation 
at the Christmas Carols 
IN�$ECEMBER�������
7INNING�OTHERS�THROUGH�
sportsmanship was another 
employee engagement 
episode which concluded 
happily with the winning of 
Champions Trophy being 
won by The IT Department 
AT�THE�!NNUAL�3PORTS�$AY�
Cricket Encounter held at 
-)4�GROUNDS�IN�!UGUST����������

WELFARE ASSOCIATION 
ACTIVITIES
4HE�7ELFARE�!SSOCIATION�
PLAYS�A�SIGNI�CANT�ROLE�IN�THE�
promotion and up keeping 
of employee wellbeing at 
,ANKA#LEAR���/RGANIZING�.EW�
9EAR�0ARTIES��3PORTS�$AYS�AND�
Cricket Encounters are some 
of the popular activities 
ORGANIZED�BY�THE�7ELFARE�
!SSOCIATION�THAT�BINDS�
and connect all employees 
together to form the desired 
TEAM�SPIRIT��

4HE��NANCIAL�ASSISTANCE�
EXTENDED�TO�THE�MEMBERS�
OF�THE�7ELFARE�!SSOCIATION�
in times of need is another 
act of benevolence of the 
3OCIETY��)T�IS�NOTEWORTHY�TO�
mention that the President 

AND�THE�/F�CE�"EARERS�OF�
THE�!SSOCIATION�WERE�IN�
the forefront of the many 
activities that they were 
ORGANIZED�DURING�THE�YEAR�

People are our most valued 
asset and we continue our 
JOURNEY�ON�ENGAGING�THEM�
so they can unleash their 
true potential to become 
valued contributors to the 
COMPANY�AND�SOCIETY��7E�
not only want to retain our 
staff but also want to value 
their contribution as our 
credibility relies on who we 
are based not only on the 
retention but also on how 
we value their contribution 
AND�RECOGNIZE�THEM�

Lakshman C Palliyaguruge
Head of HR and 
!DMINISTRATION

��st�*ULY�����
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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7E�PROCESS�MILLIONS�OF�PAYMENTS�IN�3RI�,ANKA�EVERY�YEAR��
Connecting every personal and business account in the 
country, we are at the heart of the payment industry 
providing a service to businesses and individuals be it 
PAYING�BILLS��RECEIVING�SALARIES�OR�WITHDRAWING�CASH�FROM�!4-�
MACHINES��

%XPONENTIAL�'ROWTH�IN�4RANSACTIONS�
Driven Over the Past Decade 

!S�AN�ENTITY�DRIVING�A�NATIONAL�AGENDA�WE�STRIVE�TO�ACHIEVE�
industry best practices in everything we do and to set 
THE�STANDARD�AS�AN�INNOVATIVE�BUSINESS�PARTNER��7E�FOCUS�
on the positive impact we can create in our community 
��ENVIRONMENT�AND�ALSO�TO�BEST�USE�THE��NANCIAL�CAPITAL�
created for the betterment of the company, society and the 
COUNTRY�AT�LARGE��

7E�PLAY�A�PIVOTAL�ROLE�IN�WORKING�WITH�ALL�STAKEHOLDERS�
��BANKS��CONSUMERS��BUSINESSES�AND�THE�REGULATOR���
in providing the highest quality electronic payment 
SERVICES�ENABLING�THE�ECONOMY�TO�FUNCTION�EF�CIENTLY�AND�
SUSTAINABLY��

�,ANKA#LEAR��ADDS�SIGNI�CANT�
value to the economy 
through the provision 
OF�INNOVATIVE��EF�CIENT�
payment services, focusing 
on connecting individuals 
and businesses with ever 
more convenient and 
SAFE�WAYS�TO�TRANSACT��/UR�
business strategy is centered 
AROUND�DELIVERING�LONG
TERM�
stability and value through 
�&INANCIAL�)NCLUSION���
!DVANCING�PAYMENTS�OVER�A�
decade, empowering society 
to “Transact The Future” we 
take pride in continuously 
RE
DE�NING�THE�PAYMENT�
LANDSCAPE�IN�3RI�,ANKA��

In the future there may be 
no need to write a cheque or 
pay by cash; every consumer 
and business will have the 
opportunity to request or 
make convenient, instant 
payments to and from 
their mobile phones, tabs, 
laptops, PCs and through 
!4-S��

7E�CONSIDER�IT�OUR�
responsibility to pave the 
way for these sustainable 
AND�EF�CIENT�ELECTRONIC�
payment services, where we 
can forge towards a green 
AND�PAPERLESS�SOCIETY��

“FOR A 
TECHNOLOGY 

LED 
ORGANIZATION 

LIKE OURS, 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
MANAGEMENT IS 
NOT JUST ABOUT 
RESPONSIBILITY; 

IT’S A DAILY 
ROUTINE OF OUR 

BUSINESS AS 
USUAL”

���������

��-N

���������
��-N

���������

��-N
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#/--5.)49�
7E�ARE�IN�THE�PROCESS�OF�
delivering an inclusive 
payment network, 
encompassing every 
Sri Lankan with latest 
in electronic payment 
TECHNOLOGY��7E�ARE�THAT�VITAL�
cog within the community 
DRIVING�AWAY�INEF�CIENCY�AND�
WASTE��OUR�VERY�EXISTENCE�
HAS�CONTRIBUTED�SIGNI�CANTLY�
to the environment and 
community, and will 
continue to do so as we 
forge ahead with sustainable 
CASHLESS�PAYMENTS�

Transacting seamlessly in 
TODAY�S�WORLD�IS�A�BASIC�NEED�
and we believe that reaching 
out to every segment 
of our community and 
empowering them through 
our inclusive payment 
technologies makes us more 

charity partners, we: 
y introduce new payment 

technologies for 
MAXIMUM�MARKET�
PENETRATION��EF�CIENCIES�
AND��NANCIAL�CONCLUSION�

y are in the process 
of rolling out an 
educational module 
through our charity 
partners to equip 
and educate the local 
community with the 
BEST�PERSONAL��NANCIAL��
management practices 

5LTIMATELY�WE�AIM�TO�CREATE�
mutual economic value 
THROUGH�SOCIAL�BENE�T�
by driving smarter ways 
OF�MANAGING��NANCES�IN�
creating wealth, resulting in 
POVERTY�ELEVATION��

%.6)2/.-%.4
5NLIKE�IN�MOST�OTHER�
business operations, our 
VERY�EXISTENCE�CONTRIBUTES�
SIGNI�CANTLY�TO�THE�
ENVIRONMENT��4HE�BY

product of our business 
IS�AN�EF�CIENT��CASHLESS�
community with paperless 
OF�CES�WHICH�RESULTS�IN�
preserving natural resources 
IN�MYRIADS�OF�WAYS��

�,ANKA#LEAR��CONTRIBUTES�
SIGNI�CANTLY�TO�A�GREENER�

Transacting electronically 
eliminates use of paper by 
means of physical cash, 
cheques and printed forms 
AND�RECEIPTS��)T�ALSO�HELPS�
to save time, money and 
resources, taking away the 
need for physical travel by 
connecting people across 
the country eliminating any 
GEOGRAPHIC�BOUNDARIES��

/UR�RESPONSIBILITY�TO�THE�
ENVIRONMENT�DOES�NOT�SEIZE�
there, we peruse other 
green initiatives within 
the company by recording 
company wide consumption 
of resources and 
establishing best practices 
of controlling, eliminating 
or recycling resources 
MAINLY�ON�ENERGY���PAPER��
Even our new DR site under 
construction conforms to a 
Green Building Design with 
GREEN�SYSTEMS��

!S�MUCH�AS�WE�DESIRE�
to reduce negative 
environmental impact, 
we ultimately need to 
reduce our operational 
OVERHEADS�AND�MAXIMISE�
PRO�TS�TO�RE
INVEST�IN�OUR�
business, a practice we 
follow in providing a true 
national service to the 
community, country and 
most importantly to our 
SHAREHOLDERS��

Chris De Alwis
3ENIOR�-ANAGER���"USINESS�
Development and Brand 
Promotions

��st�*ULY�����
Colombo, Sri Lanka

environment through the 
provision of innovative, 
EF�CIENT��ELECTRONIC�PAYMENT�
services which connects 
individuals and businesses 
SEAMLESSLY��4HIS�MEANS�
everybody uses resources 
EF�CIENTLY�AND�IN�SMARTER�
ways, minimising the impact 
ON�THE�ENVIRONMENT�

SUCCESSFUL��4HUS��WORKING�
in partnership with the 
payments community, local 
community and with our 
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LANKAPAY FUTURE STRATEGIES AND BENEFITS TO 
CUSTOMERS, BANKS AND COMMUNITY

!S�OUR�.ATION�ENDEAVORS�
to become the “Financial 
(UB�OF�!SIA���HAVING�A�
ROBUST��EF�CIENT�AND�SECURE�
payments infrastructure is 
OF�PARAMOUNT�IMPORTANCE��
Further, having a sound 
payments infrastructure will 
facilitate the rapid economic 
GROWTH�AND��NANCIAL�SYSTEM�
STABILITY��4HE�#OMMON�#ARD�
AND�0AYMENT�3WITCH��##!03	�
ACTS�AS�YET�ANOTHER��RST�
towards achieving these 
.ATIONAL�OBJECTIVES��)T�ALL�
began with the launch of 
THE�#OMMON�!4-�3WITCH�
�#!3	�ON�THE���RD�OF�*ULY��
������FOR�THE�VERY��RST�TIME�
in Sri Lanka by LankaClear 
�0VT	�,TD��##!03�WOULD�BE�
known by the brand name 
OF��,ANKA0AY���,ANKA0AY�
is the National Payment 
Switch that is in par in 
every aspect in comparison 
to international payment 
networks (IPN) and in the 
future will connect with 
IPNs, thus giving it a global 
REACH�

LankaPay is designed to 
become the backbone 
infrastructure for all future 
electronic transactions, 
which will facilitate seamless 
connectivity coupled 
WITH�REAL�TIME�PAYMENTS��

&URTHER��THE�KEY�BENE�TS�OF�
THIS�CENTRALIZED�NATIONAL�
infrastructure are that there 
would be one integrated 
electronic payment system 
that has:

y Customer convenience
y� #OST�EF�CIENCIES�BY�

providing competitive 
pricing

y Providing a National 
Payment Infrastructure 
on which Banks could 
EXTEND�AND�INNOVATE�
their services to their 
customers

y� (IGHLY�SECURED�REAL
TIME�
payments

y� 5NI�ED�3YSTEM�2ULES�AND�
Procedures

y� 3TANDARDIZED�SECURITY
y� 'REATER�EF�CIENCY�

in payment scheme 
integration

y Faster introduction of 
new Payment Schemes 
and Systems

y� 'REATER��NANCIAL�
inclusion of all 
demographics

y� 5BIQUITY
y Greater autonomy for the 

payment systems in Sri 
Lanka

7ITH�THE�APPROVAL�OF�THE�
-ONETORY�"OARD�OF�4HE�
Central Bank of Sri Lanka 

�#"3,	�FOR�##!03�AS�THE�
“National Payment Switch”, 
LankaPay has laid solid 
foundations in building 
an integrated electronic 
payment system of multiple 
domestic payment networks 
IN�A�PHASED�MANNER��4HESE�
payment systems are:

0HASE�)�
#OMMON�!4-�3WITCH��#!3	
3HARED�!4-�3WITCH��3!3	

0HASE�))�
Common Electronic Fund 
Transfer Switch (CEFTS)
#OMMON�-OBILE�3WITCH�
�#-OB3	

0HASE�)))�
#OMMON�0/3�3WITCH��#03	
National Card Scheme (NCS)

 

,!.+!0!9�
�#/--/.�!4-�
37)4#(��,!.+!0!9�
�#!3	
In the absence of a national 
SHARED�!4-�NETWORK�A�
customer had to seek an 
!4-�OF�ONE�S�OWN�BANK�

or else pay a high price 
for cash withdrawals, as 
these transactions in Sri 
Lanka were routed through 
International Card Schemes 
�)#3	��7ITH�THE�LAUNCH�OF�
,ANKA0AY�IN�*ULY�������THE�
customers of our member 
banks would no longer 
need to deliberately visit 
AN�!4-�OF�THEIR�OWN�BANK�
for cash withdrawals and 
balance inquiries, but can 
avail themselves for these 
services at a very low cost 
FROM�ANY�,ANKA0AY�-EMBER�
"ANK�!4-��4HESE�CUSTOMERS�
will now have access to 
THEIR�ACCOUNTS�AT�OVER�������
!4-S�ISLAND�WIDE�THAT�WOULD�
INCLUDE�!4-S�THAT�BELONG�
TO�"ANK�OF�#EYLON��0EOPLE�S�
Bank, Commercial Bank, 
HNB, Seylan Bank, NDB and 
5NION�"ANK��

In addition to driving 
affordable convenience 
to users it also offers 
SIGNI�CANT�SAVINGS�IN�FOREIGN�
EXCHANGE�TO�THE�COUNTRY�BY�
virtue of every LankaPay 
!4-�TRANSACTION�BEING�
channelled through a total 
DOMESTIC�NETWORK�
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,!.+!0!9�
�3(!2%$�!4-�
37)4#(��,!.+!0!9�
�3!3	
,ANKA0AY�
�3!3�WILL�
PROVIDE�BANKS�AN�!4-�
switch solution without 
INCURRING�A�HUGE�#!0%8�
in order to provide their 
OWN�!4-�NETWORK�TO�THEIR�
CUSTOMERS��3!3�PROVIDES�
AN�!4-�SWITCH�WITHIN�AN�
/0%8�MODEL�TO�BANKS�THAT�
CHOOSES�THIS�OPTION��4HUS�
THIS�WILL�BENE�T�BANKS�WHO�
are cost conscious, as they 
will be able to launch their 
!4-�NETWORK�AT�A�FRACTION�
of the cost of buying their 
OWN�!4-�SWITCH�AND�BE�
able to operate the same 
with minimal staff, as 
LankaPay will take care of 
THE�TECHNICAL�NITTY
GRITTIES��
This too will reduce foreign 
EXCHANGE�MOVING�OUT�OF�THE�
COUNTRY�

,!.+!0!9�
�#/--/.�%&4�
37)4#(��,!.+!0!9�
�#%&43	
The market demands for 
ONLINE��REAL
TIME�AND�SECURE�
retail interbank Electronic 
Fund Transfers (EFT) and 

a common integrated 
infrastructure for multiple 
PAYMENTS�CHANNELS��I�E��
!4-��)NTERNET�"ANKING��
-OBILE�"ANKING��+IOSKS��
0/3��ETC�	�THAT�FACILITATE�
greater inclusion of all 
demographics is a dire 
NEED�OF�THE�HOUR��4HIS�IS�
due to the rapid economic 
development in SL and 
the population adopting 
)#4��I�E��LAPTOPS�DESKTOPS��
MOBILE��INTERNET��!$3,��
ETC�	�IN�A�RAPID�PACE�IN�3RI�
,ANKA��4HIS�NEED�IS�MET�BY�
THE�,ANKA0AY���#%&43�WITH�
the added advantage of 
facilitating interoperability 
BETWEEN�PAYMENT�SYSTEMS��
7HILE�#%&43�IS�ALREADY�
implemented, LankaPay 
is assisting the banks to 
integrate with this payment 
SYSTEM�

7ITH�#%&43�BEING�FULLY�
adopted by all banks, their 
customers will be able to 
CONDUCT�HIGHLY�SECURED�REAL

time fund transfers between 
banks at any given time of 
the day from the comfort of 
THEIR�HOME��OF�CE�OR�FROM�
THE�NEAREST�!4-�AT�A�VERY�
LOW�COST��4HIS�WILL�BE�A�GREAT�
impetus to the economy, as 
the recipient of the payment 
will have the funds available 
immediately without cash 
MOVEMENT��&URTHER��THIS�

common infrastructure will 
enable banks to leverage on 
the shared infrastructure 
and will enable them to 
innovate on numerous 
EF�CIENT�PAYMENT�PRODUCTS��
7E�STRONGLY�EXPECT�THAT�
CEFTS will be a game 
changer in the payments 
INDUSTRY�IN�3RI�,ANKA�

,!.+!0!9�
�#/--/.�
-/"),%�37)4#(��,!.+!0!9��

�C-obS)
4HE�#OMMON�-OBILE�3WITCH�
�#-OB3	�WILL�BE�3RI�,ANKA�S�
�RST�NATIONAL�MOBILE�
PAYMENT�SYSTEM��7HILE�THIS�
payment system is currently 
being implemented, with the 
full adoption of the same 
by the banks, it will enable 
BANKS�TO�DEVELOP�SPECI�C�
payment products targeting 
DIFFERENT�MARKET�SEGMENTS��
#-OB3�WILL�ALSO�FACILITATE�THE�
INCLUSION�OF�-OBILE�.ETWORK�
/PERATORS��-./	�AND�THUS�
providing them seamless 
access to the banking 
SYSTEM��4HE��,ANKA0AY�
-OBILE�7ALLET���WILL�BE�THE�

payment instrument for 
MOBILE�PAYMENTS�

The mobile payment 
ecosystem that will be 
DEVELOPED�AROUND�#-OB3�
has a great promise to cater 
for the under banked and 
to provide secure payments 
for people even in the most 
REMOTE�AREAS�OF�THE�COUNTRY�

,!.+!0!9�
�#/--/.�0/3�
37)4#(��,!.+!0!9�
�#03	
Currently in Sri Lanka there 
ARE�OVER����MILLION�PAYMENT�
cards, but only around 
�������0/3�TERMINALS�
AVAILABLE��&URTHER��THESE�0/3�
terminals are mostly located 
IN�THE�7ESTERN�PROVINCE�AND�
IN�CITIES��7E�BELIEVE�THAT�
this low ratio of cards to 
0/3�TERMINALS�IS�BECAUSE�OF�
the high cost of acquiring a 
0/3�TRANSACTION��4HUS�WITH�
the implementation of the 
CPS, LankaPay will be able 
to provide a more conducive 
tariff structure to all 
stakeholders that will grow 
the card based payment 
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market, thus ushering 
greater convenience for 
customers and greater 
PRO�TABILITY�AND�CONVENIENCE�
for merchants irrespective 
of whether they are big or 
SMALL��4HIS�WILL�FACILITATE�
SIGNI�CANT�GROWTH�IN�0/3�
based transaction volumes, 
resulting in banks earning 
HIGHER�REVENUE��&URTHER��
THERE�WILL�BE�SIGNI�CANT�
FOREIGN�EXCHANGE�SAVINGS��
which would have otherwise 
gone out of Sri Lanka to 
)NTERNATIONAL�#ARD�3CHEMES��
Given this, it is clear that CPS 
WILL�BENE�T�THE�CUSTOMERS��
merchants, banks and Sri 
,ANKA�AT�LARGE�

LankaPay will enhance 
retail electronic payments 
in Sri Lanka (P2P, B2C, 
B2B) through seamless 
connectivity, customer 
CONVENIENCE���COST�
EF�CIENCY��&URTHER��THIS�WILL�
facilitate money to be kept 
in the banking system and 
reduce the amount kept in 
ONE�S�POCKET��THUS�ENABLING�
greater availability of 
funds within the banking 
system for development 

ACTIVITIES��&INALLY��ALL�
LankaPay participants will 
NOW�HAVE�THE�BENE�T�OF�
innovating new payment 
products to best suite their 
customer needs and the full 
implementation of LankaPay 
WILL�BE�A�DE�NITE��'AME�
#HANGER��THAT�WILL�REDE�NE�
the electronic payment 
landscape, empowering and 
enriching Sri Lankan lives 
AND�ENTERPRISES�

Harsha Wanigatunga
$EPUTY�'ENERAL�-ANAGER�
��)4�AND�/PERATIONS

��st�*ULY�����
Colombo, Sri Lanka

LANKAPAY FUTURE STRATEGIES AND BENEFITS TO 
CUSTOMERS, BANKS AND COMMUNITY (Contd.)
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors 
AT�,ANKA#LEAR��0VT	�,TD���
COMPRISES�EIGHT�.ON

EXECUTIVE�$IRECTORS�INCLUDING�
a Director who functions 
as the Chairperson who is 
appointed by the Governor 
of the Central Bank of Sri 
Lanka, in accordance with 
THE�!RTICLES�OF�!SSOCIATION��
Two Directors represent the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka, 
while two more represent 
THE�TWO�STATE�BANKS��4HREE�
additional Directors are 
nominated by the Sri Lanka 
"ANK�S�!SSOCIATION��TWO�OF�
whom represent the private 
local commercial banks and 
the other represents foreign 
bank branches operating 
IN�3RI�,ANKA��4HE�3ECRETARY�
General of the Sri Lanka 
"ANK�S�!SSOCIATION�SERVES�
THE�"OARD�AS�AN�/BSERVER�
and is usually invited to 
EXPRESS�HIS�VIEWS��

Each Board member is well 
QUALI�ED�AND�EXPERIENCED�
and brings a wealth of 
knowledge that contribute 
towards the effective 
control and function of the 
#OMPANY��

The Directors are 
responsible for protecting 
the rights and interests 
of shareholders and are 
accountable to them for the 
overall management of the 
#OMPANY�

The Board is primarily 
responsible for:

y�Setting strategies, 
direction and 
establishing goals for 
management

y�-ONITORING�PERFORMANCE�
against goals and 
OBJECTIVES�AS�WELL�AS�
ensuring adequate 
internal control with the 
highest ethical standards

y�%NSURING�THE��NANCIAL�
health of the Company

y�!PPOINTING�THE�#HIEF�
%XECUTIVE�/F�CER�
and determining 
the remuneration of 
management and staff

y�Reporting to 
SHAREHOLDERS�

"/!2$�-%%4).'3
4HE�"OARD�HAD����MEETINGS�
during the period under 
review and the attendance 
of each Director at Board 
meetings is given in the 
FOLLOWING�TABLE��

Corporate governance at 
LankaClear provides for 
an effective and control 
BY�THE�-ANAGEMENT�OF�
the Company ensuring 
transparency and timely 
�NANCIAL�REPORTING�

4HE�#OMPANY�S�FUNCTIONS�
are regulated by several 
!CTS�AND�REGULATIONS�
promulgated by the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka from 
time to time and these 
!CTS�ARE�LISTED�UNDER�THE�
heading Compliance with 
Statutory and Regulatory 
REQUIREMENTS�

Consious of their obligation 
to comply with applicable 
laws and regulations, the 
Board of Directors of Lanka 
Clear have committed 
themselves to ensure that 
there is effective overseeing 
of the business affairs of the 
Company and to ensure that 
all such business affairs of 
the Company are conducted 
adhering to the highest 
standards of business and 
BEST�PRACTICES�

Board HR 
Committee

Board Audit 
Committee

Board Risk 
Committee

Shareholders

Chairperson 
and the Board 

of Directors

General 
-ANAGER�

#HIEF�%XECUTIVE�
/F�CER

Deputy 
General 

-ANAGER���)4���
Operations

Head of HR and 
Administration

Head of 
Finance
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4HE�ATTENDANCE�AT�"OARD�(2�#OMMITTEE�-EETINGS��"OARD�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�-EETINGS�AND�"OARD�2ISK�#OMMITTEE�-EETINGS�IN�
RESPECT�OF�THE�RELEVANT�MEMBERS�IS�ALSO�INCLUDED�IN�THIS�TABLE�

Name "OARD�-EETINGS Board HR Committee Board Audit 
Committee

Board Risk Committee

-EETINGS�
Held*

Present % Held* Present % Held* Present % Held* Present %

��� -S��0�,IYANAGE� 

��#HAIRPERSON

�� �� ���� �� �� ����

��� -R��$�-�

Gunasekara  

��$IRECTOR�

�!LTERNATE�$IRECTOR��

-R��7�0�2�0�(��

Fonseka) 

�� �� ����� 3 2 ���

��� -S��2�!�3�-�

Dayaratne  

��$IRECTOR�

�� �� ��� 3 3 ����

��� -R��2�4HEAGARAJAH��

��$IRECTOR� 

�5P�TO�*UNE����	

�� � ���

��� -R��*ONATHAN�!LLES�

��$IRECTOR��&ROM�

*UNE�TO�*ULY����	

�� �� ����

��� -R��3�3�2ATNAYAKE�� 

��$IRECTOR

�� �� ���� �� �� ���� 2 2 ����

��� -R��-�!�"�3ILVA� 

��$IRECTOR�

�� �� ���

��� -R��2AVI�$IAS� 

��$IRECTOR� 

�&ROM�!UGUST����	�

�� �� ���

��� -R��-�!�!�.OMANI� 

��$IRECTOR�

�� �� ���

����-R��-�/�&�3ALIEH� 

���$IRECTOR

�� �� ��� 2 2 ����

����-R��5PALI�DE�3ILVA� 

��/BSERVER�

�� �� ���� �� �� ���� 3 3 ����


-EETINGS�(ELD���-EETINGS�HELD�DURING�THE�TERM�OF�OF�CE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (Contd.)
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In compliance with the 
Code of Best Practice, Board 
0APERS�ARE�CIRCULATED���
���
days prior to a meeting 
giving adequate time to 
Board members to prepare 
FOR�THE�MEETING�

4(%�"/!2$�(2�#/--)44%%
The Board HR Committee 
consists of the Chairperson 
(who is also the Chairperson 
of this Committee) and 2 
MEMBERS�OF�THE�"OARD��

The Terms of Reference 
of the Board HR 
Committee include making 
recommendations to 
the Board relating to 
the regulation of the 
organisation structure, 
salary increments, bonus 
distribution, amendments 
to salary scales, changes to 
#OMPANY�POLICIES�OR�MAJOR�
changes to procedures 
AND�THE��NAL�SELECTION�
of candidates for posts 
of Heads of Department, 
!SSISTANT�'ENERAL�-ANAGER�
and above, reporting directly 
TO�'ENERAL�-ANAGER���#%/�
and recommend to the 
"OARD��

The Board HR Committee 
HELD���MEETINGS�DURING�THE�
year under review and the 
details of matters discussed 
and recommendations made 
appear in the Board HR 
Committee Report elsewhere 
IN�THIS�!NNUAL�2EPORT�

THE BOARD AUDIT 
#/--)44%%
4HE�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�MET�
on 3 occasions during the 
year under review and at 
these meetings the quarterly 
internal audit reports and 
actions taken were reviewed 
whilst actions to be taken 
were recommended by the 
"OARD�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE��
These actions were reported 
to the Board to ensure 
COMPLIANCE�

THE BOARD RISK 
#/--)44%%�!.$�2)3+�
-!.!'%-%.4�/&�
LANKACLEAR
The Business Risk, 
/PERATIONAL�2ISK�AND�
Financial Risk are the 
risks that LankaClear 
HAVE�TO�TAKE�COGNIZANCE�
of when considering Risk 
-ANAGEMENT�AND�ACTION�
taken in managing these 
risks are highlighted 
in the Reports on Risk 
-ANAGEMENT�AND�
/PERATIONAL�2ISK��4HE�
Board Risk Committee met 
2 occasions during the 
�NANCIAL�YEAR�AND�GAVE�
valuable input to the risk 
management functions of 
THE�COMPANY��

RELATIONSHIPS WITH 
SHAREHOLDERS AND 
DISCLOSURES
In its desire to maintain 
good relationships 
with Shareholders, the 

LankaClear Board follows 
a policy of disclosing all 
relevant information, 
BOTH��NANCIAL�AND�NON�
�NANCIAL��TO�3HAREHOLDERS��
The Financial Statements 
are in accordance with 
THE�3RI�,ANKAN�!CCOUNTING�
Standards and the 
#OMPANIES�!CT�.O�����OF�
�����AND�THE�GENERALLY�
accepted accounting 
PRINCIPLES�

#/-0,)!.#%�2%0/24
The Directors, to the best 
of their knowledge have 
CON�RMED�THAT�ALL�TAXES�
and duties payable by 
the Company as well as 
contributions, levies and 
TAXES�PAYABLE�ON�BEHALF�
of and in respect of the 
employees of the company 
and all other statutory 
dues, as were due as at the 
Balance Sheet date, have 
been paid or provided for in 
THE�!CCOUNTS�

SECRETARIES TO THE BOARD
-ANAGERS�AND�3ECRETARIES�
�0VT	�,TD���FUNCTIONS�AS�
the Secretaries to the 
#OMPANY��4HE�3ECRETARIES�
are duly registered under 
the regulations and provide 
THE�NECESSARY�EXPERTISE�AND�
ADVICE�TO�THE�"OARD�

3%.)/2�-!.!'%-%.4
!LL�MEMBERS�OF�THE�3ENIOR�
-ANAGEMENT�TEAM�ARE�WELL�
QUALI�ED�AND�EXPERIENCED�

to perform the authorities 
delegated through the 
'ENERAL�-ANAGER�#%/�

#/-0,)!.#%�
WITH STATUTORY 
AND REGULATORY 
2%15)2%-%.43
The Company is in 
compliance with the 
FOLLOWING�!CTS�

y�The Payment and 
3ETTLEMENT�!CT�.O�����OF�
����

y�Electronic Transaction 
!CT�.O�����OF�����

y�Payment Devices Frauds 
!CT�.O�����OF�����

y�-ONETARY�,AW�!CT�
(Chapter 422)

y�#OMPANIES�!CT�.O����OF�
����

y�In addition,LankaClear 
complies with the 
circulars issued by the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
(CBSL) from time to time

AUDITS
In addition to the annual 
�NANCIAL�AUDIT�IN�OUR�DESIRE�
to ensure compliance 
WITH�THE�RELEVANT�!CTS�
and Circulars by the 
CBSL, internal audits are 
conducted on a quarterly 
basis and audit reports are 
discussed and required 
corrective action to be 
taken by the management 
IS�AGREED�AT�THE�"OARD�!UDIT�
#OMMITTEE�MEETINGS�
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4(%�"/!2$�(2�#/--)44%%
5NDER�THE�DIRECTION�OF�
the Board of Directors of 
LankaClear, the Board HR 
Committee was established 
to provide strategic direction 
to the Human Resources 
FUNCTION�OF�THE�ORGANIZATION��
The terms of reference 
governing the functions of 
the Board HR Committee 
WAS�LAID�DOWN�BY�THE�"OARD�

The Committee consists 
of three Board members, 
NAMELY�-R��3��3��2ATNAYAKE��
-R��5PALI�DE�3ILVA�AND�THE�
#HAIRPERSON�
 
The Committee makes 
recommendations to the 
Board on inter alia the 
following: 

y� /RGANIZATIONAL�STRUCTURE��
manpower planning and 
recruitment

y Human capital 
development policies and 
processes

y Compensation and 
BENE�TS�POLICY

y Performance appraisals 
and bonus distribution 

y Career progression and 
JOB�SATISFACTION

y Health and 
occupational safety 
including approving 
OF�-ANAGEMENT�S�
recommendations on 
physical environment 
improvements and 
enhancements

It is quite gratifying to 
note that during the year 
the Committee members 
shared very valuable input 
in support of the decision 
making process of the HR 
-ANAGEMENT�FUNCTIONS�OF�
,ANKA#LEAR��4HE�#OMMITTEE�
MADE�AN�EXTRA�EFFORT�IN�
PROVIDING�ITS�EXPERTISE�
and recommendations in 
streamlining the distribution 
of employee annual bonuses 
in line with the concept of 
Normal Distribution Curve 
and granting of Equity 
!DJUSTMENTS�TO�RESTRUCTURE�
the compensation and 
BENE�TS�OF�THE�TECHNICAL�
STAFF�MEMBERS�

The Board HR Committee has 
held nine meetings during 
the period under review 
and it is worth mentioning 
that all members of the 
Committee participated at 
ALL�NINE�MEETINGS��$URING�
the said period there were 
SEVERAL�3ENIOR�-ANAGEMENT�
recruitments relating to 

which inputs and reviews 
including recommendations 
made by the Committee 
WERE�VALUABLE��

It is with great pleasure that 
I, as the Chairperson of the 
#OMMITTEE�CON�RM�THAT�THE�
#OMMITTEE�FUL�LLED�ITS�ROLE�
AS�A�"OARD�3UB
COMMITTEE�
EXERCISING�CARE�AND�DILIGENCE�
in playing its role, and I wish 
to thank the other members 
of the Committee, namely 
-R��2ATNAYAKE�AND�-R��DE�
3ILVA��

In conclusion I also thank 
-R��3UNIMAL�7EERASOORIYA��
'ENERAL�-ANAGER�#%/�
of LankaClear for his 
COOPERATION�EXTENDED�TO�THE�
Board HR Committee and 
for the role he played when 
invited by the Board HR 
#OMMITTEE��

Priyantha Liyanage
#HAIRPERSON���"OARD�(2�
Committee

��st�*ULY�����
Colombo, Sri Lanka
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THE BOARD AUDIT 
#/--)44%%
4HE�"OARD�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�
functioned in terms of the 
!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�#HARTER�
approved by the Board of 
$IRECTORS��4HE�SCOPE�OF�THE�
!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�#HARTER��
the Board approved Terms 
of Reference is reviewed 
and updated regularly 
incorporating the provisions 
of the many regulatory 
BODIES��STANDARDS�AND�!CTS��
The following areas come 
under the purview of the 
!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�

&).!.#)!,�).&/2-!4)/.
A	� 2EVIEW�THE��NANCIAL�

information of the 
Company in order to 
monitor the integrity of 
THE��NANCIAL�STATEMENTS��
its annual report, 
ACCOUNTS�ETC�

b) Evaluating the adequacy 
and effectiveness of 
INTERNAL�CONTROLS�

#/-0,)!.#%
a) Review the effectiveness 
OF�THE�#OMPANY�S�
systems for monitoring 
compliance with any 
applicable laws and 
regulation of the 
country and the results 
OF�MANAGEMENT�S�
investigations and 
FOLLOW�UP�OF�ANY�
instances of non 
COMPLIANCE�

B	� 2EVIEW�THE��NDINGS�OF�
ANY�EXAMINATION�BY�
regulatory agencies 
AND�OR�ANY�AUDITOR�ON�
compliance with such 
LAWS�AND�REGULATIONS�

EXTERNAL AUDIT
A	� 2EVIEW�THE�%XTERNAL�
!UDITOR�S�PROPOSED�!UDIT�
Scope and Plan including 
coordination of audit 
EFFORT�WITH�)NTERNAL�!UDIT�
and its audit quality 
CONTROL�ASSURANCE�
PROCESSES�

b) Review the performance 
OF�%XTERNAL�!UDITORS�AND�
make recommendations 
to the Board of Directors 
on their appointment, 
reappointment, 
discharge or rotation if 
NECESSARY�

C	� 2EVIEW�WITH�-ANAGEMENT�
AND�%XTERNAL�!UDITORS�
the results of the audit, 
INCLUDING�ANY�DIF�CULTIES�
ENCOUNTERED�

D	� 2EVIEW�THE�%XTERNAL�
!UDIT�2EPORT�ON�THE�
�NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
and any supplementary 
REPORT��E�G���-ANAGEMENT�
Letter) outlining the 
�NDINGS��OBSERVATIONS�
and recommendations 
and management 
responses and the status 
of any corrective action 
PLANS�

E	� !S�PART�OF�THE�ROUTINE�
Committee meeting 
agenda, meet separately 
WITH�THE�%XTERNAL�
!UDITORS�TO�DISCUSS�
any matters that the 
#OMMITTEE�OR�!UDITORS�
believe should be 
DISCUSSED�PRIVATELY�

INTERNAL AUDIT
A	� 2EVIEW�WITH�-ANAGEMENT�
AND�THE�)NTERNAL�!UDITOR��
the charter, plans, 
activities, scope, report 
REQUIREMENTS�ETC��OF�THE�
internal audit function 
of the company and 
APPROVE�SAME�

B	� 2EVIEW��NDINGS�AND�
recommendations by 
THE�)NTERNAL�!UDITORS��
together with comments 
MADE�BY�-ANAGEMENT�
and assess the 
effectiveness of such 
�NDINGS�AND�RESPONSES�

IT AUDIT
4O�REVIEW�THE��NDINGS�
OF�)4�!UDIT�CARRIED�
OUT�BY�THE�-ESSRS�
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
��MONITORING�THE�
implementation of 
the recommendations 
to manage the risks 
HIGHLIGHTED�IN�THEIR�REPORTS�

#/-0/3)4)/.�/&�4(%�
"/!2$�!5$)4�#/--)44%%
,ANKA#LEAR�"OARD�!UDIT�
Committee comprised 
OF�THREE�.ON
%XECUTIVE�
$IRECTORS�OF�THE�"OARD��4HE�
following Directors served 
as the members of the 
Committee during the year 
UNDER�REVIEW��

-R��7�0�2USSEL�&ONSEKA���
�!LTERNATE�$IRECTOR�TO� 
-R��$�-�'UNASEKARA��
Director)
-RS��2�!�3�-�$AYARATNE
-R��-�5�$E�3ILVA

0RESENTLY�THE�!UDIT�
Committee of LankaClear 
�0VT	�,TD�IS�CHAIRED�BY�-R��
Russel Fonseka, Deputy 
'ENERAL�-ANAGER��2ETAIL�
Banking), Bank of Ceylon, 
a Fellow of the Institute of 
#HARTERED�!CCOUNTANTS�OF�3RI�
,ANKA�

The wide range of 
EXPERIENCE�BROUGHT�TO�THE�
Committee from positions 
held by the present 
members can be seen from 
the Directors biographical 
details appearing in this 
ANNUAL�REPORT�

The quorum to the 
Committee is three 
MEMBERS�
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$'-�/PERATIONS�AND�
IT, Head of HR and 
!DMINISTRATION��(EAD�OF�
&INANCE��3ENIOR�-ANAGER�)4��
3ENIOR�-ANAGER�/PERATIONS��
-ANAGER�&ACILITIES�AND�
-AINTENANCE��3ENIOR�
-ANAGER�(ELPDESK�AND�
Bank Services and Network 
/PERATIONS�-ANAGER�
from LCPL together with 
representatives of the 
%XTERNAL�AND�)NTERNAL�
!UDITORS�WERE�PRESENT�BY�
invitation at the meetings 
HELD��

The Secretary to the Board 
functions as the Secretary to 
THE�#OMMITTEE��

-%%4).'3�
4HE�#OMMITTEE�HELD����
meetings during the 
YEAR�UNDER�REVIEW��4HE�
attendance of the members 
at these meetings is shown 
IN�THE�!NNUAL�2EPORT�UNDER�
#ORPORATE�'OVERNANCE��
/UT�OF�THE����MEETINGS���
meetings were held with full 
QUORUM�IN�ATTENDANCE��4HE�
PROCEEDINGS�OF�THE�!UDIT�
Committee are reported 
regularly to the Board of 
$IRECTORS�

35--!29�/&�!#4)6)4)%3
During the year under review 
the Committee discharged 
its duties as follows:

&).!.#)!,�).&/2-!4)/.
A	� 2EVIEWED�THE��NANCIAL�

information and annual 
�NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�OF�
THE�COMPANY�

b) Evaluated the adequacy 
and effectiveness of 
INTERNAL�CONTROLS�

#/-0,)!.#%
Reviewed the effectiveness 
OF�THE�#OMPANY�S�SYSTEMS�
for monitoring compliance 
with any applicable laws and 
REGULATION�OF�THE�COUNTRY�

EXTERNAL AUDIT
"OARD�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�
REVIEWED�THE�%XTERNAL�
!UDITOR�S�REPORT�ON�THE�
�NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
and supplementary 
reports outlining the 
�NDINGS��OBSERVATIONS��
recommendations, 
management responses 
and the status of any action 
PLANS�

INTERNAL AUDITS
A	� -ANDATED�THE�)NTERNAL�
!UDITORS�AT�REGULAR�
intervals to review 
effectiveness of 
the internal control 
procedures, accounting 
systems and operations 
procedures of the 
ORGANISATION�

b) Reviewed the Internal 
!UDIT�PROGRAMMES�
to ensure that 
implementation of 
internal control is 
monitored and their 
adequacy is assessed on 
A�CONTINUOUS�BASIS�

c) Reviewed the Internal 
!UDIT�REPORTS�AND�
monitored the 
implementation of 
recommendations made 
THEREIN�

)NTERNAL�!UDIT�FUNCTIONS�
WERE�CARRIED�OUT�BY�-ESSRS��"�
2�$E�3ILVA���#OMPANY�

IT AUDIT
"OARD�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�
followed the 
IMPLEMENTATION�OF�)4�!UDIT�
Report recommendations 
submitted by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
as well as management 
response plan in mitigating 
the observed risks and 
provided recommendations, 
through obtaining regular 
FEEDBACK��

2%!00/).4-%.4�/&�
EXTERNAL AUDITORS
4HE�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�
recommends the 
REAPPOINTMENT�OF�-�3�%RNST�
��9OUNG��AS�THE�%XTERNAL�

!UDITORS�FOR�THE�YEAR�TO���ST�
-ARCH������SUBJECT�TO�THE�
approval of the shareholders 
AT�THE�!NNUAL�'ENERAL�
-EETING�

CONCLUSION
Based on the reports 
SUBMITTED�BY�THE�%XTERNAL�
!UDITORS��)NTERNAL�!UDITORS�
AND�)4�!UDITORS��THE�
Committee reported to 
the Board of Directors, 
identifying matters in 
respect of which it considers 
action or improvement 
was needed and made 
recommendations as to the 
STEPS�TO�BE�UNDERTAKEN��

4HE�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�IS�
SATIS�ED�THAT�INTERNAL�
controls of LankaClear (Pvt) 
Ltd provide reasonable 
assurance that the affairs 
OF�THE�ORGANIZATION�ARE�
managed in accordance 
with policies of the 
ORGANIZATION�AND�THAT�THE�
ORGANISATION�S�ASSETS�ARE�
properly accounted for and 
ADEQUATELY�SAFEGUARDED��

W P Russel Fonseka
Chairman
"OARD�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE

Colombo, Sri Lanka
��th�*UNE�����

BOARD COMMITTEES (Contd.)
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THE BOARD INTEGRATED 
2)3+�-!.!'%-%.4�
#/--)44%%

#/-0/3)4)/.
The Board Integrated Risk 
-ANAGEMENT�#OMMITTEE�
�")2-#	�COMPRISES�THE�
following three members of 
the Board of Directors:

-R��3��3EPALA�2ATNAYAKE�
�!SST��'OVERNOR��#"3,	��

�Chairman

-R��-��!��!��.OMANI��#OUNTRY�
'ENERAL�-ANAGER��-#"�"ANK�
Ltd)  

�Committee member

-R��&AIZAL�3ALIEH��-ANAGING�
$IRECTOR�#%/��!MANA�"ANK�
Ltd) 

�Committee member  

The Head of Finance of the 
Company functions as the 
3ECRETARY�TO�THE�#OMMITTEE�

4%2-3�/&�2%&%2%.#%
The Terms of Reference 
set out by the Board of 
Directors, includes the 
following:
�A	�/VERSEEING�THE�

formulation of strategies 
and managing   the  risks 
associated with the 
ENTITY�S�ACTIVITIES�AND�
ensuring the satisfactory 

design and completeness 
of the framework relative 
TO�THE�ENTITY�S�ACTIVITIES�
AND�RISK�PRO�LE�

�B	�/VERSEEING�THE�
effective application 
of risk management 
policies within the 
entity, encompassing 
all products and 
business and support 
units and ensuring the 
development of policy 
MANUALS�AND�PROCEDURES�

(c) Preventing any breaches 
OF�THE�ENTITY�S�RISK�
appetite and each of 
the approved risk type 
limits and establishing 
a procedure to approve 
ANY�TENTATIVE�SPORADIC�
DEVIATIONS����

(d) Ensuring that the Board 
of Directors is regularly 
INFORMED�OF�THE�ENTITY�S�
RISK�EXPOSURE��REALIZED�
or potential losses 
(substantial incidents) 
AND�KEY�RISK�INDICATORS��

(e) Submission of regular 
operational risk 
assessments to the 
Board, seeking its views, 
CONCURRENCE�OR�SPECI�C�
DIRECTIONS��

(f) Reviewing the 
compliance of the entity 
with the regulatory 
REQUIREMENTS��

(g) Periodic review of the 
ENTITY�S�RISK�POLICY�
and risk management 
FUNCTIONS���

-%%4).'3
During the year under 
REVIEW��")2-#�HELD�TWO�
MEETINGS��!TTENDANCES�AT�
the meetings are given in 
4ABLE�ON�PAGE����OF�THE�
!NNUAL�2EPORT�

The discussions and 
conclusions reached at the 
meetings were recorded in 
the minutes and circulated 
to the Board of Directors for 
INFORMATION�AND�ADVICE�

35--!29�/&�!#4)6)4)%3
During the period under 
review, the Risk Charter and 
THE�2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�0OLICY�
Statement were drafted and 
presented to the Board and 
OBTAINED�APPROVAL��!LSO��
A�-ANAGEMENT�,EVEL�2ISK�
Committee was appointed 
comprising the following 
key personnel in order 
to be responsible for risk 
management within their 
respective divisions and the 
ORGANIZATION��

-R��3UNIMAL�7EERASOORIYA�

�'ENERAL�-ANAGER�#%/�

-R��(ARSHA�7ANIGATUNGA��

�$'-�
�)4�AND�/PERATIONS

-R��2ASIKA�'ALAPPATHTHY��

�3ECRETARY�OF�THE�2ISK�
Committee, Head of Finance

-R��,AKSHMAN�0ALLIYAGURUGE��

�Head of HR and 
!DMINISTRATION

-R��2OSHAN�(ETTIARACHCHI�

�3ENIOR�-ANAGER�/PERATIONS

-R��$ILANTHA�3AMARASINGHE�

�3ENIOR�-ANAGER�
�)4

-R��(EMANTHE�
Samaliarachchi 

�3ENIOR�-ANAGER�
�0AYMENT�
Systems

CONCLUSION
3ETTING�UP�OF�")2-#�
and commencing risk 
management on a 
FORMALIZED�STRUCTURE�IS�
a timely action of the 
company as it is venturing 
into sophisticated electronic 
payment systems which 
are highly vulnerable 
to nonphysical threats 
which should be defended 
alike with well thought 
sophisticated mechanisms 
AND�CONTROLS��&URTHER��THE�
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CREATION�OF�THE�-ANAGEMENT�
Level Risk Committee 
provides a dynamic risk 
management culture and 
it will enable drilling to 
the root causes of the risk 
factors and treating them in 
A�SYSTEMATIC�WAY���

During the initial stage of 
OPERATIONS�OF�")2-#��IT�WAS�
possible to identify the key 
risk areas of the business 
OPERATIONS�OF�THE�#OMPANY�

4HE�SUCCESSFUL�EXECUTION�
OF�THE�2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�
%XERCISE�IN�OPERATION�OF�
LankaClear is imperative 
for ensuring the stability of 
THE��NANCIAL�SYSTEM�IN�THE�
COUNTRY�

-R��3��3EPALA�2ATNAYAKE
Chairman

Integrated Risk 
-ANAGEMENT�#OMMITTEE
Colombo, Sri Lanka
��th�-AY�����

BOARD COMMITTEES (Contd.)



LankaClear
Annual Report 2013/1447 RISK MANAGEMENT 

!S�THE�NATIONAL�PAYMENT�INFRASTRUCTURE�PROVIDER�FACILITATING�NUMEROUS�PAYMENT�AND�SETTLEMENT�TRANSACTIONS�ON�BEHALF�
of the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and all commercial Banks, it is critical that LankaClear has a robust and effective risk 
MANAGEMENT�FRAMEWORK�IN�WHICH�MATERIAL�RISKS�ARE�PROACTIVELY�IDENTI�ED��ANALYSED��COMMUNICATED��MITIGATED�AND�MANAGED�
ACROSS�THE�ORGANIZATION�AND�ACROSS�ALL�FUNCTIONS���

,ANKA#LEAR�RECOGNIZES�RISK�MANAGEMENT�AS�AN�INTEGRAL�PART�OF�SOUND�MANAGEMENT�PRACTICE�AND�GOOD�CORPORATE�GOVERNANCE�
AS�IT�IMPROVES�DECISION�MAKING�AND�ENHANCES�OUTCOMES�AND�ACCOUNTABILITY���-ANAGEMENT�IS�COMMITTED�TO��BEST�PRACTICE��
risk management practices across its business at all times striving to adhere to best standards and benchmarks where 
APPLICABLE�

2)3+�-!.!'%-%.4�&2!-%7/2+
4HE�YEAR�����������WAS�A�YEAR�CONTINUED�FOCUS�WAS�GIVEN�IN�ESTABLISHING�BETTER�MECHANISMS�IN�MANAGING�ENTERPRISE�
RISKS��!PPOINTED�"OARD�2ISK�#OMMITTEE�CONSTITUTED�BY�THREE�$IRECTORS�OF�,ANKA#LEAR�PROGRESSED�THROUGH�RECOMMENDING�
2ISK�#HARTER��4ERMS�OF�REFERENCE�FOR�THE�2ISK�#OMMITTEE�AND�2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�0OLICY�3TATEMENT��4HE�BOARD�APPROVAL�WAS�
OBTAINED�FOR�THE�SAME�THEREAFTER��!S�PER�THE�2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�0OLICY�3TATEMENT��-ANAGEMENT�,EVEL�2ISK�#OMMITTEE�IS�HELD�
RESPONSIBLE�FOR�OVERALL�RISK�MANAGEMENT�OF�THE�ORGANIZATION�REPRESENTED�BY�#HIEF�%XECUTIVE�/F�CER��$'-�)4���/PERATIONS��
(EAD�OF�&INANCE��(EAD�OF�(2�AND�!DMINISTRATION��3ENIOR�-ANAGER���)4��3ENIOR�-ANAGER���0AYMENT�3YSTEMS�AND�3ENIOR�
-ANAGER���/PERATIONS���

7%!4(%2).'�4(%�34/2-
!MONG�VARIOUS�TYPES�OF�RISK�THAT�,ANKA#LEAR�IS�EXPOSED�TO��AND�BASED�ON�OUR�CURRENT�STATE�OF�AFFAIRS��THE�FOLLOWING�TYPES�OF�
RISKS�ARE�SPECI�CALLY�IDENTI�ED�DUE�TO�SIGNI�CANT�IMPACT�SUCH�RISKS�COULD�HAVE�ON�THE�ORGANIZATION�

Business Risk

Strategic Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Failure of timely 
implementation of
strategic plans and 
addressing the market 
needs on payment 
systems infrastructure

 Loss of credibility in 
the market and impact 
ON�THE�EF�CIENCY�LEVELS�
of national payment 
systems

y�Regular meetings are held by the Board of Directors and 
MEMBERS�OF�THE�-ANAGEMENT�IN�ORDER�TO�FORMULATE�FUTURE�
strategies and to review and revise (where necessary) 
corporate plans, taking into consideration the dynamic 
BUSINESS�ENVIRONMENT�

y�!LL�SENIOR�MANAGERS�ATTEND�REGULAR�WORKSHOPS��SEMINARS�AND�
professional training programmes in order to update their 
skills and knowledge and also to keep abreast of international 
TRENDS�AND�DEVELOPMENTS�IN�THE�INDUSTRY�

y�!LIGNING�STRATEGIES�WITH�THE�ROAD�MAP�OF�THE�.ATIONAL�
0AYMENTS�#OUNCIL��.0#	�CONVENED�BY�THE�#ENTRAL�"ANK�
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Strategic Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Possible reduction in 
REVENUES�FROM�EXISTING�
payment systems due 
to shifts towards more 
EF�CIENT�PAYMENT�
systems 

y�Continuously keeping abreast of technological developments 
IN�THE�PAYMENTS�INDUSTRY�GLOBALLY�

y�#ONTINUOUS�MONITORING�OF�THE�CUSTOMER�DEMAND�FOR�EF�CIENT�
PAYMENTS�SYSTEMS�IN�THE�LOCAL�MARKET�

y�Investments made in upgrading the electronic payments 
systems infrastructure to meet the growing demand for 
ELECTRONIC�PAYMENTS���4HE�#OMMON�#ARD�AND�0AYMENT�3WITCH�
�##!03	��WHICH�IS�BEING�CURRENTLY�IMPLEMENTED��WILL�CREATE�
the national infrastructure covering most of the electronic 
PAYMENT�SYSTEMS�SUCH�AS�!4-�TRANSACTIONS��#ARD�0AYMENTS��
-OBILE�0AYMENTS�AND�%LECTRONIC�&UND�4RANSFERS

Continuous increase in 
operational costs due 
to increase in prices  
relating to maintenance 
of technology, systems 
and equipment

y�LankaClear management has been wary of rising costs 
and conscientious and stringent steps have been taken in 
MANAGING�COST�UNDER�VARIOUS�COST�MANAGEMENT�PROGRAMMES�

y�Procedures are in place to reduce sourcing costs through 
STRUCTURED�AND�EXTENSIVE�NEGOTIATIONS�BY�PROCUREMENT�
committees and formal procurement processes by the 
0ROCUREMENT�$IVISION�

y�4HE�)4�$IVISION�SIGNI�CANTLY�EMPHASIZES�ON�GREEN�TECHNOLOGY�
in technology upgrades and new procurements to reduce 
the impact on the environment and on operational costs 
RESPECTIVELY�

3OCIO
ECONOMIC��0OLITICAL�
and Environmental Risk

Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Business impact due to 
risks relating to the
0OLITICAL
%CONOMIC�CLIMATE

Impact on revenues due 
to lower growth rates 
and increase in costs due 
TO�IN�ATIONARY�EFFECTS�
AND�EXCHANGE�RATE�
�UCTUATIONS

y�2EGULAR�REVIEWS�UNDERTAKEN�ON�THE�SOCIO
ECONOMIC�CLIMATE�
impact on the payment industry of the country and making 
NECESSARY�ALIGNMENTS�

y�&ACILITATING�THE�GOVERNMENT�OBJECTIVES�BY�INTRODUCING�NEW�
PAYMENT�SYSTEMS�AND�IMPROVING�EXISTING�SYSTEMS�TO�CREATE�
HIGHER�EF�CIENCY�THEREBY�CONTRIBUTING�TO�HIGHER�ECONOMIC�
GROWTH�

RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd.)
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3OCIO
ECONOMIC��0OLITICAL�
and Environmental Risk

Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

2ISKS�FROM�NATURAL�OR�MAN

made disasters

Loss of assets resulting 
IN��NANCIAL�LOSSES�
and loss of image and 
�NANCIAL�LOSSES�DUE�
to a prolonged non 
availability of payment 
systems operated by the 
#OMPANY�

y�Financial losses due to loss of physical assets are covered by 
THE�#OMPANY�S�COMPREHENSIVE�INSURANCE�ARRANGEMENTS�WITH�
LEADING�INSURANCE�COMPANIES�

y�LankaClear has a comprehensive Business Continuity Plan 
(BCP) in place which is reviewed and revised (where necessary) 
regularly and has a fully functional and tested Disaster 
Recovery Site (DRS) where all Clearing Systems and their 
functions have been replicated in order to mitigate the risks 
ASSOCIATED�WITH�NATURAL�DISASTERS�AND�OR�INABILITY�TO�OPERATE�
from the Primary Site in Colombo

Competitive Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Risks from competitive 
ACTIONS�FROM�EXISTING�
market participants and 
NEW�ENTRANTS�

Reduced volumes of 
transactions through 
EXISTING�PAYMENT�
systems and reduced 
viability of new payment 
systems

y�Some of the national payment systems operated by the 
Company are protected from competitive risks due to the 
MONOPOLISTIC�STATUS�ENJOYED��(OWEVER��THE�#OMPANY�TAKES�
every possible action to ensure that a superior service is 
offered to the customers in order to protect the monopolistic 
STATUS�

y�The Company concentrates on the maintenance of high level 
of standards with respect to its employees, processes and 
TECHNOLOGY�IN�ORDER�TO�MITIGATE�COMPETITIVE�RISKS�

y�The strategy of offering world class quality at the lowest 
POSSIBLE�COST�TO�THE�CUSTOMER�AND�THE�PRIMARY�OBJECTIVE�OF�
SUSTAINABLE�GROWTH�AGAINST�HIGH�PRO�TS�HAS�MITIGATED�THE�
COMPETITIVE�PRESSURE�
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Operational Risk

Violation or Inadequate 
Process Risk

Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Inadequate, or break 
down of, Internal controls, 
PROCESSES�AND�PROCEDURES�

 Loss of reputation, 
business integrity 
and stakeholder trust, 
�NANCIAL�LOSSES��AND�
negative effects on 
National Payment 
3YSTEMS�

y�,ANKA#LEAR�HAS�FORMALISED�ADHERENCE�TO�/PERATIONAL�-ANUALS�
FOR�ALL�#LEARING�3YSTEMS��$ESK�)NSTRUCTION�-ANUALS�AND�$UAL

#ONTROL�MECHANISMS��7E�ENSURE�THAT�PARTICIPATING�"ANKS�AND�
our staff strictly adhere to these processes and guidelines by 
MEANS�OF�)NTERDEPARTMENTAL�0EER�!UDITS��#ORPORATE�)NTERNAL�
AND�)4�!UDITS��CONTINUOUS�0ROCESS�IMPROVEMENTS�AND�TRAINING�

y�#ONTINUOUS�IMPROVEMENTS�TO�THESE�/PERATIONAL�-ANUALS�AND�
$ESK�)NSTRUCTION�-ANUALS�

y�#ENTRAL�"ANK�S�MONITORING�OF�ACTIVITIES�THROUGH�THE�
involvement of two Directors of the Company appointed by 
#ENTRAL�"ANK�

y�%XPECTING�TO�OBTAIN�)3/�������#ERTI�CATION�FOR�,ANKA�3IGN

Information Technology 
and Security

,OSS�OF�KEY�CON�DENTIAL�
information resulting in 
damage to reputation 
and possibility of being 
SUBJECT�TO�LITIGATION�

y�,ANKA#LEAR�HAS�A�WELL
DE�NED�)NFORMATION�3ECURITY�0OLICY��
WHICH�IS�CLOSELY�ALIGNED�WITH�)3/�������STANDARDS�IN�ORDER�
to mitigate risks associated with violation of information 
SECURITY���4HE�STRICT�ADHERENCES�TO�THESE�)4�3ECURITY�
Policies are ensured by daily monitoring of IT systems, IT 
HOUSEKEEPING�AND�THROUGH�)4�AUDITS���&URTHER��)4�INFRASTRUCTURE�
WAS�RE
EXAMINED�WITH�A�COMPREHENSIVE�)4�AUDIT�CARRIED�
out independently by an internationally  reputed IT audit 
�RM��FOLLOWED�BY�IMMEDIATE�ACTION�TAKEN�WHEREVER�ANY�
DE�CIENCIES�SHORTCOMINGS�WERE�IDENTI�ED�MEETING�INDUSTRY�
STANDARDS���&URTHER��EVERY�ASPECT�RELATING�TO�PROCEDURAL�
controls is currently audited via the internal audit function 
ENABLING�FURTHER�AND�CONTINUOUS�IDENTI�CATION�OF�ANY�
DE�CIENCIES�SHORTCOMINGS�

y�!�MEMORANDUM�OF�PRESERVING�CON�DENTIALITY�OF�)NFORMATION�
at LankaClear was signed by all employees committing them 
TO�SECURING�OF�CON�DENTIALITY�OF�COMPANY�INFORMATION�

y�Entering into maintenance agreements in IT related areas to 
ENSURE�CONTINUITY�

RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd.)
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Violation or Inadequate 
Process Risk

Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Inability to operate from 
the Primary Data Centre 
due to natural disaster 
or technical failure or 
UNANTICIPATED�UNFORESEEN�
OCCURRENCE�DEVELOPMENT�

The National Payment 
Systems operated by 
THE�#OMPANY��E�G��#)43��
SLIPS, SL Rupee Draft 
#LEARING��53$�$RAFT�
Clearing) will be affected 
and hence could have an 
impact to the Sri Lankan 
business community, 
state sector, other 
sectors and general 
PUBLIC�

y�Fully functional DR site is available for business continuity for 
all clearing systems in order to mitigate the risks associated 
WITH��NATURAL�DISASTERS�AND�OR�INABILITY�TO�OPERATE�FROM�THE�
0RIMARY�3ITE�IN�#OLOMBO��

y�4HIS�IS�ABOVE�AND�BEYOND�HAVING�A�.EAR
3ITE�SYSTEM�AT�THE�
primary data centre  for all the Clearing Systems operated by 
,ANKA#LEAR��WHICH�IS�ACTIVATED�IF�THE�0RIMARY�3YSTEM�FAILS�

y�,ANKA#LEAR�HAS�A�FORMALIZED�"#0�AND�SEVERAL�$2�DRILLS�HAVE�
been conducted annually in accordance with the BCP to 
ENSURE�,ANKA#LEAR�S�CAPABILITY�TO�EFFECTIVELY�AND�EXPEDITIOUSLY�
REBOUND�FROM�A�DISASTER�OR�SETBACK���4HE�#)4�3YSTEM�HAVING�
AN�UPTIME�OF�������FOR�THE�YEAR�UNDER�REVIEW�IS�TESTIMONY�TO�
THE�EFFECTIVENESS�OF�THE�.EAR
3ITE�)4�SYSTEMS�AND�THE�FULLY�
FUNCTIONAL�$2�SITE�

Employee Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Risk from inability to 
attract the right staff, 
DEVELOP�EXISTING�STAFF�
and retain skilled and 
EXPERIENCED�STAFF�

2EDUCED�PRODUCTIVITY�

Reduced quality of 
SERVICE�

y�In order to minimise people related risks, the Company has 
WELL�DE�NED�HUMAN�RESOURCE��(2	�POLICIES��PRACTICES�AND�
PROCEDURES�
�SPANNING�FROM�HIRING�TO�GENERAL�CONDUCT�AND�A�
performance based management system that is linked to a 
STRONG�(2�DEVELOPMENT�PROGRAMME���4HIS�WOULD�ENSURE�THAT�
our employees possess the right skills and are given correct 
guidance to minimise and avoid operational risks associated 
WITH�THE�.ATIONAL�#LEARING�3YSTEMS�

y�Human Resource processors currently in place facilitate the 
recruitment of the right staff, manage performance and 
rewards, plan and implement training and development 
and handle succession planning and career progression of 
EMPLOYEES��

y�!DDITIONAL�TOOLS�SUCH�AS�STAFF�SATISFACTION�SURVEYS��SALARY�
SURVEYS�HAVE�BEEN�ALSO�USED��

y�4HE�"OARD�(2�#OMMITTEE�IS�INVOLVED�IN�MAJOR�DECISIONS�IN�(2�
-ANAGEMENT�AND�ALSO�PARTICIPATES�IN�THE�SELECTION�PROCESS�
OF�3ENIOR�-ANAGERIAL�STAFF�REPORTING�DIRECTLY�TO�THE�'ENERAL�
-ANAGER�#%/�
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Legal Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Risk of legal action due to 
non performance of legal
and statutory 
requirements and poorly 
drafted legal agreements

Inability to enforce 
terms against vendors, 
contractors, service 
PROVIDERS�ETC���DUE�
to their obligations, 
THE�#OMPANY�S�RIGHTS��
and other protective 
PROVISIONS�BENE�TTING�
the Company, 
indemnities for the 
#OMPANY��ETC��NOT�BEING�
ADEQUATELY�AND�OR�
ACCURATELY�ADDRESSED�

Higher default rate by 
parties to contracts with 
THE�#OMPANY�

Inability to impose 
or enforce penalties 
against parties to 
contracts with the 
Company in events of 
DEFAULT��

High cost of legal and 
penalty fees resulting in 
REDUCTION�IN�PRO�TS�

!DVERSE�IMPACT�TO�
THE�ORGANISATION�S�
credibility, reputation 
AND�BRAND�IMAGE�

y�!�COMPREHENSIVE�INTERNAL�CONTROL�SYSTEM�IS�IN�PLACE�
supplemented by regular audit from the corporate internal 
audit

y�4HE�#OMPANY�HAS�A�DEDICATED�-ANAGER�SPECIALIZED�IN�
MANAGING�DRAFTING�LEGAL�AGREEMENTS�TO�INTER�ALIA�MONITOR�
draft legal agreements and related obligations, and to advise 
the Company as to its rights and liabilities under contracts 
AND�OTHER�TRANSACTIONS��ANALYZE�AND�REVIEW�CONTRACTS�WHICH�
bind or obligate the Company, provide legal opinions and 
recommendations to ensure that the Company is properly 
safeguarded and effectively represented in such matters, 
review, respond to, and draft correspondence necessary for 
CERTAIN�OPERATIONS�OF�THE�#OMPANY���

y�Ensuring of all statutory and legal obligations are met in all 
transactions

y�/BTAINING�COMPETENT�EXTERNAL�CONSULTANCY�SERVICES�IN�FUL�LLING�
LEGAL�OBLIGATIONS�WHERE�NECESSARY��

RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd.)
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Financial Risk

Credit Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

The risk of loss of principal 
OR�LOSS�OF�A��NANCIAL�
reward stemming from a 
BORROWER�S�FAILURE�TO�REPAY�
a loan or otherwise meet a 
CONTRACTUAL�OBLIGATION��

Loss of principal amount 
invested

,OSS�OF�INTEREST�RETURN�
on investment 

y�Cash surpluses are invested with commercial banks and 
SUBSIDIARIES�OF�BANKS�IDENTIFYING�THE�MOST�PRO�TABLE�
INVESTMENT�OPPORTUNITIES�

y�4HE�CREDIT�RATING�OF�THE��NANCIAL�INSTITUTION�IS�CONSIDERED�
AND�A�MAXIMUM�LIMIT�IS�DETERMINED�WITH�REGARD�TO�ANY�SINGLE�
�NANCIAL�INSTITUTION�IN�WHICH�AN�INVESTMENT�IS�MADE��

y�Following the investment policy to regulate the investment of 
SURPLUS�FUNDS�UNTIL�THEY�ARE�UTILISED�

Gearing Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

2ISKS�FROM�HIGH��NANCIAL�
gearing

The possibility of 
EXCESSIVE�LOSSES�IS�
greatly enhanced in 
highly geared positions

y�The Company is debt free and has generated cash surpluses 
enabling the funding of all its proposed investments from 
INTERNALLY�GENERATED�FUNDS�

Interest Rate Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Interest rate risk is the 
risk that arises from 
�UCTUATING�INTEREST�RATES

The possibility of lower 
returns on investments 
DUE�TO�INTEREST�RATES��
DOWNWARD�MOVEMENTS�

y�In mitigating such risks the interest rate movements are 
closely monitored and the investment tenure is decided 
ACCORDINGLY�

Liquidity Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Liquidity risk is the risk 
OF�NOT�HAVING�SUF�CIENT�
resources to meet 
�NANCIAL�OBLIGATIONS�IN�
time of need in full at a 
reasonable cost

Penalty charges and
unfavourable terms 
when obtaining future 
LOANS�OR�LOAN�FACILITIES��

y�2EGULAR�CASH��OW�FORECASTS��MONITORING�OF�DISBURSEMENTS�AND�
collections are used as tools by LankaClear to mitigate the 
liquidity risk

y�The Company keeps an adequate amount of resources in short 
TERM��NANCIAL�INSTRUMENTS�TO�PURCHASE�CONSUMABLES�AND�PAY�
SHORT�TERM�LIABILITIES�

y�Credit terms provided by vendors are utilised in full to manage 
CASH�OUT�OWS�OF�THE�COMPANY��&URTHER��EMPHASIS�FOR�BRINGING�
DOWN�THE�DEBTORS��COLLECTION�PERIOD�WAS�CARRIED�OUT�BY�
agreeing with customers to settle payments with convenient 
PAYMENT�MECHANISMS�SUCH�AS�3,)03�TRANSFERS�
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&OREIGN�%XCHANGE�2ATE�
Risk

Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

&OREIGN�%XCHANGE�2ATE�
Risk is the risk that arises 
FROM��UCTUATING�&OREIGN�
%XCHANGE�2ATES

The possibility of require 
to incur higher costs 
related foreign currency 
payments 

y�&OREIGN�EXCHANGE�RISK�IS�NOT�A�MAJOR�CONCERN�TO�US�EXCEPT�
for circumstances where high valued software and hardware 
purchases, consultancy assignments or maintenance services 
are sourced from international parties where the payment 
IS�MADE�IN�FOREIGN�CURRENCY��,ANKA#LEAR�HAS�LIMITED�AVENUES�
TO�MITIGATE�FOREIGN�EXCHANGE�RELATED�RISKS�AND�LEAVES�US�NO�
option but to apply the conversion rate prevailing at the time 
to pay for such crucial services 

Placement Risk Impact 2ISK�-ANAGEMENT�3TRATEGIES

Risk of placing funds in 
PROJECTS�WHICH�DOES�NOT�
make adequate return

!FFECT�PRO�TABILITY�OF�THE�
Company

y�5NDERTAKING�DETAILED�#ASH��OW�PREDICTIONS�OF�INCOME�AND�
EXPENSES�TO�CHECK�WHETHER�PROJECTS�WOULD�MAKE�ADEQUATE�
return based on available market data and conservative 
assumptions 

RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd.)
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4HE�#OMPANIES�!CT�
.O����OF������REQUIRES�
Directors to ensure that 
the Company keeps proper 
books of accounts of all the 
transactions and prepare 
Financial Statements that 
give a true and fair view of 
THE�STATE�OF�THE�#OMPANY�S�
AFFAIRS�AND�OF�THE�PRO�T�AND�
LOSS�FOR�THE�YEAR�

The Directors are also 
required to ensure that 
the Financial Statements 
have been prepared and 
presented in accordance 
with the Sri Lanka 
!CCOUNTING�3TANDARDS�FOR�
3MALL�AND�-EDIUM�
�SIZED�
Entities and provide the 
information required by 
THE�#OMPANIES�!CT�.O��
���OF�������4HEY�ARE�ALSO�
responsible for taking 
reasonable measures to 
safeguard the assets of 
the Company, and in that 
CONTEXT�TO�HAVE�PROPER�
regard to the establishment 
of appropriate systems 
of internal control with 
a view to prevention and 
detection of fraud and other 
IRREGULARITIES�

The Directors are of 
the view that, these 
Financial Statements 
have been prepared under 

the generally accepted 
accounting principles and 
in accordance with the Sri 
,ANKA�!CCOUNTING�3TANDARDS�
FOR�3MALL�AND�-EDIUM�
�SIZED�
Entities as laid down by 
the Institute of Chartered 
!CCOUNTANTS�OF�3RI�,ANKA�

The Directors endeavour to 
ensure that the Company 
MAINTAINS�SUF�CIENT�RECORDS�
to be able to disclose with 
reasonable accuracy, the 
�NANCIAL�POSITION�OF�THE�
Company and to be able to 
ensure that the Financial 
Statements of the Company 
meet with the requirements 
OF�THE�#OMPANIES�!CT�AND�3RI�
,ANKA�!CCOUNTING�3TANDARDS�
FOR�3MALL�AND�-EDIUM�
�SIZED�
%NTITIES�

The Directors have 
REASONABLE�EXPECTATION��
after making enquiries 
and following a review of 
THE�#OMPANY�S�BUDGET�FOR�
the ensuing year including 
CASH��OWS�AND�BORROWING�
facilities, that the Company 
has adequate resources 
to continue in operational 
EXISTENCE�FOR�THE�FORESEEABLE�
future, and therefore have 
continued to adopt the 
going concern basis in 
PREPARING�THE�!CCOUNTS�

-ESSRS��%RNST���9OUNG�THE�
!UDITORS�OF�THE�#OMPANY�
HAVE�EXAMINED�THE�
Financial Statements made 
available by the Board of 
Directors together with all 
RELEVANT��NANCIAL�RECORDS��
related data, minutes of 
Shareholders and Directors 
MEETING�AND�EXPRESS�THEIR�
opinion in their report 
ON�PAGE����OF�THE�!NNUAL�
2EPORT�

"Y�/RDER�OF�THE�"OARD
LankaClear (Private) Limited

-ANAGERS���3ECRETARIES��0VT	�
Limited
Secretaries

Colombo
��st�*ULY�����



LankaClear
Annual Report 2013/14��

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
ON THE AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY

The Board of Directors 
are pleased to submit 
their report together with 
THE�!UDITOR�S�2EPORT�AND�
Financial Statements for the 
YEAR�ENDED���st�-ARCH�������
TO�BE�PRESENTED�AT�THE���th 
!NNUAL�'ENERAL�-EETING�OF�
THE�#OMPANY�

REVIEW OF THE YEAR
4HE�#HAIRPERSON�S�REVIEW�
ON�PAGE���DESCRIBES�THE�
#OMPANY�S�AFFAIRS�AND�
mentions important events 
that occurred during the 
year, and up to the date of 
THIS�REPORT��4HE�&INANCIAL�
Highlights on page 6 
ELABORATE�THE��NANCIAL�
RESULTS�OF�THE�#OMPANY��4HIS�
report together with the 
AUDITED��NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
RE�ECTS�THE�STATE�OF�THE�
AFFAIRS�OF�THE�#OMPANY�

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
4HE�0RINCIPAL�!CTIVITIES�OF�
the Company were providing 
cheque clearing facilities 
to commercial banks on 
behalf of the Central Bank 
of Sri Lanka and facilitating 
inter bank electronic fund 
TRANSFERS�THROUGH�3,)03�

&).!.#)!,�34!4%-%.43�
4HE��NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
prepared in compliance with 

the requirements of Section 
����OF�THE�#OMPANIES�!CT�.O�
��OF������ARE�GIVEN�ON�PAGES�
���
���OF�THIS�ANNUAL�REPORT�

).$%0%.$%.4�!5$)4/2�3�
REPORT
4HE�!UDITOR�S�2EPORT�ON�THE�
�NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�IS�GIVEN�
ON�PAGE����OF�THIS�REPORT�

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4HE�!CCOUNTING�0OLICIES�
adopted in preparation of 
THE��NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
ARE�GIVEN�ON�PAGES����
����
There were no changes in 
!CCOUNTING�0OLICIES�ADOPTED�
by the Company during the 
YEAR�UNDER�REVIEW�

FIXED ASSETS
4HE�DETAILS�OF��XED�ASSETS�
are given in note 3 to the 
ACCOUNTS�

$)2%#4/23��
RESPONSIBILITIES
The Statement of the 
$IRECTORS��2ESPONSIBILITIES�
IS�GIVEN�ON�PAGE����OF�THIS�
REPORT�

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company has complied 
with the corporate 
governance rules published 
by the Institute of Chartered 
!CCOUNTANTS�OF�3RI�,ANKA�

and the details appear in 
the Corporate Governance 
2EPORT�ON�PAGES����
���

RESERVES
The Reserves and 
!CCUMULATED�0RO�TS�AS�AT�
��st�-ARCH������AMOUNT�
TO�2S��������������VS�2S��
������������AS�AT���st�-ARCH�
������4HE�BREAKUP�AND�THE�
movement are shown in 
the Statement of Changes 
IN�%QUITY�IN�THE��NANCIAL�
STATEMENTS�

STATED CAPITAL
!S�PER�THE�TERMS�OF�THE�
#OMPANIES�!CT�.O����OF�
������THE�STATED�CAPITAL�
OF�THE�#OMPANY�WAS�2S��
������������AS�AT���st�-ARCH�
������4HE�DETAILS�ARE�GIVEN�
IN�.OTE����TO�THE��NANCIAL�
STATEMENT�ON�PAGE����

POST BALANCE SHEET 
EVENTS
There have been no material 
events occurring after the 
Balance Sheet date that 
REQUIRE�ADJUSTMENTS�TO�OR�
disclosure in the Financial 
3TATEMENTS�
 
INTERESTS REGISTER
The details of the 
TRANSACTIONS�WITH�$IRECTOR

related entities are disclosed 

IN�.OTE����TO�THE��NANCIAL�
statements on page 77, and 
have been declared at the 
Board meeting, pursuant 
TO�3ECTION�������	�OF�THE�
#OMPANIES�!CT�.O����OF�
�����

"/!2$�#/--)44%%3
"/!2$�!5$)4�#/--)44%%
The following are the names 
of the Directors comprising 
THE�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�OF�THE�
"OARD�

��� -R��7�0�2�0�(�&ONSEKA�
�
Chairman 

��� -RS��2�!�3�-�$AYARATNE
��� -R��-�5�DE�3ILVA

"/!2$�(2�#/--)44%%
The following are the names 
of the Directors comprising 
the Board HR Committee

��� -RS��0�,IYANAGE�
�
Chairperson

��� -R��3�3�2ATNAYAKE
��� -R��-�5�DE�3ILVA

"/!2$�2)3+�#/--)44%%
The following are the names 
of the Directors comprising 
the Board Risk Committee

��� -R��3�3�2ATNAYAKE�
�
Chairman

��� -R��-�/�&�3ALIEH
��� -R��-�!�!�.OMANI
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DIRECTORS 
The Board of Directors of 
LankaClear (Private) Limited 
AS�AT���st�-ARCH������WERE�

-RS��0RIYANTHA�,IYANAGE���
Chairperson 
-R��3�3�2ATNAYAKE
-R��$�-�'UNASEKARA
-R��-�!�"�3ILVA
-RS��2�!�3�-�$AYARATHNA
-R��-�!�!�.OMANI
-R��7�-�2�3�$IAS
-R��-�/�&�3ALIEH

DONATIONS
There were no donations 
made during the year to 
Government approved 
CHARITIES��

AUDITORS
The resolutions to appoint 
THE�PRESENT�!UDITORS��
-ESSRS��%RNST���9OUNG�
#HARTERED�!CCOUNTANT��
WHO�HAVE�EXPRESSED�THEIR�
willingness to continue in 
OF�CE��WILL�BE�PROPOSED�AT�
THE�!NNUAL�'ENERAL�-EETING�

4HE�!UDIT�AND�NON
AUDIT�
fees paid to the auditors 
ARE�DISCLOSED�IN�THE�.OTE����
ON�PAGE����OF�THIS�!NNUAL�
2EPORT�

!S�FAR�AS�THE�$IRECTORS�ARE�
AWARE��THE�!UDITORS�DO�NOT�
have any relationship on 
INTEREST�IN�THE�#OMPANY�

4HE�!UDIT�COMMITTEE�
reviews the appointment of 
THE�!UDITOR��ITS�EFFECTIVENESS�
and its relationship with 
the Company including the 
LEVEL�OF�AUDIT�AND�NON
AUDIT�
FEES�PAID�TO�THE�!UDITOR��4HE�
details on the work on the 
!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�ARE�SET�
OUT�IN�THE�!UDIT�#OMMITTEE�
2EPORT�

y� -R��2�4HEAGARAJAH�
RESIGNED�W�E�F����th June 
�����AND�-R��!�*�!LLES�
WAS�APPOINTED�W�E�F���st 
*ULY������IN�HIS�PLACE�

y� -R��!�*�!LLES�RESIGNED�
W�E�F����th�!UGUST������
AND�-R��7�-�2�3�$IAS�
WAS�APPOINTED�W�E�F����th 
!UGUST������IN�HIS�PLACE�

./4)#%�/&�-%%4).'
4HE�!NNUAL�'ENERAL�-EETING�
will be held at ‘Salon 
!NTHURIUM���'ALADARI�(OTEL��
����,OTUS�2OAD��#OLOMBO������
ON���th�!UGUST������AT�������
AM�

4HE�.OTICE�OF�THE�!NNUAL�
'ENERAL�-EETING�APPEARS�ON�
PAGE����

For and on behalf of the 
"OARD�

P Liyanage
Chairperson

S S Ratnayake
Director

-ANAGERS���3ECRETARIES��0VT	�
Ltd
Secretaries

LankaClear (Private) Limited
��st�*ULY�����
Colombo

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
ON THE AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY (Contd.)
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INDEPENDENT 
!5$)4/2�3�2%0/24�4/�
THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
LANKACLEAR (PRIVATE) 
,)-)4%$
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL 
34!4%-%.43
7E�HAVE�AUDITED�THE�
ACCOMPANYING��NANCIAL�
statements of LankaClear 
(Private) Limited which 
comprise the statement 
OF��NANCIAL�POSITION�AS�AT�
���-ARCH�������STATEMENT�
of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in 
EQUITY��CASH��OW�STATEMENT�
for the year then ended, and 
A�SUMMARY�OF�SIGNI�CANT�
accounting policies and 
OTHER�EXPLANATORY�NOTES�

-!.!'%-%.4�3�
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
&).!.#)!,�34!4%-%.43
-ANAGEMENT�IS�RESPONSIBLE�
for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these 
�NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�IN�
accordance with Sri Lanka 
!CCOUNTING�3TANDARD�FOR�

3MALL�AND�-EDIUM
3IZED�
%NTITIES��3,&23�FOR�3-%S	��
This responsibility includes: 
designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the 
preparation and fair 
PRESENTATION�OF��NANCIAL�
statements that are free 
from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or 
error; selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting 
policies; and making 
accounting estimates 
that are reasonable in the 
CIRCUMSTANCES�

SCOPE OF AUDIT AND BASIS 
OF OPINION
/UR�RESPONSIBILITY�IS�TO�
EXPRESS�AN�OPINION�ON�THESE�
�NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�BASED�
ON�OUR�AUDIT��7E�CONDUCTED�
our audit in accordance 
WITH�3RI�,ANKA�!UDITING�
3TANDARDS��4HOSE�STANDARDS�
require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance 
WHETHER�THE��NANCIAL�

statements are free from 
MATERIAL�MISSTATEMENT�

!N�AUDIT�INCLUDES�EXAMINING��
on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and 
DISCLOSURES�IN�THE��NANCIAL�
STATEMENTS��!N�AUDIT�ALSO�
includes assessing the 
accounting policies used 
AND�SIGNI�CANT�ESTIMATES�
made by management, 
as well as evaluating the 
OVERALL��NANCIAL�STATEMENT�
PRESENTATION�

7E�HAVE�OBTAINED�ALL�
the information and 
EXPLANATIONS�WHICH�TO�THE�
best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the 
PURPOSES�OF�OUR�AUDIT��7E�
therefore believe that our 
audit provides a reasonable 
BASIS�FOR�OUR�OPINION�

OPINION
In our opinion, so far 
as appears from our 
EXAMINATION��THE�#OMPANY�
maintained proper 

accounting records for the 
YEAR�ENDED����-ARCH������
AND�THE��NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
give a true and fair view 
OF�THE�#OMPANY�S�STATE�OF�
AFFAIRS�AS�AT����-ARCH������
AND�ITS�PRO�T�AND�CASH��OWS�
for the year then ended in 
accordance with Sri Lanka 
!CCOUNTING�3TANDARD�FOR�
3MALL�AND�-EDIUM
3IZED�
%NTITIES�

REPORT ON OTHER 
LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
2%15)2%-%.43
In our opinion, these 
�NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
also comply with the 
requirements of Section 
�����	�OF�THE�#OMPANIES�!CT�
.O�����OF������

��th�*ULY�����
Colombo
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!S�AT����-ARCH� � � � ����� ���� 
   Note Rs. Rs.

ASSETS
Non Current Assets
0ROPERTY��0LANT���%QUIPMENT� � � �� ������������ �����������
)NTANGIBLE�!SSETS� � � �� ����������� ����������
$EFERRED�4AX�!SSETS� � � �� ���������� 

    ������������ �����������

Current Assets
Inventories   6 ��������� 2,484,373
4RADE�AND�/THER�2ECEIVABLES� � � �� ����������� ����������
Short Term Financial Investments   8 ������������ �����������
#ASH�AND�#ASH�%QUIVALENTS� � � �� ����������� ����������
    ������������ �����������
Total Assets    �������������� �����������

%15)49�!.$�,)!"),)4)%3
Capital and Reserves
3TATED�#APITAL� � � ��� ������������ �����������
4ECHNOLOGY�5PGRADE�2ESERVE� � � ����� ������������ �����������
#APITAL�2ESERVES� � � ����� ������������ �����������
Retained Earnings    ������������ �����������
Total Equity    �������������� �����������

Non Current Liabilities
2ETIREMENT�"ENE�T�/BLIGATION� � � ��� ����������� ����������
$EFERRED�4AX�,IABILITY� � � � 
� ������
    ����������� ����������

Current Liabilities
4RADE�AND�/THER�0AYABLES� � � ��� ����������� ����������
)NCOME�4AX�,IABILITY� � � � ����������� ����������
    ����������� ����������
Total Equity and Liabilities    �������������� �����������

Net Assets Value Per Share    ������ �����

4HESE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�ARE�IN�COMPLIANCE�WITH�THE�REQUIREMENTS�OF�THE�#OMPANIES�!CT�.O�����OF������

R L Galappaththy
Head of Finance

4HE�"OARD�OF�$IRECTORS�IS�RESPONSIBLE�FOR�THE�PREPERATION�AND�PRESENTATION�OF�THESE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�
Signed for and on behalf of the Board by;

P Liyanage S S Ratnayake
Chairperson Director

4HE�!CCOUNTING�0OLICIES�AND�.OTES�ON�PAGES����TO����FORM�AN�INTEGRAL�PART�OF�THESE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�

��th�*ULY�����
Colombo



LankaClear
Annual Report 2013/14�� STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

9EAR�ENDED����-ARCH� � � � ����� ���� 

   Note Rs. Rs.

Revenue� � � ��� ������������ �����������

$IRECT�/PERATING�%XPENSES� � � � ������������	� ������������	

'ROSS�0RO�T    ������������ �����������

/THER�)NCOME� � � ��� ����������� ����������

!DMINISTRATIVE�%XPENSES� � � � ������������	� ������������	

0RO�T�"EFORE�4AX� � � ��� ������������ �����������

)NCOME�4AX�%XPENSE� � � ��� �����������	� �����������	

0RO�T�FOR�THE�9EAR    ������������ �����������

/THER�#OMPREHENSIVE�)NCOME� � � � 
� 


Total Comprehensive Income for the Year    ������������ �����������

%ARNINGS�0ER�3HARE� � � ��� ������ �����

4HE�!CCOUNTING�0OLICIES�AND�.OTES�ON�PAGES����TO����&ORM�AN�INTEGRAL�PART�OF�THESE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�
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9EAR�ENDED����-ARCH� � 3TATED� 4ECHNOLOGY� #APITAL� 2ETAINED� 4OTAL 

 Note Capital Upgrade Reserves Earnings 

   Reserve  

  Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

"ALANCE�AS�AT����!PRIL������ � ������������ ������������ ������������ ������������ �����������

0RO�T�FOR�THE�9EAR� � 
� 
� 
� ������������ �����������

4RANSFERRED�TO�4ECHNOLOGY�5PGRADE�2ESERVE� � 
� ����������� 
� �����������	� 


5TILISATION�OF�4ECHNOLOGY�5PGRADE�2ESERVE� � 
� ��������	� 
� �������� 


$IVIDEND�PAID� � 
� 
� 
� �����������	� �����������	

"ALANCE�AS�AT����-ARCH������ � ������������ ������������ ������������ ������������ �����������

0RO�T�FOR�THE�9EAR� � 
� 
� 
� ������������ �����������

0ROCEEDS�FROM�.EW�3HARE�)SSUE� � ���������� 
� 
� 
� ���������

/THER�#OMPREHENSIVE�)NCOME� � 
� 
� 
� 
� 


4RANSFERRED�FROM�#APITAL�2ESERVE� � 
� 
� ������������	� ������������ 


Transferred to Technology  
� 5PGRADE�2ESERVE� ����� 
� ����������� 
� �����������	� 


5TILISATION�OF�4ECHNOLOGY� 
� 5PGRADE�2ESERVE� ����� 
� ����������	� 
� ���������� 


$IVIDEND�PAID� � 
� 
� 
� �����������	� �����������	

"ALANCE�AS�AT����-ARCH������ � ������������ ������������ ������������ ������������ �������������

4HE�!CCOUNTING�0OLICIES�AND�.OTES�ON�PAGES����TO����FORM�AN�INTEGRAL�PART�OF�THESE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�
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9EAR�ENDED����-ARCH� � � � ����� ���� 
   Note Rs. Rs.

#ASH�&LOWS�&ROM��5SED�IN	�/PERATING�!CTIVITIES
0RO�T�"EFORE�4AX� � � � ������������ �����������
!DJUSTMENTS�FOR
Depreciation   3 ����������� ����������
!MORTISATION�OF�)NTANGIBLE�!SSETS� � � �� ����������� ���������
&INANCE�)NCOME� � � ��� �����������	� �����������	
2ETIREMENT�"ENE�T�/BLIGATION� � � ��� ���������� ���������
Provision for Bank Claims    �����������	� ����������	
0RO�T�ON�$ISPOSAL�OF�0ROPERTY��0LANT���%QUIPMENT� � ��� �������	� ��������	
,OSS�OF�)NVESTMENT�IN�3UBSIDIARY� � � � 
� ���������
/PERATING�0RO�T�BEFORE�7ORKING�#APITAL�#HANGES� � � ������������ �����������
�)NCREASE	�$ECREASE�IN�)NVENTORIES� � � � �������	� ��������	
�)NCREASE	�$ECREASE�IN�4RADE�AND�/THER�2ECEIVABLES� � � ���������� �����������	
)NCREASE��$ECREASE	�IN�4RADE�AND�/THER�0AYABLES� � � ���������� ����������	
#ASH�'ENERATED�FROM�/PERATIONS� � � � ������������ �����������
)NCOME�4AX�0AID� � � � �����������	� �����������	
'RATUITY�0AID� � � ��� ��������	� 

.ET�#ASH�&ROM��5SED�IN	�/PERATING�!CTIVITIES    ������������ ����������

#ASH�&LOWS�&ROM��5SED�IN	�)NVESTING�!CTIVITIES
!CQUISITION�OF�0ROPERTY��0LANT���%QUIPMENT� � � � �����������	� ����������	
!CQUISITION�OF�)NTANGIBLE�!SSETS� � � � �����������	� ����������	
Investment in Common Card and Payment Switch  3 �����������	� ������������	
Proceeds from Subsidiary    
� ���������
0ROCEEDS�FROM�$ISPOSAL�OF�0ROPERTY��0LANT���%QUIPMENT� � � ������� �������
Investment in Short Term Financial Investments   �����������	� ������������	
Finance Income Received    ������������ ����������
.ET�#ASH�&LOWS�&ROM��5SED�IN	�)NVESTING�!CTIVITIES   �����������	� ������������	

#ASH�&LOWS�&ROM��5SED�IN	�&INANCING�!CTIVITIES
0ROCEEDS�FROM�)SSUE�OF�/RDINARY�3HARES� � � ��� ���������� 

Dividend Paid    �����������	� �����������	
.ET�#ASH�&LOWS�&ROM��5SED�IN	�&INANCING�!CTIVITIES   �����������	� �����������	

.ET�)NCREASE��$ECREASE	�IN�#ASH�AND�#ASH�%QUIVALENTS   ����������� ������������	

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year   ����������� �����������
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year (Note A)   ����������� ����������

Note A
Analysis of Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year
)NVESTMENT�IN�2%0/S� � � � ����������� ����������
!CCRUED�)NTEREST�ON�2%0/S� � � � ������� ������
Cash in Hand and at Bank    ���������� ���������
4OTAL�#ASH���#ASH�%QUIVALENTS    ����������� ����������

4HE�!CCOUNTING�0OLICIES�AND�.OTES�ON�PAGES����TO����FORM�AN�INTEGRAL�PART�OF�THESE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�
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��� #/20/2!4%�
).&/2-!4)/.
���� 2%0/24).'�%.4)49
LankaClear (Private) Limited 
is a limited liability Company 
incorporated and domiciled 
IN�3RI�,ANKA��4HE�2EGISTERED�
/F�CE�AND�THE�PRINCIPAL�
place of business is situated 
AT�,EVEL�����"ANK�OF�#EYLON�
(EAD�/F�CE���"/#�3QUARE���
.O����"ANK�OF�#EYLON�
-AWATHA��#OLOMBO����

���� 02).#)0!,�
ACTIVITIES AND NATURE OF 
OPERATIONS
During the year, the principal 
activities of the Company 
are to provide cheque 
clearance transactions to 
all commercial banks on 
behalf of the Central Bank 
of Sri Lanka, facilitating 
online interbank electronic 
fund transfers through Sri 
Lanka Interbank Payment 
System (SLIPS), provide a 
local switch to facilitate 
ROUTING�OF�.OT
ON
5S�!4-�
transactions and provide 
DIGITAL�CERTI�CATION�SERVICES�
�,ANKA3IGN	�TO�THE��NANCIAL�
SECTOR�

���� $!4%�/&�
AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE
The Financial Statements of 
LankaClear (Private) Limited 
FOR�THE�YEAR�ENDED����-ARCH�
�����WERE�AUTHORIZED�FOR�
issue, in accordance with a 

resolution of the Board of 
$IRECTORS�ON���th�*ULY������

��� 35--!29�/&�
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES
���� "!3)3�/&�
PREPARATION
The Financial Statements 
of LankaClear (Private) 
limited have been prepared 
in accordance with the ‘Sri 
,ANKA�!CCOUNTING�3TANDARD�
FOR�3MALL�AND�-EDIUM���
3IZED�%NTITIES��3-%	��ISSUED�
by the Institute of Chartered 
!CCOUNTANTS�OF�3RI�,ANKA��
The Financial Statements 
of the Company have been 
prepared on an accrual basis 
and under the historical 
cost convention method 
UNLESS�STATED�OTHERWISE��
The Financial Statements 
are presented in Sri Lankan 
Rupees, which is the 
#OMPANY�S�FUNCTIONAL�AND�
presentation currency and 
ALL��NANCIAL�INFORMATION�
presented in Sri Lankan 
Rupees has been rounded to 
THE�NEAREST�2UPEE�

���� 34!4%-%.4�/&�
#/-0,)!.#%
The Financial Statements 
have been prepared in 
compliance with Sri Lanka 
!CCOUNTING�3TANDARD�FOR�
3MALL�AND�-EDIUM
3IZED�
Entities issued by the 
Institute of Chartered 

!CCOUNTANTS�OF�3RI�,ANKA�
and the requirements of the 
#OMPANIES�!CT�.O���OF������

2.3 GOING CONCERN
4HE�-ANAGEMENT�IS�SATIS�ED�
that the Company has 
adequate resources to 
continue its operations 
IN�THE�FORESEEABLE�FUTURE��
Therefore we continue 
to adopt going concern 
assumption in preparing 
THESE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�

2.4 KEY SOURCES OF 
%34)-!4)/.�5.#%24!).49�
!.$�*5$'-%.43
The preparation of Financial 
Statements in conformity 
WITH�3RI�,ANKA�!CCOUNTING�
Standard for Small and 
-EDIUM
3IZED�%NTITIES�
REQUIRES�-ANAGEMENT�TO�
MAKE�JUDGEMENTS��ESTIMATES�
and assumptions that 
affect the application of 
accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and 
EXPENSES��!CTUAL�RESULTS�MAY�
DIFFER�FROM�THESE�ESTIMATES�

Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on 
AN�ONGOING�BASIS��2EVISIONS�
to accounting estimates are 
RECOGNIZED�IN�THE�PERIOD�IN�
which the estimate is revised 
and in any future periods 
AFFECTED�

Assessment of Impairment
The Company assesses at 
THE�END�OF�EACH��NANCIAL�
year whether there is 
OBJECTIVE�EVIDENCE�THAT�AN�
asset or portfolio of assets 
IS�IMPAIRED��4HE�RECOVERABLE�
amount of an asset or Cash 
'ENERATING�5NIT��#'5	�IS�THE�
greater of its value in use 
and its fair value less costs 
TO�SELL��)N�ASSESSING�VALUE�
in use, the estimated future 
CASH��OWS�ARE�DISCOUNTED�
to present value using 
appropriate discount rates 
THAT�RE�ECTS�THE�CURRENT�
market assessments of the 
time value of money and 
RISKS�SPECI�C�TO�THE�ASSET�

$E�NED�"ENE�T�0LANS
4HE�COST�OF�DE�NED�BENE�T�
PLAN���GRATUITY�IS�DETERMINED�
using gratuity formula 
METHOD��4HE�GRATUITY�
formula method involves 
making assumptions about 
discount rates, future salary 
increases, staff turnover 
RATES�ETC��$UE�TO�THE�LONG�
term nature of these plans, 
SUCH�ESTIMATES�ARE�SUBJECT�
TO�SIGNI�CANT�UNCERTAINTY��!LL�
assumptions are reviewed at 
EACH�REPORTING�DATE�

���� &/2%)'.�#522%.#9�
TRANSLATION
!LL�FOREIGN�EXCHANGE�
transactions are converted 
to functional currency, at the 
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RATES�OF�EXCHANGE�PREVAILING�
at the time the transactions 
ARE�AFFECTED�

-ONETARY�ASSETS�AND�
liabilities denominated 
in foreign currency are 
translated to functional 
currency equivalents at the 
EXCHANGE�RATE�PREVAILING�
at the end of the reporting 
PERIOD��.ON
MONETARY�
assets and liabilities are 
TRANSLATED�USING�EXCHANGE�
RATES�THAT�EXISTED�WHEN�THE�
VALUES�WERE�DETERMINED��4HE�
resulting gains and losses 
ARE�RECOGNISED�IN�PRO�T�OR�
LOSS�

���� 02/0%249��0,!.4�!.$�
%15)0-%.4 
Property, plant and 
equipment are recognised 
if it is probable that 
FUTURE�ECONOMIC�BENE�TS�
associated with the assets 
WILL��OW�TO�THE�ENTITY�AND�
cost of the asset can be 
RELIABLY�MEASURED�

Items of property, plant and 
equipment are measured 
at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment 
LOSSES��#OST�OF�DAY�TO�
day servicing of an item 
of property, plant and 
equipment recognise in 
PRO�T�OR�LOSS�IN�THE�PERIOD�IN�
WHICH�THE�COSTS�ARE�INCURRED�

Depreciation is charged so 
as to allocate the cost of 
assets less their residual 
values over their estimated 
useful lives, using the 
STRAIGHT
LINE�METHOD��4HE�
estimated useful lives are as 
FOLLOWS�

Computer  
� %QUIPMENT� �
��YEARS
Furniture and  
� &ITTINGS� ���YEARS
Electronic  
� %QUIPMENT� ��YEARS
/THER�%QUIPMENT� ��YEARS
-OTOR�6EHICLES� ��YEARS

If there is an indication that 
THERE�HAS�BEEN�A�SIGNI�CANT�
change in assets useful 
life or residual value of 
an asset, the depreciation 
of that asset is revised 
PROSPECTIVELY�TO�RE�ECT�THE�
NEW�EXPECTATIONS�

#APITAL�7ORK
IN
0ROGRESS
#APITAL�WORK
IN
PROGRESS�
is stated at cost less any 
accumulated impairment 
LOSSES��4HESE�ARE�EXPENSES�
which directly incurred 
in the construction of 
system development, 
AWAITING�CAPITALIZATION��
#APITAL�WORK
IN�PROGRESS�
would be transferred to the 
relevant asset when it is 
AVAILABLE�FOR�USE�I�E��WHEN�
it is in the location and 
condition necessary for it 

to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended by 
MANAGEMENT�

���� "/22/7).'�#/343
!LL�BORROWING�COSTS�ARE�
RECOGNIZED�IN�PRO�T�OR�LOSS�
in the period in which they 
ARE�INCURRED�

���� )-0!)2-%.4�/&�./.�
FINANCIAL ASSETS
!T�EACH�REPORTING�DATE��
property, plant and 
equipment and intangible 
assets are reviewed to 
determine whether there is 
any indication that those 
assets have suffered an 
IMPAIRMENT�LOSS��)F�THERE�
is an indication of possible 
impairment, the recoverable 
amount of any affected 
asset (or group of related 
assets) is estimated and 
compared with its carrying 
AMOUNT��)F�ESTIMATED�
recoverable amount is 
lower, the carrying amount 
is reduced to its estimated 
recoverable amount, and 
an impairment loss is 
RECOGNIZED�IMMEDIATELY�IN�
PRO�T�OR�LOSS�

Similarly, at each reporting 
date, inventories are 
assessed for impairment 
by comparing the carrying 
amount of each item of 
inventory (or group of 
similar items) with its 

selling price less costs to 
COMPLETE�AND�SELL��)F�AN�ITEM�
of inventory (or group of 
similar items) is impaired, 
its carrying amount is 
reduced to selling price less 
costs to complete and sell, 
and an impairment loss is 
RECOGNIZED�IMMEDIATELY�IN�
PRO�T�OR�LOSS�

If an impairment loss 
subsequently reverses, the 
carrying amount of the asset 
(or group of related assets) 
is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable 
amount (selling price less 
costs to complete and sell, 
in the case of inventories), 
BUT�NOT�IN�EXCESS�OF�THE�
amount that would have 
been determined had no 
impairment loss been 
RECOGNIZED�FOR�THE�ASSET�
(group of related assets) 
IN�PRIOR�YEARS��!�REVERSAL�
of an impairment loss is 
RECOGNIZED�IMMEDIATELY�IN�
PRO�T�OR�LOSS�

���� ).4!.')",%�!33%43
!N�INTANGIBLE�ASSET�
is recognised if it is 
probable that the future 
ECONOMIC�BENE�TS�THAT�ARE�
attributable to the asset 
WILL��OW�TO�THE�ENTITY�AND�
the cost of the assets can 
BE�MEASURED�RELIABLY��!N�
intangible asset is initially 
MEASURED�AT�COST�
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Computer Software
Purchased computer 
software is stated at 
cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment 
LOSSES��)T�IS�AMORTIZED�OVER�
ITS�ESTIMATED�LIFE�OF���
���
YEARS�USING�THE�STRAIGHT

LINE�METHOD��)F�THERE�IS�AN�
indication that there has 
BEEN�A�SIGNI�CANT�CHANGE�
in useful life or residual 
value of an intangible asset, 
the amortisation is revised 
PROSPECTIVELY�TO�RE�ECT�THE�
NEW�EXPECTATIONS�

����� ).6%.4/2)%3 
Inventories are valued 
at the lower of cost and 
NET�REALIZABLE�VALUE��AFTER�
making due allowances for 
obsolete and slow moving 
ITEMS��.ET�REALIZABLE�
value is the price at which 
inventories can be sold 
in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated 
cost of completion and the 
estimated cost necessary to 
MAKE�THE�SALE�
 
The cost incurred in bringing 
inventories to its present 
location and condition, are 
accounted for as follows;
Consumables and Stationery 

�/N�A�WEIGHTED�AVERAGE�
basis

����� &).!.#)!,�!33%43�
AND LIABILITIES
4HE�#OMPANY�S��NANCIAL�
assets include trade and 
OTHER�RECEIVABLES��SHORT

term investments and cash 
AND�CASH�EQUIVALENTS�

Trade and other receivables 
ARE�INITIALLY�RECOGNIZED�AT�
THE�TRANSACTION�PRICE��!LL�
sales are made on the basis 
of normal credit terms, and 
the receivables do not bear 
INTEREST��7HERE�CREDIT�IS�
EXTENDED�BEYOND�NORMAL�
credit terms, receivables are 
measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest 
METHOD�

!T�THE�END�OF�EACH�REPORTING�
period, the carrying 
amounts of trade and other 
receivables are reviewed 
to determine whether 
THERE�IS�ANY�OBJECTIVE�
evidence that the amounts 
ARE�NOT�RECOVERABLE��)F�
so, an impairment loss is 
RECOGNIZED�IMMEDIATELY�IN�
PRO�T�OR�LOSS�

Investments with maturities 
more than three months 
and less than one year from 
the date of acquisition are 
considered as short term 
�NANCIAL�INVESTMENTS�AND�
ARE�INITIALLY�RECOGNIZED�
AT�FAIR�VALUE��!FTER�INITIAL�
MEASUREMENT��SUCH��NANCIAL�
assets are subsequently 

MEASURED�AT�AMORTIZED�COST�
using Effective Interest 
Rate method (EIR), less 
IMPAIRMENT�

Cash and cash equivalents 
are cash in hand, demand 
DEPOSITS�AND�SHORT
TERM�
highly liquid investments, 
readily convertible to known 
AMOUNTS�OF�CASH�AND�SUBJECT�
TO�INSIGNI�CANT�RISK�OF�
CHANGES�IN�VALUE�
 
For the purpose of cash 
�OW�STATEMENT��CASH�AND�
cash equivalents consist 
of cash in hand and 
deposits in banks net of 
OUTSTANDING�BANK�OVERDRAFTS��
Investments with short 
MATURITIES�I�E��THREE�MONTHS�
or less from the date of 
acquisition are also treated 
AS�CASH�EQUIVALENTS�

Securities purchased under 
RE
SALE�AGREEMENTS�ARE�
ADVANCES�COLLATERALIZED�BY�
purchase of treasury bills 
SUBJECT�TO�A�COMMITMENT�
TO�RE
SALE�THEM�AT�A�
PREDETERMINED�PRICE��3UCH�
securities remain on the 
STATEMENT�OF��NANCIAL�
position of the Company 
and the asset is recorded in 
respect of the consideration 
paid and interest accrued 
THEREON�

4HE�#OMPANY�S��NANCIAL�
liabilities include trade 

AND�OTHER�PAYABLES��
Financial liabilities are 
INITIALLY�RECOGNIZED�AT�THE�
transaction price (including 
TRANSACTION�COSTS	��4RADE�
payables are obligations on 
the basis of normal credit 
terms and do not bear 
INTEREST�

����� 02/6)3)/.3
0ROVISIONS�ARE�RECOGNIZED�
when the Company has a 
present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, where it is 
PROBABLE�THAT�AN�OUT�OW�
of resources embodying 
ECONOMIC�BENE�TS�WILL�
be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the 
AMOUNT�OF�THE�OBLIGATION��
4HE�EXPENSE�RELATING�TO�
any provision is presented 
IN�PRO�T�OR�LOSS�NET�OF�ANY�
REIMBURSEMENT��)F�THE�EFFECT�
of the time value of money 
is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting 
THE�EXPECTED�FUTURE�CASH�
�OWS�AT�A�PRE
TAX�RATE�THAT�
RE�ECTS�CURRENT�MARKET�
assessments of the time 
value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks 
SPECI�C�TO�THE�LIABILITY��
7HERE�DISCOUNTING�IS�USED��
the increase in the provision 
due to the passage of time 
IS�RECOGNIZED�AS�AN�INTEREST�
EXPENSE�
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����� %-0,/9%%�"%.%&)43
$E�NED�"ENE�T�0LANS���
Gratuity
!�DE�NED�BENE�T�PLAN�
IS�A�POST
EMPLOYMENT�
BENE�T�PLAN�OTHER�THAN�A�
DE�NED�CONTRIBUTION�PLAN��
The present value of the 
DE�NED�BENE�T�OBLIGATION�IS�
determined by discounting 
the estimated future 
payments by reference 
to market yields at the 
REPORTING�DATE�ON�HIGH

quality corporate bonds 
that are denominated in 
the currency in which the 
BENE�TS�WILL�BE�PAID��AND�
that have terms to maturity 
APPROXIMATING�TO�THE�TERMS�
OF�THE�RELATED�LIABILITY�

!CTUARIAL�GAINS�AND�LOSSES�
and the past services costs 
are charged or credited to 
PRO�T�OR�LOSS�IN�THE�PERIOD�
THEY�ARISE��0AST�SERVICE�COSTS�
ARE�RECOGNIZED�IMMEDIATELY�
IN�PRO�T�OR�LOSS�

$E�NED�#ONTRIBUTION�0LANS�
��%MPLOYEES��0ROVIDENT�
&UND�AND�%MPLOYEES��4RUST�
Fund
!�DE�NED�CONTRIBUTION�
PLAN�IS�A�POST
EMPLOYMENT�
BENE�T�PLAN�UNDER�WHICH�
AN�ENTITY�PAYS��XED�
contribution into a separate 
entity and will have no legal 
or constructive obligation 
TO�PAY�FURTHER�AMOUNTS��
/BLIGATIONS�FOR�CONTRIBUTION�

to Employee Provident 
and Employee Trust Funds 
covering all employees are 
RECOGNIZED�AS�AN�EXPENSE�
IN�PRO�T�OR�LOSS�AS�INCURRED��
The Company contributes 
�����AND����OF�GROSS�
emoluments of employees 
TO�%MPLOYEES��0ROVIDENT�
&UND�AND�%MPLOYEES��4RUST�
&UND�RESPECTIVELY�

����� 2%6%.5%�
RECOGNITION
2EVENUE�IS�RECOGNIZED�TO�
THE�EXTENT�THAT�IT�IS�PROBABLE�
THAT�THE�ECONOMIC�BENE�TS�
WILL��OW�TO�THE�#OMPANY�AND�
the revenue and associated 
costs incurred or to be 
incurred can be reliably 
MEASURED��2EVENUE�IS�
measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or 
receivable, net of discounts 
AND�SALES
RELATED�TAXES�
collected on behalf of the 
GOVERNMENT�OF�3RI�,ANKA�

Interest Income
Interest income is 
RECOGNIZED�AS�THE�INTEREST�
accrued unless collectability 
IS�DOUBT�

����� ).#/-%�4!8�%80%.3%3
)NCOME�TAX�EXPENSE�
represents the sum of 
THE�TAX�CURRENTLY�PAYABLE�
AND�DEFERRED�TAX��4HE�TAX�
currently payable is based 
ON�TAXABLE�PRO�T�FOR�THE�
YEAR�

$EFERRED�TAX�IS�RECOGNIZED�
on differences between 
the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the 
�NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�AND�
THEIR�CORRESPONDING�TAX�
basis (known as temporary 
DIFFERENCES	��$EFERRED�TAX�
LIABILITIES�ARE�RECOGNIZED�FOR�
all temporary differences 
THAT�ARE�EXPECTED�TO�
INCREASE�TAXABLE�PRO�T�IN�
THE�FUTURE��$EFERRED�TAX�
ASSETS�ARE�RECOGNIZED�FOR�
all temporary differences 
THAT�ARE�EXPECTED�TO�REDUCE�
TAXABLE�PRO�T�IN�THE�FUTURE��
AND�ANY�UNUSED�TAX�LOSSES�OR�
UNUSED�TAX�CREDITS��$EFERRED�
TAX�ASSETS�ARE�MEASURED�AT�
the highest amount that, 
on the basis of current or 
ESTIMATED�FUTURE�TAXABLE�
PRO�T��IS�MORE�LIKELY�THAN�NOT�
TO�BE�RECOVERED�

The net carrying amount 
OF�DEFERRED�TAX�ASSETS�
is reviewed at each 
reporting date and is 
ADJUSTED�TO�RE�ECT�THE�
current assessment of 
FUTURE�TAXABLE�PRO�TS��!NY�
ADJUSTMENTS�ARE�RECOGNISED�
IN�PRO�T�OR�LOSS

$EFERRED�TAX�IS�CALCULATED�
AT�THE�TAX�RATES�THAT�ARE�
EXPECTED�TO�APPLY�TO�THE�
TAXABLE�PRO�T��TAX�LOSS	�
of the periods in which it 
EXPECTS�THE�DEFERRED�TAX�

asset to be realised or the 
DEFERRED�TAX�LIABILITY�TO�BE�
SETTLED��ON�THE�BASIS�OF�TAX�
rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting 
PERIOD�

����� %!2.).'3�0%2�3(!2%
The Company presents 
Basic and Diluted Earnings 
per Share (EPS) data for its 
ORDINARY�SHARES��"ASIC�%03�
is calculated by dividing the 
PRO�T�OR�LOSS�ATTRIBUTABLE�TO�
ordinary shareholders of the 
Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during 
THE�PERIOD�

����� #!3(�&,/7�
34!4%-%.4
4HE�CASH��OW�STATEMENT�
has been prepared using the 
�INDIRECT�METHOD���#ASH�AND�
CASH�EQUIVALENTS�ARE�DE�NED�
as cash in hand and demand 
deposits, readily converted 
to known amounts of cash 
AND�SUBJECT�TO�INSIGNI�CANT�
RISK�OF�CHANGES�IN�VALUE��
)NTEREST�PAID�IS�CLASSI�ED�
under operating cash 
�OWS�FOR�THE�PURPOSE�OF�
PRESENTATION�OF�CASH��OW�
statement and reported 
based on the indirect 
METHOD�
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��� 02/0%249��0,!.4���%15)0-%.4
���� !4�#/34

� � "ALANCE�AS�AT� !DDITIONS�� $ISPOSALS�� "ALANCE�AS�AT 

� � ����������� 4RANSFERS� 4RANSFERS� ���������� 

  Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

#OMPUTER�%QUIPMENT� � ������������ ������������ �������� �����������
&URNITURE�AND�&ITTINGS� � ����������� ���������� ������� ����������
%LECTRONIC�%QUIPMENT� � ����������� ���������� �������� ����������
/THER�%QUIPMENT� � ���������� �������� 
� ���������
-OTOR�6EHICLE� � ���������� 
� 
� ���������
&REEHOLD�,AND� � 
� ����������� 
� ����������
� � ������������ ������������ ���������� �����������

Capital Work in Progress
#OMMON�#ARD�AND�0AYMENT�3WITCH� � ������������ ����������� ������������ ����������
&REEHOLD�"UILDING� � 
� ���������� 
� ���������
� � ������������ ����������� ������������ ����������
4OTAL�6ALUE�OF�!SSETS� � ������������ ������������ ������������ �����������

3.2 DEPRECIATION
  Balance as at Charge for the Disposals Balance as at 

� � ����������� 9EAR� � ���������� 

  Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

#OMPUTER�%QUIPMENT� � ������������ ����������� �������� �����������
&URNITURE�AND�&ITTINGS� � ���������� ���������� ������� ����������
%LECTRONIC�%QUIPMENT� � ����������� ���������� �������� ����������
/THER�%QUIPMENT� � ���������� �������� 
� ���������
-OTOR�6EHICLE� � ���������� 
� 
� ���������
4OTAL�$EPRECIATION� � ������������ ����������� ���������� �����������

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
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3.3 NET BOOK VALUES 

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

Computer Equipment    ������������ ����������
Furniture and Fittings    ���������� ���������
Electronic Equipment    ���������� ���������
/THER�%QUIPMENT� � � � ���������� �������
-OTOR�6EHICLE� � � � 
� 

Land    ����������� 

    ������������ ����������

Capital Work in Progress
Common Card and Payment Switch    ����������� �����������
Freehold Building    ���������� 

    ����������� �����������

4OTAL�#ARRYING�!MOUNT�OF�0ROPERTY��0LANT�AND�%QUIPMENT� � � ������������ �����������

3.4� $URING�THE��NANCIAL�YEAR��THE�#OMPANY�ACQUIRED�0ROPERTY��0LANT���%QUIPMENT�WITH�AN�AGGREGATE�COST�OF�2S��
������������
�������
�2S��������������
	�OF�WHICH�2S�������������
�������
�2S��������������
	�WAS�ACQUIRED�BY�MEANS�OF�
#ASH�

���� "ASED�ON�THE�ASSESSMENT�OF�POTENTIAL�IMPAIRMENT�CARRIED�OUT�INTERNALLY�AS�AT���ST�-ARCH������NO�PROVISION�WAS�
REQUIRED�TO�BE�MADE�IN�THE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�AS�AT�THE�END�OF�THE�REPORTING�PERIOD�

3.6� 4HERE�WERE�NO�ITEMS�OF�0ROPERTY��0LANT�AND�%QUIPMENT�PLEDGED�AS�SECURITIES�FOR�LIABILITIES�

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

���� #/34
"ALANCE�AT�THE�"EGINNING�OF�THE�9EAR� � � � ������������ �����������
!DDITIONS�4RANSFER�DURING�THE�9EAR� � � � ����������� ���������
"ALANCE�AT�THE�%ND�OF�THE�9EAR� � � � ������������ �����������
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� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

���� !-/24)3!4)/.
"ALANCE�AT�THE�"EGINNING�OF�THE�9EAR� � � � ������������ �����������
!MORTISATION�FOR�THE�9EAR� � � � ����������� ���������
"ALANCE�AT�THE�%ND�OF�THE�9EAR� � � � ������������ �����������

4.3 Net Book Value    ����������� ����������

4.4� $URING�THE��NANCIAL�YEAR��THE�#OMPANY�ACQUIRED�)NTANGIBLE�ASSETS�WITH�AN�AGGREATE�COST�OF�2S������������
�������
�2S��
����������
	�OF�WHICH�2S�������������
�������
�2S������������
	�WAS�ACQUIRED�BY�MEANS�OF�#ASH�

���� "ASED�ON�THE�ASSESSMENT�OF�POTENTIAL�IMPAIRMENT�CARRIED�OUT�INTERNALLY�AS�AT���st�-ARCH�������NO�PROVISION�WAS�
REQUIRED�TO�BE�MADE�IN�THE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�AS�AT�THE�END�OF�THE�REPORTING�PERIOD�

��� $%&%22%$�4!8!4)/.

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

$EFERRED�4AX�!SSET����,IABILITY	� � � � ���������� �������	
    ���������� �������	

� ����� ����

  Temporary  Temporary 

� � $IFFERENCE� 4AX�%FFECT� $IFFERENCE� 4AX�%FFECT 

  Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

"ALANCE�AT�THE�"EGINNING�OF�THE�9EAR� � ��������	� �������	� ����������	� ����������	
4RANSFERRED�TO��FROM	�)NCOME�3TATEMENT� � ���������� ���������� ���������� ���������
"ALANCE�AT�THE�%ND�OF�THE�9EAR� � ���������� ���������� ��������	� �������	

$EFERRED�4AX�!SSET��,IABILITY	� 
 consisted of followings
Property, Plant and Equipment  �����������	� ����������	� �����������	� ����������	
2ETIREMENT�"ENE�T�/BLIGATION� � ����������� ���������� ����������� ���������
  ���������� ���������� ��������	� �������	

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
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6. INVENTORIES 
� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

Consumable and Stationery    ��������� 2,484,373
    ��������� 2,484,373

��� 42!$%�!.$�/4(%2�2%#%)6!",%3�

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

Trade Receivables    ����������� ����������
!DVANCES���0REPAYMENTS� � � � ����������� ����������
Refundable Deposits    �������� �������
!DVANCE�0AYMENT�ON�##!03�!PPLICATION�3OFTWARE� � � ����������� ����������
/THER�2ECEIVABLES� � � � �������� �������
    ����������� ����������

��� 3(/24�4%2-�&).!.#)!,�).6%34-%.43

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

)NVESTMENT�IN�&IXED�$EPOSITS� � � � ������������ �����������
!CCRUED�)NTEREST�ON�&IXED�$EPOSITS� � � � ����������� ����������
Investment in Commercial Papers    ������������ �����������
!CCRUED�)NTEREST�ON�#OMMERCIAL�0APERS� � � � ���������� ����������
)NVESTMENT�IN�2%0/S� � � � ���������� 

!CCRUED�)NTEREST�ON�2%0/S� � � � �������� 

    ������������ �����������
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��� #!3(�!.$�#!3(�%15)6!,%.43�

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

)NVESTMENT�IN�2%0/S� � � � ����������� ����������
!CCRUED�)NTEREST�ON�2%0/S� � � � ������� ������
Cash in Hand and at Bank    ���������� ���������
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents for the Purpose of Cash Flow Statement  ����������� ����������

���� 34!4%$�#!0)4!,�

� ����� ����

  Number Rs. Number Rs.

&ULLY�PAID�/RDINARY�3HARES� � ����������� ������������ ����������� �����������

"ALANCE�AT�THE�"EGINNING�OF�THE�9EAR� � ����������� ������������ ����������� �����������
Issue of Shares for Cash  ������� ���������� 
� 

"ALANCE�AT�THE�%ND�OF�THE�9EAR� � ����������� ������������ ����������� �����������

���� 2%3%26%3�

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

����� 4%#(./,/'9�50'2!$%�2%3%26%
"ALANCE�AT�THE�"EGINNING�OF�THE�9EAR� � � � ������������ �����������
Transferred from Retained Earnings    ����������� ����������
5TILISATION�OF�4ECHNOLOGY�5PGRADE�2ESERVE� � � � ����������	� ��������	
"ALANCE�AT�THE�%ND�OF�THE�9EAR� � � � ������������ �����������

4ECHNOLOGY�5PGRADE�2ESERVE�REPRESENTS�PRO�TS�RESERVED�BY�THE�#OMPANY�FOR�THE�REPLACEMENT�OF�CAPITAL�ASSETS�THAT�HAVE�
EITHER�COMPLETED�THEIR�USEFUL�ECONOMIC�LIFE�OR�WITH�OUTDATED�TECHNOLOGY�NECESSITATING�REPLACEMENTS�

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
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����� #!0)4!,�2%3%26%�

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

2ESERVE�FOR�#OMMON�#ARD�AND�0AYMENT�3WITCH�0ROJECT� � � ����������� �����������
2ESERVE�FOR�$IRECT�#ONNECTIVITY�0ROJECT� � � � ����������� ����������
2ESERVE�FOR�#ERTI�CATE�!UTHORITY�0ROJECT� � � � 
� ���������
2ESERVE�FOR�"ANK�#3)24�0ROJECT� � � � ���������� ���������
    ������������ �����������

2ESERVE�FOR�#OMMON�#ARD�AND�0AYMENT�3WITCH�0ROJECT�COMPRISES�AMOUNTS�SET�ASIDE�BY�THE�ENTITY�FOR�THE�PURPOSE�OF�MEETING�
THE�BALANCE�CAPITAL�INFRASTRUCTURE�REQUIREMENTS�OF�THE�0ROJECT�

2ESERVE�FOR�$IRECT�#ONNECTIVITY�0ROJECT�REPRESENTS�PRO�TS�THAT�HAVE�BEEN�HELD�IN�RESERVE�TO�FUND�FOR�DEVELOPMENTS�AND�
IMPROVEMENTS�IN�#)43�SYSTEM�WHICH�CAN�BE�TAKEN�PLACE�IN�THE�FUTURE�BASED�ON�THE�MARKET�DEMAND��

2ESERVE�FOR�"ANK�#3)24�0ROJECT�FOR�THE�&INANCIAL�SECTOR�RE�ECTS�THE�AMOUNTS�THE�#OMPANY�HAS�RESERVED�TO�IMPLEMENT�A�
SYSTEM�TO�REDUCE�)NTERNET�RELATED�&RAUDS�IN�THE�FUTURE�

���� 2%4)2%-%.4�"%.%&)4�/",)'!4)/.

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

"ALANCE�AT�THE�"EGINNING�OF�THE�9EAR� � � � ����������� ���������
)NTEREST�#HARGE�FOR�THE�9EAR� � � � �������� �������
'RATUITY�#HARGE�FOR�THE�9EAR� � � � ���������� ���������
�'AIN	�,OSS�ARISING�FROM�CHANGES�IN�THE�ASSUMPTIONS� � � ���������� �������
0AYMENTS�MADE�DURING�THE�9EAR� � � � ��������	� 

"ALANCE�AT�THE�%ND�OF�THE�9EAR� � � � ����������� ����������

4HE�#OMPANY�HAS�ADOPTED�3ECTION����OF�3RI�,ANKA�!CCOUNTING�3TANDARD�FOR�3-%S�
�%MPLOYEE�"ENE�TS�IN�DETERMINING�THE�
2ETIREMENT�"ENE�T�/BLIGATION�AS�AT���ST�-ARCH�������4HE�0RESENT�6ALUE�OF�THE�2ETIREMENT�"ENE�T�/BLIGATION�IS�ESTIMATED�
USING�0ROJECTED�5NIT�#REDIT�METHOD�UNDER�!CTURIAL�6ALUATION�
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���� 42!$%�!.$�/4(%2�0!9!",%3�

� � � � ����� ���� 
    Rs. Rs.

6ALUE�!DDED�4AX� � � � ���������� ���������
.ATION�"UILDING�4AX� � � � �������� �������
3UNDRY�#REDITORS�AND�!CCRUALS� � � � ����������� ����������
    ����������� ����������

���� 2%6%.5%

� � � � ����� ���� 
    Rs. Rs.

Revenue from Cheque Imaging and Truncation System   ������������ �����������
Revenue from Sri Lanka Interbank Payment System   ����������� ����������
2EVENUE�FROM�#ERTI�CATE�!UTHORITY� � � � ���������� ���������
Revenue from Common Card and Payment Switch   ����������� 

Net Revenue    ������������ �����������

���� /4(%2�).#/-%

� � � � ����� ���� 
    Rs. Rs.

)NTEREST�ON�&IXED�$EPOSITS� � � � ����������� ����������
)NTEREST�ON�2%0/S� � � � ���������� ���������
Interest on Commercial Papers    ����������� ����������
/THER�)NCOME� � � � ������� ������
0RO�T�ON�$ISPOSAL�OF�0ROPERTY��0LANT�AND�%QUIPMENT� � � ������� �������
    ����������� ����������

3ECTION�����OF�THE�)NLAND�2EVENUE�!CT�.O�����OF������PROVIDES�THAT�A�#OMPANY�WHICH�DERIVES�INTEREST�INCOME�FROM�THE�
3ECONDARY�MARKET�TRANSACTION�WITH�'OVERNMENT�SECURITIES�BE�ENTITLED�TO�A�.OTIONAL�4AX�CREDIT�PROVIDED�SUCH�INTEREST�INCOME�
FORMS�PART�OF�A�STATUTORY�INCOME�OF�THE�#OMPANY�FOR�THAT�YEAR�OF�ASSESSMENT�

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
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!CCORDINGLY��.ET�INCOME�EARNED�FROM�3ECONDARY�MARKET�TRANSACTIONS�IN�'OVERNMENT�SECURITIES�FOR�THE�YEAR�BY�THE�ENTITY�HAS�
BEEN�GROSSED�UP�IN�THE�&INANCIAL�3TATEMENTS�AND�THE�RESULTING�.OTIONAL�4AX�CREDIT�AMOUNTED�TO�2S����������
�������
�2S��
��������
	�

���� 02/&)4�"%&/2%�4!8
0RO�T�"EFORE�4AX�IS�STATED�AFTER�CHARGING�ALL�EXPENSES�INCLUDING�THE�FOLLOWING�

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

$IRECTORS��%MOLUMENTS� � � � ���������� ���������
!UDITORS��&EE�
�%XTERNAL� � � � �������� �������
� � � � � � �
�)NTERNAL� � � � �������� �������
Loss of Investment in Subsidiary    
� ���������
Depreciation    ����������� ����������
!MORTISATION�OF�)NTANGIBLE�!SSETS� � � � ����������� ���������
Personnel Costs includes
� � 
�$E�NED�"ENE�TS�0LAN�#OST�
�'RATUITY� � � � ���������� ���������
� � 
�$E�NED�#ONTRIBUTION�0LAN�#OST�
�%0&���%4&� � � ����������� ���������
� � 
�/THER�3TAFF�#OSTS� � � � ����������� ����������

���� ).#/-%�4!8�%80%.3%
4HE�MAJOR�COMPONENTS�OF�)NCOME�4AX�EXPENSE�FOR�THE�9EAR�ENDED����-ARCH�ARE�AS�FOLLOWS��

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

#URRENT�)NCOME�4AX�%XPENSE
#URRENT�)NCOME�4AX�#HARGE��.OTE�����	� � � � ����������� ����������
/VER�PROVISION�OF�CURRENT�TAXES�IN�RESPECT�OF�PREVIOUS�YEAR� � � �������	� 


$EFERRED�)NCOME�4AX�%XPENSE
$EFERRED�4AX�ORIGINATING��REVERSING	�DURING�THE�9EAR��.OTE��	� � � ����������	� ����������	
Charge to the Income Statement    ����������� ����������
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� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

����� 2ECONCILIATION�OF�!CCOUNTING�0RO�T�TO�)NCOME�4AX�%XPENSE
0RO�T�"EFORE�4AX� � � � ������������ �����������
,OSS�ON�4AX�%XEMPT�/PERATION� � � � ����������� 

!GGREGATE�!LLOWABLE�)TEMS� � � � ������������	� ������������	
!GGREGATE�$ISALLOWABLE�)TEMS� � � � ����������� ����������
4AXABLE�)NCOME� � � � ������������ �����������
Interest Income    ����������� ����������
)NCOME�4AX� ����� � � � ����������� 

)NCOME�4AX� ����� � � � ����������� ����������
    ����������� ����������

0RO�TS�AND�)NCOME�EARNED�FROM�#OMMON�#ARD�AND�0AYMENT�3WITCH�IS�EXEMPTED�FROM�INCOME�TAX�FOR�A�PERIOD�OF���YEARS�IN�
TERMS�OF�SECTION����!	�OF�THE�)NLAND�2EVENUE�!CT�.O�����OF������AND�AMENDMENTS�THERETO�

)N�TERMS�OF�SECTION���"�OF�THE�)NLAND�2EVENUE�!CT�.O�����OF������AND�AMENDMENTS�THERETO��APPLICABLE�)NCOME�4AX�2ATE�FOR�
THE�YEAR�OF�ASSESSMENT�����������IS�����

���� %!2.).'3�0%2�3(!2%
4HE�CALCULATION�OF�%ARNINGS�0ER�3HARE�IS�BASED�ON�THE�PRO�T�ATTRIBUTABLE�TO�/RDINARY�3HAREHOLDERS�AND�THE�WEIGHTED�AVERAGE�
NUMBER�OF�/RDINARY�3HARES�OUTSTANDING�DURING�THE�YEAR�
� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

Amount used as the Numerator
.ET�0RO�T�ATTRIBUTABLE�TO�/RDINARY�3HAREHOLDERS� � � ������������ �����������

Number of Ordinary Shares used as the Denominator
7EIGHTED�AVERAGE�NUMBER�OF�/RDINARY�3HARES�IN�)SSUE� � � ����������� ����������

Earnings Per Share    ������ �����

���� $)6)$%.$�0%2�3(!2%�  
&INAL�$IVIDEND�PAID�IN�RESPECT�OF����������� � � � 
� ����������
&INAL�$IVIDEND�PAID�IN�RESPECT�OF����������� � � � ������������� 

Dividend Per Share    ����� ����

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Contd.)
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���� 2%,!4%$�0!249�$)3#,/352%3
4RANSACTIONS�WITH�KEY�-ANAGEMENT�0ERSONNEL�OF�THE�#OMPANY��+-0	
!CCORDING�TO�3ECTION����OF�3RI�,ANKA�!CCOUNTING�3TANDARD�FOR�3-%S��2ELATED�0ARTY�$ISCLOSURES���+EY�-ANAGEMENT�0ERSONNEL�
are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, 
DIRECTLY�OR�INDIRECTLY��INCLUDING�ANY�DIRECTOR��WHETHER�EXECUTIVE�OR�OTHERWISE	�OF�THAT�ENTITY��!CCORDINGLY��THE�$IRECTORS�OF�THE�
#OMPANY�AND�THEIR�IMMEDIATE�FAMILY�MEMBERS�HAVE�BEEN�CLASSI�ED�AS�+EY�-ANAGEMENT�0ERSONNEL�

� � � � ����� ���� 

    Rs. Rs.

3HORT�4ERM�%MPLOYEMENT�"ENE�TS� � � � ���������� ���������

.O�OTHER�SIGNI�CANT�TRANSACTIONS�HAD�TAKEN�PLACE�DURING�THE�YEAR�WITH�THE�PARTIES�ENTITIES�IN�WHICH�+EY�-ANAGEMENT�
0ERSONNEL�OR�THEIR�CLOSE�FAMILY�MEMBERS�WERE�INVOLVED�

���� #/--)4-%.43�!.$�#/.4).'%.#)%3
In the normal course of business, the Company makes various Commitments and incurs certain contingent liabilities with 
LEGAL�RECOURSE�TO�ITS�CUSTOMERS�AND�WOULD�BE�PARTY�TO�LITIGATION�DUE�TO�ITS�OPERATIONS��.O�MATERIAL�LOSSES�ARE�ANTICIPATED�AS�A�
RESULT�OF�THESE�TRANSACTIONS�

����� #!0)4!,�%80%.$)452%�#/--)4-%.43
#APITAL�EXPENDITURE�APPROVED�BY�THE�"OARD�OF�$IRECTORS�FOR�WHICH�PROVISION�HAS�NOT�BEEN�MADE�IN�THE��NANCIAL�STATEMENTS�
AMOUNTS�TO�APPROXIMATELY�2S������MN�

����� ,)4)'!4)/.�!'!).34�4(%�#/-0!.9
4HERE�WERE�NO�LITIGATION�OUTSTANDING�AGAINST�THE�#OMPANY�AS�AT�THE�2EPORTING�DATE�

22. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING DATE
4HERE�WERE�NO�MATERIAL�EVENTS�OCCURRING�AFTER�THE�REPORTING�DATE�THAT�REQUIRES�ADJUSTMENTS�TO�OR�DISCLOSURE�IN�THE�&INANCIAL�
3TATEMENTS�OTHER�THAN�THOSE�DISCLOSED�

���� #/-0!2!4)6%�&)'52%3
4O�FACILITATE�COMPARISON�BALANCES�PERTAINING�TO�THE�PREVIOUS�YEAR�HAVE�BEEN�RE
CLASSI�ED�TO�CONFORM�TO�CURRENT�YEAR�
CLASSI�CATIONS�AND�PRESENTATION�
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.!-%�/&�4(%�#/-0!.9�
LankaClear (Private) Limited

LEGAL STATUS
!�0RIVATE�#OMPANY�WITH�
Limited liability incorporated 
in Sri Lanka on 8th February 
�����

HISTORY
&ORMER�3RI�,ANKA�!UTOMATED�
#LEARING�(OUSE��3,!#(	��
owned and operated by the 
Central Bank of Sri Lanka 
divested by the Central Bank 
TO�,ANKA#LEAR��0VT	�,IMITED�
LankaClear (Pvt) Limited 
commenced operations 
UNDER�ITS�NAME�ON��st�!PRIL�
�����

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Providing of cheque clearing 
facilities to commercial 
banks on behalf of the 
Central Bank and facilitation 
of secure interbank 
electronic fund transfers 
THROUGH�3,)03�

PRODUCT RANGE
y Rupee Cheque Clearing 

�#HEQUE�)MAGING�AND�
Truncation System (CITS)

y Sri Lanka Interbank 
Payment System (SLIPS)

y� ,ANKA0AY�
�#OMMON�!4-�
3WITCH��,ANKA0AY�
�#!3	

y Rupee Draft Clearing

y� 53�$OLLAR�#LEARING

y� $IGITAL�#ERTI�CATES���
LankaSign

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
-RS��0�,IYANAGE��
Chairperson
%X
!SSISTANT�'OVERNOR��
Central Bank of Sri Lanka

-R��3�3�2ATNAYAKE�
Director
!SSISTANT�'OVERNOR��#ENTRAL�
Bank of Sri Lanka

-R��$�-�'UNASEKARA
Director
'ENERAL�-ANAGER�
Bank of Ceylon 

-R��-�!�"�3ILVA�
Director
$EPUTY�'ENERAL�-ANAGER���
/PERATIONS
0EOPLE�S�"ANK

-RS��2�!�3�-�$AYARATHNA�
Director
Director IT, Central Bank of 
Sri Lanka

-R��-�!�!�.OMANI�
Director
#OUNTRY�'ENERAL�-ANAGER
-#"�"ANK�,IMITED��3RI�,ANKA�

-R��*�$URAIRATNAM�
Director
-ANAGING�$IRECTOR�#%/�
Commercial Bank of Ceylon 
0,#�

-R��-�4�-�!ZMEER�
Director
#HIEF�%XECUTIVE�/F�CER�
!MÀNA�"ANK�,IMITED�

-R��5PALI�DE�3ILVA�
Observer
3ECRETARY�'ENERAL��3,"!

-!.!'%-%.4�4%!-
-R��3UNIMAL�"�7EERASOORIYA
'ENERAL�-ANAGER�#%/

-R��(ARSHA�7ANIGATUNGA
$EPUTY�'ENERAL�-ANAGER���)4�
AND�/PERATIONS

-R��2ASIKA�'ALAPPATHTHY
Head of Finance

-R��,AKSHMAN�#�
Palliyaguruge
Head of HR and 
!DMINISTRATION

-R��2OSHAN�(ETTIARACHCHI
3ENIOR�-ANAGER���/PERATIONS

-R��$ILANTHA�3AMARASINGHE
3ENIOR�-ANAGER���)4

-R��)SURU�*AYAWEERA
3ENIOR�-ANAGER���(ELP�$ESK�
and Bank Services

-R��(EMANTHE�
Samaliarachchi
3ENIOR�-ANAGER���0AYMENT�
Systems

-R��$ULEEP�!�&ERNANDO
3ENIOR�-ANAGER���
!DMINISTRATION

-R��#HRIS�$E�!LWIS
3ENIOR�-ANAGER���"USINESS�
Development and Brand 
Promotions

-R��$IMUTH�7EERASINGHE
-ANAGER���&ACILITIES�AND�
-AINTENANCE

-R��5DDIKA�+AHAWATTE
.ETWORK�/PERATIONS�
-ANAGER

-R��$ANUSHKA�5YANAHEWAGE
#)43�-ANAGER

-R��$ULEEP�,IYANAGE
-ANAGER���)4�3ECURITY�
Solutions

-R��)NDIKA�&ERNANDO
3YSTEMS�/PERATIONS�
-ANAGER

-R��!SELA�(APUARACHCHI
-ANAGER���(2
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STATED CAPITAL
 Number Rs.

&ULLY�PAID�/RDINARY�3HARES� ����������� �����������

SHAREHOLDERS
Shareholder Number Value 

 of Shares ‘Rs. 

� �MN�� MN�

#ENTRAL�"ANK�OF�3RI�,ANKA� ����� �����
"ANK�OF�#EYLON� ����� �����
0EOPLE�S�"ANK� ����� �����
3AMPATH�"ANK�0,#� ����� �����
#OMMERCIAL�"ANK�OF�#EYLON�0,#� ����� �����
(ATTON�.ATIONAL�"ANK�0,#� ����� �����
3EYLAN�"ANK�0,#� ����� �����
5NION�"ANK�OF�#OLOMBO�0,#� ����� ����
$&##�6ARDHANA�"ANK�,TD� ����� ����
0AN�!SIA�"ANKING�#ORPORATION�0,#� ����� ����
.ATIONS�4RUST�"ANK�0,#� ����� ����
.ATIONAL�$EVELOPMENT�"ANK�0,#� ����� ����
(ABIB�"ANK�,TD� ����� ����
)NDIAN�"ANK� ����� ����
)NDIAN�/VERSEAS�"ANK� ����� ����
3TATE�"ANK�OF�)NDIA� ����� ����
-#"�"ANK�,TD� ����� ����
The Hongkong and  
� 3HANGHAI�"ANKING�#ORPORATION�,TD� ����� ����
$EUSTCHE�"ANK�!'� ����� ����
#ITIBANK�.!� ����� ����
3TANDARD�#HARTERED�"ANK� ����� ����
0UBLIC�"ANK�"ERHAD� ����� ����
)#)#)�"ANK�,TD� ����� ����
!MANA�"ANK�,TD� ����� ����
!XIS�"ANK� ����� ����
#ARGILLS�"ANK�,TD� ����� ����
4OTAL� ������ ������
 

REGISTERED OFFICE AND 
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF 
"53).%33�
,EVEL�����"ANK�OF�#EYLON�
(EAD�/F�CE���"/#�3QUARE���
.O�����
"ANK�OF�#EYLON�-AWATHA��
#OLOMBO���

#/-0!.9�3%#2%4!2)%3
-ANAGERS���3ECRETARIES��0VT	�
,TD�
���4ICKELL�2OAD��#OLOMBO����
4EL���������
&AX���������

BANKERS
Bank of Ceylon
Seylan Bank
5NION�"ANK

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
-�S��%RNST�AND�9OUNG�
#HARTERED�!CCOUNTANTS
�����$E�3ARAM�0LACE�
#OLOMBO����
4EL���������
&AX���������

INTERNAL AUDITORS
-�S��"��2��$E�3ILVA���
Company
#HARTERED�!CCOUNTANTS
.O�������6IJAYA�
+UMARANATUNGA�-AWATHA�
#OLOMBO����
4EL���������
&AX���������

CONTACT
6OICE�
���������TO��������
&AX�
��������
%
MAIL�
�INFO LANKACLEAR�
com
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�!4-� shall mean a 
!UTOMATED�4ELLER�-ACHINE�

�"ANK� shall mean a 
company or body corporate 
licensed under the Banking 
!CT�.O�����OF������TO�CARRY�
on banking business in Sri 
Lanka; and the Central Bank 
of Sri Lanka in the capacity 
OF�A�#)43�PARTICIPANT�

�"USINESS�$AY� shall mean 
a day on which banks are 
ordinarily open for business 
IN�3RI�,ANKA�

�#!��#ERTI�CATE�!UTHORITY� 
!�#!�IS�AN�ENTITY��WHICH�IS�
core to many PKI (Public Key 
Infrastructure) schemes, 
whose purpose is to issue 
DIGITAL�CERTI�CATES�TO�OTHER�
PARTIES��)T�AUTHENTICATES�A�
TRUSTED�THIRD�PARTY�

�#"3,� shall mean the Central 
"ANK�OF�3RI�,ANKA�

�##!03� shall mean Common 
#ARD�AND�0AYMENT�3WITCH�

�#)43� shall mean the 
‘Cheque Imaging and 
4RUNCATION�3YSTEM��WHICH�
includes LCPL systems, 
processes and procedures 
for the electronic clearing 
and archiving of CITS items 
AND�NON
CLEARING�ITEMS��IF�
ANY�

�#)43�)MAGE�)TEMS� shall 
mean CITS items in image 
format, including electronic 
IMAGES�OF�!RTICLES��AND�
complying with such format, 
content and image quality 
REQUIREMENTS��SPECI�CATIONS�
and other requirements 
SPECI�ED�BY�,#0,�FROM�TIME�
TO�TIME�

�#)43�#LEARING� shall mean 
the process of receiving, 
SORTING�AND�EXCHANGING�OF�
CITS image items among 
CITS participants, balancing 
OF�THE�AMOUNTS�EXPRESSED�IN�
!RTICLES�THUS�EXCHANGED�AND�
consequently deriving the 
NET�BALANCES�

�#)4�3YSTEM� shall mean 
systems operated and 
maintained by LCPL 
for, clearing of cheques 
including without any 
limitation, receiving, 
processing, clearing and 
archival of cheque images 
and data which could be 
accessed by participants 
through direct connectivity 
MODE�

�#)43�0ARTICIPANTS� 
shall mean all licensed 
commercial banks operating 
in Sri Lanka; and the Central 
Bank of Sri Lanka in the 
capacity of a participating 
"ANK�IN�THE�#)4�3YSTEM�

‘Clearing and settlement 
3YSTEM� means a system or 
arrangement for the clearing 
or settlement of payment 
OBLIGATIONS�IN�THE��NANCIAL�
system, in any currency, and 
in which there is a minimum 
of three participants, at least 
ONE�OF�WHICH�IS�A��NANCIAL�
INSTITUTION�

�#LEARING�(OUSE� means a 
corporation, association, 
partnership, agency or 
organisation or other entity 
or person that provides 
clearing or settlement 
services for a clearing and 
settlement system, but does 
NOT�INCLUDE�THE�#ENTRAL�"ANK�

�#-0#��SHALL�MEAN� Colombo 
-AIN�0ROCESSING�#ENTRE��
which is located at the Head 
/F�CE�OF�,#0,��

�#UT�OFF�4IMES� shall mean 
TIMES�SPECI�ED�WITH�RESPECT�
to action to be undertaken 
or effected in relation to 
#)43�AS�MAY�BE�NOTI�ED�BY�
CBSL to LCPL; and by LCPL to 
CITS participants from time 
TO�TIME�
 
�#HEQUE�2ETURN�.OTI�CATION� 
shall mean the Image Return 
$OCUMENT�DE�NED�IN�3ECTION�
�����	�AND���	�OF�PART�)))�OF�
the Payment and Settlement 
3YSTEMS�!CT�.O�����OF������

CRIB���#REDIT�)NFORMATION�
Bureau of Sri Lanka

DR Site���$ISASTER�2ECOVERY�
site of LCPL located 
AT��ST�&LOOR��"ANK�OF�
Ceylon Training Centre, 
����(IGHLEVEL�2OAD��
-AHARAGAMA�

�)NWARD�#)43�)TEMS� shall 
mean CITS Items which have 
been generated by LCPL 
through the CITS in respect 
of a Paying Bank based on 
THE�/UTWARD�#)43�&ILES�

�)NWARD�2ETURN�#)43�)TEMS��
shall mean Return CITS 
items which have been 
generated by LCPL through 
the CITS in respect of a 
Presenting Bank based on 
THE�/UTWARD�2ETURN�#)43�
�LES�

�,#0,� shall mean LankaClear 
(Pvt) Limited, incorporated 
UNDER�THE�#OMPANIES�!CT�.O��
���OF�������AND�RE
REGISTERED�
UNDER�THE�#OMPANIES�!CT�.O��
���OF������

�-)#2� shall mean the data 
KNOWN�AS��-AGNETIC�)NK�
#HARACTER�2ECOGNITION��
data, encoded on articles 
in accordance with the 
SPECI�CATIONS�AND�STANDARDS�
as laid down by LCPL and as 
amended by LCPL from time 
TO�TIME�
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�/UTWARD�#)43�)TEMS� shall 
mean CITS items of an 
outward CITS File generated 
by a presenting Bank and 
provided or transmitted to 
,#0,�

�/UTWARD�2ETURN�#)43�)TEMS� 
shall mean Return CITS 
)TEMS�OF�AN�/UTWARD�2ETURN�
CITS File generated by a 
0AYING�"ANK�

�0AYING�"ANK� in respect of 
a CITS Item shall mean a 
CITS participant to whom an 
!RTICLE�IS�DRAWN�

‘POS‘ shall mean Point of 
Sales

�0RESENTING�"ANK� or 
�#OLLECTING�"ANK��IN�RESPECT�
of a CITS Item shall mean 
a CITS participant which 
presents or represents the 
!RTICLES�FOR�CLEARING�THROUGH�
THE�#)43�3YSTEM�

0+)��0UBLIC�+EY�
Infrastructure 
!�0+)�ENABLES�USERS�OF�A�
basically unsecure public, 
private network such as the 
Internet or Virtual Private 
Network to securely and 
PRIVATELY�EXCHANGE�DATA�
through the use of a public 
and a private cryptographic 
key pair that is obtained and 
shared through a trusted 
CERTI�CATION�AUTHORITY�

�2ETURN�#)43�)TEMS� shall 
mean CITS Items that 
are submitted to LCPL as 
returned CITS Items by 
Paying Banks due to any 
of the return reasons as 
SPECI�ED�BY�,#0,�FROM�TIME�
TO�TIME�

�24'3�  shall mean Real Time 
Gross Settlement System 
WHICH�IS��OPERATED�BY�#"3,��

�3,)03� shall mean Sri Lanka 
Interbank Payment System
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./4)#%�)3�(%2%"9�')6%.�THAT�THE���th�!NNUAL�'ENERAL�-EETING�OF�,ANKA#LEAR��0RIVATE	�,IMITED�WILL�BE�HELD�ON���TH�!UGUST�
�����AT�������AM��AT��3ALON�!NTHURIUM���'ALADARI�(OTEL������,OTUS�2OAD��#OLOMBO�����FOR�THE�FOLLOWING�PURPOSES�

�	� 4O�RECEIVE�AND�CONSIDER�THE�2EPORT�OF�THE�$IRECTORS�AND�THE�3TATEMENT�OF�!CCOUNTS�FOR�THE�YEAR�ENDED���st�-ARCH������
TOGETHER�WITH�THE�2EPORT�OF�THE�!UDITORS�THEREON�

�	� 4O�RE
APPOINT�-�S�%RNST���9OUNG��#HARTERED�!CCOUNTANTS�AS�!UDITORS�OF�THE�#OMPANY�AND�TO�AUTHORISE�THE�$IRECTORS�TO�
DETERMINE�THEIR�REMUNERATION�

�	� 4O�TRANSACT�ANY�OTHER�BUSINESS�OF�WHICH�DUE�NOTICE�HAS�BEEN�GIVEN�

"Y�/RDER�OF�THE�"OARD
LankaClear (Private) Limited

-ANAGERS���3ECRETARIES��0VT	�,IMITED
Secretaries

Colombo, 
��st�*ULY�����



I SEE A FUTURE

OF MY HOME

IN REAL TIME
WHERE 
PAYMENTS CAN BE MADE

FROM THE COMFORT
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7E���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

OF����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

BEING�A�MEMBER�OF�,ANKACLEAR��0RIVATE	�,IMITED��HEREBY�APPOINT��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������

OF��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������AS�OUR�PROXY�
TO�REPRESENT�US�AND�VOTE�FOR�US�AND�ON�OUR�BEHALF�AT�THE���th�!NNUAL�'ENERAL�-EETING�OF�THE�#OMPANY�TO�BE�HELD�ON���th 

!UGUST������AND�AT�ANY�ADJOURNMENT�THEREOF�AND�AT�EVERY�POLL�WHICH�MAY�BE�TAKEN�IN�CONSEQUENCE�THEREOF�

3IGNED�THIS������������DAY�OF�����������������

3IGNATURE��������

./4%�
4O�BE�VALID�THE�COMPLETED�FORM�OF�PROXY�SHOULD�BE�DEPOSITED�AT�THE�2EGISTERED�/F�CE�OF�THE�#OMPANY�AT���th Floor, Bank of 
#EYLON�(EAD�/F�CE���"/#�3QUARE���.O������"ANK�OF�#EYLON�-AWATHA��#OLOMBO�����NOT�LESS�THAN����HOURS�BEFORE�THE�APPOINTED�
TIME�FOR�HOLDING�OF�THE�MEETING�
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